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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) of Seritage Growth Properties contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the federal securities laws. Any statements that do not relate to historical or current facts or matters are forward-looking statements. You can
identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,”
“approximately,” “intends,” “plans,” “pro forma,” “estimates” or “anticipates” or the opposite of these words and phrases or similar words or phrases which are
predictions of or indicate future events or trends and which do not relate solely to historical matters. Statements concerning current conditions may also be
forward-looking if they imply a continuation of current conditions. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or

intentions.
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Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties and you should not rely on them as predictions of future events. Forward-looking
statements depend on assumptions, data or methods which may be incorrect or imprecise and we may not be able to realize them. The following factors, among
others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

. Declines in retail, real estate and general economic conditions;

. Competition and related challenges in the real estate and retail industries and the ability of our top tenants to successfully operate their
businesses;

. Failure to achieve expected occupancy and/or rent levels within the projected time frame or at all;

. Risks relating to our redevelopment activities and potential acquisition or disposition of properties;

. The process and results of our review of strategic alternatives and our Plan of Sale (defined below);

. The impact of ongoing negative operating cash flow on our ability to fund operations and ongoing development;

. Contingencies to the commencement of rent under signed leases;

. Environmental, health, safety and land use and other laws and regulations;

. The terms of our indebtedness and availability or sources of liquidity; and

. Possible acts of war, terrorist activity or other acts of violence or cybersecurity interests.

While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance. Except as required by law, we disclaim any
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in underlying assumptions or factors of new information, data or
methods, future events or other changes. For a further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance or transactions, see
“Item 1A. Risk Factors.”



PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Company

Seritage Growth Properties (“Seritage”) (NYSE: SRG), a Maryland real estate investment trust formed on June 3, 2015, operated as a fully integrated, self-
administered and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) as defined under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) from formation
through December 31, 2021. On March 31, 2022, Seritage revoked its REIT election and became a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022. Seritage’s
assets are held by and its operations are primarily conducted, directly or indirectly, through Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
(the “Operating Partnership”). Under the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership, Seritage, as the sole general partner, has exclusive responsibility
and discretion in the management and control of the Operating Partnership. Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, the “Company”
and “Seritage” refer to Seritage, the Operating Partnership and its owned and controlled subsidiaries.

Prior to the adoption of the Company’s Plan of Sale (defined below), Seritage was principally engaged in the ownership, development, redevelopment,
management, sale and leasing of diversified retail and mixed-use properties throughout the United States. Seritage will continue to actively manage each
location until such time as each property is sold. As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s portfolio consisted of interests in 17 properties comprised of
approximately 1.7 million square feet of gross leasable area (“GLA”) or build-to-suit leased area and 274 acres of land. The portfolio encompasses 10 wholly
owned properties consisting of approximately 0.9 million square feet of GLA and 166 acres (such properties, the “Consolidated Properties™) and seven
unconsolidated entities consisting of approximately 0.8 million square feet of GLA and 108 acres (such properties, the “Unconsolidated Properties™).

The Company’s mission is to maximize value for our shareholders in accordance with the Plan of Sale.
Background

The Company commenced operations on July 7, 2015 following a rights offering to the shareholders of Sears Holding Corporation (“Sears Holdings” or
“Sears”) to purchase common shares of Seritage in order to fund, in part, the $2.7 billion acquisition of certain of Sears Holdings” owned properties and its 50%
interests in three joint ventures which were simultaneously leased back to Sears Holdings under master lease agreements (the “Original Master Lease” and the
“JV Original Master Leases”, respectively).

On October 15, 2018, Sears Holdings and certain of its affiliates filed voluntary petitions for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code with
the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the “Bankruptcy Court”). Subsequently, the Company and certain affiliates of
Transform Holdco LLC (“Holdco™), an affiliate of ESL Investments, Inc., executed a master lease (the “Holdco Master Lease™) with respect to 51 Consolidated
Properties, which became effective when the Bankruptcy Court issued an order approving the rejection of the Original Master Lease.

Since March 2021, the Company has not leased any properties to Sears Holdings or its successors after giving effect to the termination of the remaining
Consolidated Properties.

Edward S. Lampert is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ESL Investments, Inc, which owns Holdco. Mr. Lampert was also the Chairman of Seritage
prior to his retirement, effective March 1, 2022, and controlled each of the tenant entities that was a party to the Holdco Master Lease prior to their respective
terminations.

Review of Strategic Alternatives

On March 1, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees has commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives to enhance
shareholder value. The Board of Trustees created a special committee of the Board of Trustees (the “Special Committee”) to oversee the process. The Special
Committee retained Barclays Capital, Inc. (“Barclays”) as its financial advisor from March 2022 through August 2023 to assist with the strategic review. The
Company sought a shareholder vote to approve a proposed plan of sale of our assets and dissolution (the “Plan of Sale”) that would allow our Board of Trustees
to sell all of our assets, distribute the net proceeds to shareholders and dissolve the Company, which Plan of Sale can be suspended by the Board of Trustees.
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The 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, at which time the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders, following our filing
of a final proxy statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on September 14, 2022. See Note 1 — Organization of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about the Plan of Sale. The
strategic review process remains ongoing as the Company executes the Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value maximizing
alternatives, including a potential sale of the Company. There can be no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or that the Company will
be successful in fully executing on the Plan of Sale. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations—There can be no assurance
that our review of strategic alternatives will result in any transaction or any strategic change at this time.” The Board of Trustees is currently overseeing the
Plan of Sale.

Market Update

Since the latter months of 2022, the Company, along with the commercial real estate market as a whole, has experienced and continues to experience
challenging market conditions as a result of, among other things, elevated interest rates, increases to required return hurdles for institutional buyers, availability
of debt capital, continued inflation, decreased demand for office properties, the threat of tariffs and trade wars, political uncertainty in the United States and the
possibility of geopolitical conflict spreading to other regions. These conditions have applied and continue to apply downward pricing pressure on all of our
assets. In making decisions regarding whether and when to transact on each of the Company’s remaining assets, the Company will consider various factors
including, but not limited to, the breadth of the buyer universe, macroeconomic conditions, the availability and cost of financing, as well as corporate, operating
and other capital expenses required to carry the asset. If these challenging market conditions persist, then we expect that they will continue to adversely impact
the Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets and the amounts and timing of distributions to shareholders.

Business Strategies

The Company’s primary objective is to create value for its shareholders through the monetization of the Company's assets through the Plan of Sale, which can
be suspended by the Board of Trustees. We look to enhance sale value through leasing our built footprint, densification of our sites, achievement of entitlements
and modification of agreements that govern our properties. We continue to position all remaining assets for sale.

Significant Tenants

Management believes the Company’s portfolio is reasonably diversified and does not contain any significant concentrations of credit risk. As of December 31,
2024, the Company has one tenant that comprises 12.5% of annualized base rent, with no other tenants exceeding 10% of annualized base rent. The Company's
portfolio of 10 Consolidated Properties and seven Unconsolidated Properties was diversified by location across seven states.

Competition

We currently compete with other properties located in markets in which our assets are located both from an operations perspective and with respect to the
disposition of our assets. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures we face will not have a material adverse effect on our business.

We compete for prospective tenants with REITs, real estate partnerships and other real estate companies, private individuals, investment companies, private
equity and hedge fund investors, sovereign funds, pension funds, insurance companies, lenders and other investors, including retail operators that may close
stores and pursue similar real estate strategies. In addition, revenues from our properties are dependent on the ability of our tenants and operators to compete.

As a landlord, we compete in the real estate market with numerous developers and owners of properties, including the shopping centers in which our properties
are located. Some of our competitors have greater economies of scale, relationships with national tenants at multiple properties which are owned or operated by
such competitors, access to more resources and greater name recognition than we do. If our competitors offer space at rental rates below the current market
rates or below the rentals we currently charge, or on terms and conditions which include locations at multiple properties, we may lose our existing and/or
potential tenants and we may be pressured to reduce our rental rates or to offer substantial rent abatements, tenant improvement allowances, early termination
rights or below-market renewal options in order to win new tenants and retain tenants when our leases expire.

With respect to the disposition of our assets, our ability to compete is also impacted by national and local economic trends, availability of investment
alternatives, availability and cost of capital, construction and renovation costs, existing laws and regulations, new legislation and population trends.

Environmental Matters

Our properties are subject to environmental laws regulating, among other things, air emissions, wastewater discharges and the handling and disposal of waste.
Certain properties were built during the time that asbestos-containing building materials were
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routinely installed in residential and commercial structures. In addition, a substantial portion of the properties we acquired from Sears Holdings currently
include, or previously included, automotive care center facilities and retail fueling facilities, and are or were subject to laws and regulations governing the
handling, storage and disposal of hazardous substances contained in some of the products or materials used or sold in the automotive care center facilities (such
as motor oil, fluid in hydraulic lifts, antifreeze and solvents and lubricants), the recycling/disposal of batteries and tires, air emissions, wastewater discharges
and waste management. In addition to these products or materials, the equipment in use or previously used at such properties, such as service equipment, car
lifts, oil/water separators, and storage tanks, has been subject to increasing environmental regulation relating to, among other things, the storage, handling, use,
disposal, and transportation of hazardous materials. Our leases include, or are expected to include, provisions obligating the operator to comply with applicable
environmental laws and to indemnify us if such operator’s noncompliance results in losses or claims against us with respect to environmental matters first
arising during such operator’s occupancy. An operator’s failure to comply could result in fines and penalties or the requirement to undertake corrective actions
which may result in significant costs to the operator and thus adversely affect their ability to meet their obligations to us.

Pursuant to U.S. federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real property may be required to
investigate, remove and/or remediate a release of hazardous substances or other regulated materials at, or emanating from, such property. Further, under certain
circumstances, such owners or operators of real property may be held liable for property damage, personal injury and/or natural resource damage resulting from
or arising in connection with such releases. Certain of these laws have been interpreted to be joint and several unless the harm is divisible and there is a
reasonable basis for allocation of responsibility. We also may be liable under certain of these laws for damage that occurred prior to our ownership of a
property or at a site where we sent waste for disposal. The failure to properly remediate a property may also adversely affect our ability to lease, sell or rent the
property or to borrow funds using the property as collateral.

In connection with the ownership of our current or past properties and any properties that we may acquire in the future, we could be legally responsible for
environmental liabilities or costs relating to a release of hazardous substances or other regulated materials at or emanating from such property. We are not
aware of any environmental issues that are expected to have a material impact on the operations of our properties. However, we can make no assurances that
the discovery of previously unknown environmental conditions or future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose material environmental liabilities on
us, or the current environmental condition of our properties will not be affected by tenants, the condition of land or operations in the vicinity of our properties
(such as releases from underground storage tanks), or by third parties unrelated to us.

Insurance

We have comprehensive liability, property and rental loss insurance, as applicable, with respect to our portfolio of properties. We believe that such insurance
provides adequate coverage.

REIT Qualification

On March 31, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees, with the recommendation of the Special Committee, approved a plan to terminate the
Company's REIT status and become a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022. As a result, the Company is no longer required to operate under REIT
rules, including the requirement to distribute at least 90% of REIT taxable income to its shareholders, which provides the Company with greater flexibility to
use its free cash flow. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company is subject to federal and state income taxes on its taxable income at applicable tax rates and is no
longer entitled to a tax deduction for dividends paid. The Company operated as a REIT for the 2021 tax year and prior tax years, and existing REIT
requirements and limitations, including those established by the Company’s organizational documents, remained in place through December 31, 2021. Refer to
Note 7 — Income Taxes of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Financial Information about Industry Segments

During the year ended December 31 2024, given the continued decline in size of the portfolio and the continued progression of the Plan of Sale, the Company
has concluded that they have one operating segment and one reportable segment as the Company is assessing performance and making operating decisions on
an aggregated single segment basis. The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment which includes the ownership, development,
redevelopment, management, sale and leasing of real estate properties.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2024, we had seven full-time employees, all of whom are located in the United States, with the majority located in New York. In
conjunction with adopting the Plan of Sale, the Company provided retention agreements to its employees to ensure that it has the talent in place to execute the
Plan of Sale. The number of full-time employees has decreased over time as we sell assets in connection with the Plan of Sale. As a result, we are not currently
seeking to hire additional employees. We have also transitioned certain responsibilities to contractors to ensure that proper staffing is available.
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As of March 31, 2025, we had five full-time employees, one of whom is female, and 16 contractors, nine of whom were female. In addition, our seven member
Board of Trustees has three female members.

Available Information

Our office is located at 500 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10110 and our telephone number is (212) 355-7800. Our website address is www.seritage.com.
Our reports electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act can be accessed through this site, free of
charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such reports. These filings are also available on the SEC’s website at
www.sec.gov. Our website also contains copies of our corporate governance guidelines and code of business conduct and ethics as well as the charters of our
audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees. The information on our website is not part of this or any other report we file with or
furnish to the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. You should consider carefully the risks and
uncertainties described below, in addition to other information contained in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and related
notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we
currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our
common shares of beneficial interest could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risk Factor Summary

The following is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any strategic transaction or strategic change on terms satisfactory to the Board of
Trustees.

We have experienced challenging market conditions and there can be no assurances that these challenges will abate, which may adversely impact the
net Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets.

We cannot assure our shareholders of the amount they will receive in shareholder distributions under the Plan of Sale or when they will receive them.

If we are unable to find buyers for our assets on a timely basis or at our expected sales prices, our shareholder distributions under the Plan of Sale
may be delayed or reduced.

Our expected sales prices may be impacted by tenant issues at our properties.

We have ongoing capital needs and may not be able to obtain additional financing or other sources of funding on acceptable terms.
Real estate taxes may increase, and if these increases are not passed on to tenants, our net income will be reduced.

Changes in building and/or zoning laws may require us to meet additional or more stringent construction requirements.

Our real estate assets and equity method investments may be subject to impairment charges.

We have previously identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting which we have since remediated. However, in the
future we might identify additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies or fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, which
may cause us to not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, our shareholders could lose confidence in our
financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of our common shares.

Properties in our portfolio may be subject to ground leases; if we are found to be in breach of these ground leases or are unable to renew them, we
could be materially adversely affected.

Certain properties within our portfolio are subject to restrictions pursuant to reciprocal easement agreements, operating agreements, or similar
agreements, some of which contain a purchase option or right of first refusal or right of first offer in favor of a third party.

Economic conditions, elevated interest rates and a possible recession could materially adversely affect our business.
Rising expenses could reduce cash flow.

We may face increased risks and costs associated with volatility in commodity and labor prices or as a result of supply chain or procurement
disruptions, which may adversely affect the status of our construction projects.

Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act may require us to make expenditures.

Environmental, health, safety and land use laws and regulations may limit or restrict some of our operations or otherwise cause us to incur significant
costs.

Environmental costs and liabilities associated with contamination at real estate properties owned by us may materially and adversely affect us.

Our business faces potential risks associated with natural disasters, severe weather conditions and climate change and related legislation and
regulations, which could have an adverse effect on our cash flow and operating results.

Possible acts of war, terrorist activity or other acts of violence or cybersecurity incidents could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.

Cybersecurity incidents could cause a disruption to our operations, a compromise of confidential information and damage to our business
relationships, all of which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and operating results.
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We may incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase our business risks.

Covenants in our Term Loan Facility may limit our operational flexibility and a covenant breach or default could adversely affect our business and
financial condition.

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our trustees and officers are limited.

Our Declaration of Trust and Maryland law contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent an acquisition of Class A common shares or a change
in control.

We may experience insurance-related losses or insurance proceeds may not be available to us, which could result in a significant loss, decrease
anticipated future revenues or cause us to incur unanticipated expense.

Mr. Lampert may exert substantial influence over us, and his interests may differ from or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.
Our investments in or redevelopment of properties may be unsuccessful or fail to meet our expectations.
Current and future redevelopment may not yield expected returns.

If members of our management team terminate their employment with us or we are unable to retain talented employees our financial results and/or
the Plan of Sale may be adversely affected.

The future outbreak of highly infectious or contagious diseases may, materially and adversely impact the business of our tenants and our business.

We have been, and in the future may be, subject to securities class action, derivative, and other litigation, which may harm our business and results of
operations.

Risks Related to Our Tax Status

If we experience an “ownership change” for purposes of Section 382 of the Code, our ability to utilize our net operating loss and net capital loss
carryforwards and certain built-in losses to reduce our future taxable income could be limited, potentially increasing the net taxable income on which
we must pay corporate-level taxes, and potentially adversely affecting our liquidity, and our desire to preserve our net operating losses and net capital
loss carryforwards may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

If we do not qualify to be taxed as a REIT for any taxable year through 2021, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax as a regular corporation
and could face a substantial tax liability, which would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating flexibility and reduce the
price of our Class A common shares.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities

The market price and trading volume of our securities may be volatile.

We have issued Series A Preferred Shares, which, along with future offerings of debt or preferred equity securities, rank senior to our common shares
for purposes of distributions or upon liquidation, which may adversely affect the market price of our common shares.

The number of shares available for future sale and our earnings could adversely affect the market price of Class A common shares.
The Series A preferred shares have not been rated.

A lack of active trading market for the Series A Preferred Shares may negatively affect the market value of, and the ability of holders of our Series A
Preferred Shares to transfer or sell, their Series A Preferred Shares.

The Series A Preferred Shares are subordinate in right of payment to debt. The interests of holders of Series A Preferred Shares could be diluted by
transactions such as the issuance of additional preferred shares.

Dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, are discretionary.

Holders of Series A Preferred Shares have limited voting rights.



Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any strategic transaction or strategic change on terms satisfactory to the Board of Trustees.

On March 1, 2022, we announced that our Board of Trustees had commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder
value. The Board of Trustees created a Special Committee to oversee the process. The strategic review process remains ongoing. The Company sought a
shareholder vote to approve the Plan of Sale that would allow our board to sell all of our assets, distribute the net proceeds to shareholders and dissolve the
Company. The affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all outstanding common shares of the Company was required to approve the Plan of Sale. The 2022
Annual Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, following our filing of a final proxy statement with the SEC on September 14, 2022. During the
meeting, the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders.

Further, as we implement the Plan of Sale, it may dissuade parties that might have an interest in acquiring our Company as a whole by means of a merger
transaction or otherwise from pursing such an acquisition and may also preclude other possible courses of action not yet identified by our Board. The strategic
review process remains ongoing, and the Company remains open-minded to pursuing value-maximizing alternatives, including a potential sale of the Company.
There can be no assurance regarding the success of the process.

Edward Lampert, who owned approximately 24.0% of our outstanding Class A shares as of December 31, 2024, voted in favor of the Plan of Sale, pursuant to
an agreement with the Company.

We have experienced challenging market conditions and there can be no assurances that these challenges will abate, which may adversely impact the net
Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets.

Since the latter months of 2022, we, along with the commercial real estate market as a whole, have experienced and continues to experience challenging market
conditions as a result of, among other things, elevated interest rates, increases to required return hurdles for institutional buyers, availability of debt capital,
continued inflation, decreased demand for office properties, the threat of tariffs and trade wars, political uncertainty in the United States and the possibility of
geopolitical conflict spreading to other regions. These conditions have applied and continue to apply downward pricing pressure on all of our assets. In making
decisions regarding whether and when to transact on each of the Company’s remaining assets, the Company will consider various factors including, but not
limited to, the breadth of the buyer universe, macroeconomic conditions, the availability and cost of financing, as well as corporate, operating and other capital
expenses required to carry the asset. If these challenging market conditions persist, then we expect that they will continue to adversely impact the Plan of Sale
proceeds from our assets and the amounts and timing of distributions to shareholders.

We cannot assure our shareholders of the amount they will receive in shareholder distributions under the Plan of Sale or when they will receive them.

The net proceeds that will be distributed to our Class A shareholders over time (directly or through a liquidating trust or other liquidating entity) from the Plan
of Sale will be based on a number of factors including: (a) the actual proceeds from the sale of our assets; (b) the repayment of our Term Loan Facility, (c) the
redemption of the Company’s outstanding Series A Preferred Shares, (d) the settlement of certain financial obligations, (e) the debt service and dividends on
Series A Preferred Shares prior to repayment and redemption, (f) the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the sale of our assets, (g) the expenses and
capital expenditures to be incurred and revenue to be generated from our properties prior to disposition and estimates of the general administrative expenses, (h)
the wind-down costs of the Company and (i) the Company’s taxes and other liabilities. The estimates initially prepared and included in our 2022 annual proxy
statement about the amount of shareholder distributions that we may make in connection with the Plan of Sale were based on many estimates and assumptions
(which were derived based on data and information reviewed by Company management and advisors as of or prior to June 2022), one or more of which may
prove to be incorrect and/or, as noted above, may be adversely affected by market conditions and other circumstances that have changed since the preparation of
those estimates. As a result, the actual amount of shareholder distributions may be less than we initially estimated and/or may be paid later than we predicted.

We also note that, if our liabilities (including, without limitation, tax liabilities and compliance costs) are greater than we currently expect or if the sales prices
of our assets are less than we expect, shareholders will receive less distributions for each common share
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that they currently own than we initially estimated. In addition, such estimated shareholder distributions do not reflect estimated costs or liabilities related to
pending and any future litigation.

If we are unable to find buyers for our assets on a timely basis or at our expected sales prices, our shareholder distributions under the Plan of Sale may be
delayed or reduced.

In calculating our estimated total shareholder distributions, we assumed that we will be able to find buyers for all of our assets at amounts based on our
estimated range of gross real estate sales prices (based on data and information reviewed by Company management and advisors as of or prior to early June
2022). However, we may have overestimated the sales prices that we will ultimately be able to obtain for these assets and/or, as noted above, market conditions
and other circumstances have changed in the time since the preparation of those estimates. For example, in order to find buyers in a timely manner, we may be
required to lower our asking price below the low end of our current estimate of the assets' market value. If we are not able to find buyers for these assets in a
timely manner, if we have overestimated the sales prices we will receive, and/or if market conditions continue to deteriorate, our shareholder distributions to our
shareholders will be delayed or reduced.

Furthermore, real estate sales prices are constantly changing and fluctuate with changes in interest rates, supply and demand dynamics, occupancy percentages,
lease rates, the availability of suitable buyers, the perceived quality and dependability of income flows from tenancies and a number of other factors, both local
and national. In addition, transactional fees and expenses or unknown liabilities, if any, may adversely impact the net Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets.

Additionally, our ability to sell our Unconsolidated Properties or interests in unconsolidated entities are subject to certain limitations in the governing
documents of these unconsolidated entities.

Our expected sales prices may be impacted by tenant issues at our properties.

We may be impacted by issues with our tenants that can affect sales prices of assets as we execute the Plan of Sale. At any time, our tenants may experience a
downturn in their respective businesses that may significantly weaken their financial condition, particularly during periods of economic uncertainty. This
uncertainty may be exacerbated as a result of actual changes in economic conditions, including as a result of market dynamics, trends in consumer income,
rising energy prices, high interest rates, tariffs or trade disputes, and natural or manmade disasters, including epidemic or pandemic disease, or the impact of the
fear of such changes on consumer behavior. As a result, our tenants may delay lease commencements, decline to extend or renew leases upon expiration, fail to
make rental payments when due, close a number of locations or declare bankruptcy. Such issues could negatively impact buyers view of the properties and
result in lower than expected sales prices. In addition, such tenant issues might potentially lower rents or result in higher maintenance expenditures that could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations pending those sales.

Our sales prices may also be impacted by competition with regards to the leasing environment. Our properties operate in locations that compete with other retail
properties and also compete with other forms of retailing, such as catalogs and e-commerce websites. Competition may also come from strip centers, outlet
centers, lifestyle centers and malls, and both existing and future development projects. New construction, renovations and expansions at competing sites could
also negatively affect our properties. In addition, we compete with other retail property companies for tenants. Any inability to lease newly developed space or
re-lease vacant space can negatively impact our ability to sell our assets and monetize them in line with expectations.

We have ongoing capital needs and may not be able to obtain additional financing or other sources of funding on acceptable terms.

As of December 31, 2024, we had aggregate outstanding indebtedness of $240 million. Our existing debt could require a substantial portion of our cash flow to
make interest and principal payments. Demands on our cash resources from debt service will reduce funds available to us to pay dividends on our preferred
shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, make capital expenditures or carry out other aspects of our business strategy. Our indebtedness may also limit
our ability to adjust rapidly to changing market conditions, make us more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions and create
competitive disadvantages for us compared to other companies with relatively lower debt levels. Increased future debt service obligations may limit our
operational flexibility, including our ability to finance or refinance our properties, contribute properties to joint ventures or sell properties as needed.
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Our primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and debt service, and the
reinvestment in and redevelopment of our properties. As a result of a decrease in property rental income, primarily due to sales, operating cash flow did not
fully fund property operating and other expenses incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024. In the near term, our asset sales are our principal source of
cash flow. Property operating and other expenses are projected to continue to exceed property rental income. While we do not currently have the liquid funds
available to fully fund projected property and other expenses and planned development expenditures, we expect to fund these uses of cash with a combination of
capital sources including, but not limited to, sales of Consolidated Properties, sales of interests in Unconsolidated Properties and potential financing
transactions, subject to compliance with certain conditions and/or the consent of our lender under our Term Loan Facility.

Since 2019, we have not been in compliance with certain financial metrics applicable to us under the agreements governing our term loan facility. As a result of
the non-compliance, the lender had the right to request mortgages against our assets pursuant to the mortgage and collateral requirement. Since 2020, at the
request of the lender, nearly all Consolidated Properties have mortgages.

The Term Loan Facility also provides for a $400 million incremental facility (the “Incremental Funding Facility”). Our ability to access the Incremental
Funding Facility is subject to (i) our achieving rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, on an annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases
expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the fiscal quarter ending prior to the date of incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of not
less than $200 million, (ii) our good faith projection that rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to
commence rent payment within 12 months) for the succeeding four consecutive fiscal quarters (beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the incremental
facility is accessed) will be not less than $200 million, and (iii) the repayment by the Operating Partnership of any deferred interest permitted under the
amendment to the Term Loan Agreement (as defined below) as further described below. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has not yet achieved the
requirements to access the Incremental Funding Facility.

On November 20, 2024, the Operating Partnership, the Company, and Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska (“Berkshire Hathaway)
entered into an amendment to the Term Loan Agreement pursuant to which the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed
that the Term Loan Facility may, at the Operating Partnership’s election, be extended for one year from July 31, 2025 (the “Maturity Date”) to July 31, 2026 if
the Operating Partnership pays a two percent (2%) extension fee on the then outstanding principal amount as of the Maturity Date. If the Operating Partnership
exercises the extension option, all other terms under the Term Loan Agreement shall remain unchanged during the extension period including the interest rate
and the incremental facility fee in accordance with the Term Loan Agreement.

As of March 31, 2025, the Company has one asset owned by our consolidated joint venture under contract for anticipated proceeds of $14.0 million and is
currently negotiating definitive purchase and sale agreements of approximately $70.0 million. The Company continues to use the proceeds from sold assets to
further reduce the outstanding balance of the Term Loan Facility. See Note 1— Going Concern of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included in
Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the going concern.

Real estate related taxes may increase, and if these increases are not passed on to tenants, our income will be reduced.

Some local real property tax assessors may seek to reassess some of our properties as a result of our acquisitions and/or redevelopment of properties. Generally,
from time to time, our property taxes increase as property values or assessment rates change or for other reasons deemed relevant by the assessors. An increase
in the assessed valuation of a property for real estate tax purposes will result in an increase in the related real estate taxes on that property. Although some
leases may permit us to pass through such tax increases to the tenants for payment, there is no assurance that renewal leases or future leases will be negotiated
on the same basis. Increases not passed through to tenants will reduce our income.

Changes in building and/or zoning laws may require us to update a property or prevent us from fully restoring a property in the event of a substantial
casualty loss and/or require us to meet additional or more stringent construction requirements.

Due to changes in, among other things, applicable building and zoning laws, ordinances and codes that may affect certain of our properties that have come into
effect after the initial construction of the properties, certain properties may not comply fully with current building and/or zoning laws, including electrical, fire,
health and safety codes and regulations, use, lot coverage, parking and setback requirements, but may qualify as permitted non-conforming uses. Such changes
in building and zoning laws may require updating various existing physical conditions of buildings in connection with our recapture, renovation, and/or
redevelopment of properties. In addition, such changes in building and zoning laws may limit our or our tenants’ ability to restore the premises of a property to
its previous condition in the event of a substantial casualty loss with respect to the property or the ability to refurbish, expand or renovate such property to
remain compliant, or increase the cost of construction in order to comply with changes in building or zoning codes and regulations. If we are unable to restore a
property to its prior use after a substantial casualty loss or are required to comply with more stringent building or zoning codes and regulations, we may be
unable to re-lease the space at a comparable effective rent or sell the property at an acceptable price, which may materially and adversely affect us.
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Our real estate assets and equity method investments may be subject to impairment charges.

On a periodic basis, we must assess whether there are any indicators that the value of our real estate assets and other investments may be impaired. If an
impairment indicator is identified, a property’s value is considered to be impaired only if management’s estimate of current and projected operating cash flows
(undiscounted and unlevered), taking into account the anticipated and probability weighted holding periods, are less than the carrying value of the property. In
our estimate of cash flow projections, we consider factors such as expected future operating income, trends and prospects, the effects of demand, competition
and other factors. If we are evaluating the potential sale of an asset, the undiscounted future cash flows consider the most likely course of action at the balance
sheet date based on current plans, intended holding periods and available market information. We are required to make subjective assessments as to whether
there are impairments in the value of our real estate assets and other investments. These assessments may have a direct impact on our earnings because
recording an impairment charge results in an immediate negative adjustment to earnings. We may take impairment charges in the future related to the
impairment of our assets, and any future impairment could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which the impairment
charge is taken.

We have previously identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, which we have since remediated. However, in the future
we might identify additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies or fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, which may cause us
to not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, our shareholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting,
which could harm our business and the trading price of our common shares.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.

In the course of preparing our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting that existed due to deficiencies in the design and operating effectiveness of our controls over the impairment of investments in real estate and
other than temporary impairment of equity method investments. The deficiencies related to the identification of impairment indicators. Additionally,
management did not maintain adequate evidence of the review of information used in the impairment indicator analysis and the fair value of investments in real
estate and equity method investments. Further, management identified a deficiency in the operating effectiveness in our review over the calculation of other
than temporary impairments. These deficiencies contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial statements.

Additionally, during the same period, we identified a material weakness due to a deficiency in the design of our controls over the accounting for certain non-
routine transactions particularly related to accounting for transactions with joint ventures and certain consulting contracts. For these transactions, management
did not possess the adequate technical capabilities to appropriately assess these non-routine transactions to ensure compliance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. This deficiency contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial statements.

Since identifying these material weaknesses, we have completed the process of remediating them.

There can be no assurance that similar control issues will not be identified in the future. If any other material weaknesses or other deficiencies arise in the
future, we may be unable to accurately report our financial results, which could cause our financial results to be materially misstated and require restatement. In
such case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock
exchange listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that
the measures we have taken to date, or any measures we may take in the future, will prevent or avoid potential future material weaknesses.
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Properties in our portfolio may be subject to ground leases; if we are found to be in breach of these ground leases or are unable to renew them, we could be
materially and adversely affected.

We currently have one property in our consolidated portfolio that is on land subject to a ground lease. Accordingly, we only own a long-term leasehold in the
land underlying this property, and we own the improvements thereon only during the term of the ground lease. If we are found to be in breach of a ground lease,
we could lose the right to use the property and could also be liable to the ground lessor for damages. In addition, unless we can purchase a fee interest in the
underlying land or extend the terms of this lease before its expiration, which we may be unable to do, we will lose our right to operate this property and our
interest in the improvements upon expiration of the lease. Our ability to exercise options to extend the term of our ground lease is subject to the condition that
we are not in default under the terms of the ground lease at the time that we exercise such options, and we may not be able to exercise our options at such time.
Furthermore, we may not be able to renew our ground lease upon its expiration (after the exercise of all renewal options). We are currently in litigation with the
ground lessor as to whether we were in breach at the time we exercised our renewal option. If we were to lose the right to use a property due to a breach or non-
renewal or final expiration of the ground lease, we would be unable to derive income from such property, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial conditions or results of operations.

Certain properties within our portfolio are subject to restrictions pursuant to reciprocal easement agreements, operating agreements, or similar agreements,
some of which contain a purchase option or right of first refusal or right of first offer in favor of a third party.

Many of the properties in our portfolio are subject to use restrictions and/or operational requirements imposed pursuant to ground leases, restrictive covenants or
conditions, reciprocal easement agreements or operating agreements (collectively, “Property Restrictions”) that could adversely affect our ability to redevelop
the properties or lease space to third parties or sell the properties. Such Property Restrictions could include, for example, limitations on alterations, changes,
expansions, or reconfiguration of properties; limitations on use of properties, including for retail uses only; limitations affecting parking requirements;
restrictions on exterior or interior signage or facades; or access to an adjoining mall, among other things. In certain cases, consent of the other party or parties to
such agreements may be required when altering, reconfiguring, expanding, redeveloping or re-leasing properties. Failure to secure such consents when
necessary may harm our ability to execute leasing, redevelopment or expansion strategies, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations. In certain cases, a third party may have a purchase option or right of first refusal or right of first offer that is activated by a sale or transfer
of the property, or a change in use or operations, including a closing of the Sears operation or cessation of business operations, on the encumbered property.
These restrictions may impact our ability to sell assets as contemplated in the Plan of Sale. From time to time, we have been involved in disputes or legal
proceedings relating to such Property Restrictions, which may result in the incurrence of legal costs and diversion of management resources to resolve.

Economic conditions, high interest rates and macroeconomic uncertainty could materially adversely affect our business and/or the net proceeds available
from the sale of our assets.

Our business is affected by a number of factors that are largely beyond our control but may nevertheless have a significant negative impact on us and on the
Plan of Sale. These factors include, but are not limited to:

. interest rates and credit spreads remained high throughout 2024, which could negatively impact potential buyers’ ability to purchase our properties;

» the availability of credit, including the price, terms and conditions under which it can be obtained;

. a decrease in consumer spending or sentiment, including as a result of increases in savings rates and tax increases, and any effect that this may have

on retail activity;

» the actual and perceived state of the real estate and retail markets and public capital markets in general;

¢ unemployment rates, both nationwide and within the primary markets in which we operate; and

*  macroeconomic uncertainty, in the U.S. and/or globally, including trade wars or tariffs and the possibility of a recession.

In addition, economic conditions such as inflation or deflation could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Deflation may have an impact on our ability to repay our debt. Deflation may delay consumption and thus weaken tenant sales, which may reduce our tenants’
ability to pay rents. Deflationary pressure on retailers may diminish their ability to rent our space and decrease our ability to re-lease the space on favorable
terms to us.

The U.S. economy has experienced and may continue to experience higher inflation than in prior periods. During inflationary periods, interest rates have
historically increased. Our general and administrative expenses would also be expected to increase at a rate higher than rents we collect. Also, inflation may
adversely affect tenant leases with stated rent increases, which could be lower than the increase in inflation at any given time. Inflation could also have an
adverse effect on consumer spending, which could impact our tenants’ sales and, in turn, our own results of operations.
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Any economic slowdown, including a possible recession, could impair our ability to sell our properties. Any rise in interest rates, beyond potentially reducing
the market appetite for our properties, could lead to a potential recession that might impact the sale of our assets as contemplated in the Plan of Sale.
Additionally, any rise in interest rates will make any planned financing for prospective buyers of our properties more expensive, which might diminish our
ability to sell our properties and/or the prices at which we might sell our properties.

Restricted lending practices may negatively impact our tenants’ ability to obtain credit. Decreases in consumer demand can have a direct impact on our tenants
and the rents we receive.

Rising expenses could reduce cash flow.

If any property is not fully occupied or becomes vacant in whole or in part, or if rents are being paid in an amount that is insufficient to cover operating costs
and expenses, we could be required to expend funds with respect to that property for operating expenses. Our properties are subject to increases in tax rates and
tax assessments, utility costs, insurance costs, repairs, maintenance and administrative expenses, and other operating expenses. We may also incur significant
expenditures as a result of deferred maintenance for the properties we have already acquired (subject to reserved funds to cover certain of these costs). If we are
unable to lease properties on a triple-net-lease basis or on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or some of such expenses, or if tenants fail to pay required tax,
utility and other impositions and other operating expenses, we could be required to pay those costs.

We may face increased risks and costs associated with volatility in commodity and labor prices or as a result of supply chain or procurement disruptions,
which may adversely affect the status of our construction projects.

The price of commodities and skilled labor for our construction projects may increase unpredictably due to external factors, including, but not limited to,
performance of third-party suppliers and contractors; overall market supply and demand; government regulation; tariffs; international trade; supply chain
disruptions; and changes in general business, economic, or political conditions. As a result, the costs of raw construction materials and skilled labor required for
the completion of our development and redevelopment projects may fluctuate significantly from time to time.

While we do not rely on any single supplier or vendor for the majority of our materials and skilled labor, we may experience difficulties obtaining necessary
materials from suppliers or vendors whose supply chains might become impacted by economic or political changes, or difficulties obtaining adequate skilled
labor from third-party contractors in a tightening labor market. It is uncertain whether we would be able to source the essential commodities, supplies, materials,
and skilled labor timely or at all without incurring significant costs or delays, particularly during times of economic uncertainty resulting from events outside of
our control. We may be forced to seek new third-party suppliers or contractors, who we have not worked with in the past.

Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act may require us to make expenditures that adversely affect our cash flows.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”) has separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial facilities,” but
generally requires that buildings be made accessible to people with disabilities. Compliance with the ADA requirements could require removal of access
barriers, and non-compliance could result in imposition of fines by the United States government or an award of damages to private litigants, or both. While the
tenants to whom our properties are leased are generally obligated by law or lease to comply with the ADA provisions applicable to the property being leased to
them, if required changes involve other property not being leased to such tenants, if the required changes include greater expenditures than anticipated, or if the
changes must be made on a more accelerated basis than anticipated, the ability of these tenants to cover costs could be adversely affected. Moreover, certain
other leases may require the landlord to comply with the ADA with respect to the building as a whole and/or the tenant’s space. As a result of any of the
foregoing circumstances, we could be required to expend funds to comply with the provisions of the ADA, which could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.
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Environmental, health, safety and land use laws and regulations may limit or restrict some of our operations or otherwise cause us to incur significant
CoSsts.

As the owner or operator of various real properties and facilities, we must comply with various federal, state and local environmental, health, safety and land
use laws and regulations. We and our properties are subject to such laws and regulations relating to the use, storage, disposal, emission and release of
hazardous and non-hazardous substances and employee health and safety, as well as zoning restrictions. A substantial portion of our properties that have
resulted in certain remediation activities currently include, or previously included, automotive care center facilities and retail fueling facilities, and/or above-
ground or underground storage tanks, and are or were subject to laws and regulations governing the handling, storage and disposal of hazardous substances
contained in some of the products or materials used or sold in the automotive care center facilities (such as gasoline, motor oil, fluid in hydraulic lifts,
antifreeze, solvents and lubricants), the recycling/disposal of batteries and tires, air emissions, wastewater discharges and waste management. In addition to
these products, the equipment in use or previously used at such properties, such as service equipment, car lifts, oil/water separators, and storage tanks, has been
subject to increasing environmental regulation relating to, among other things, the storage, handling, use, disposal and transportation of hazardous materials.
There are also federal, state and local laws, regulations and ordinances that govern the use, removal and/or replacement of underground storage tanks in the
event of a release on, or an upgrade or redevelopment of, certain properties. Such laws, as well as common-law standards, may impose liability for any releases
of hazardous substances associated with the underground storage tanks and may provide for third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators of such
properties for damages associated with such releases. If hazardous substances are released from any underground storage tanks on any of our properties, we
may be materially and adversely affected. In a few states, transfers of some types of sites are conditioned upon clean-up of contamination. If any of our
properties are subject to such contamination, we may be subject to substantial clean-up costs in order to sell or otherwise transfer the property.

As the owner or operator of real property, we may also incur liability based on various building conditions. For example, buildings and other structures on
properties that we currently own or operate or those we acquire or operate in the future contain, may contain, or may have contained, asbestos-containing
material (or “ACM”). Environmental, health and safety laws require that ACM be properly managed and maintained and may impose fines or penalties on
owners, operators or employers for non-compliance with those requirements. These requirements include special precautions, such as removal, abatement or air
monitoring, if ACM would be disturbed during maintenance, renovation or demolition of a building, potentially resulting in substantial costs. In addition, we
may be subject to liability for personal injury or property damage sustained as a result of exposure to ACM or releases of ACM into the environment. In
addition, the presence of significant mold or other airborne contaminants at any of our properties could require us to undertake a costly remediation program to
contain or remove the mold or other airborne contaminants or increase ventilation and/or expose us to liability from our tenants, employees of our tenants, or
others if property damage or personal injury occurs.

Moreover, additional laws which may be passed in the future, or a finding of a violation of or liability under existing laws, could require us and/or one or more
of the unconsolidated entities to make significant expenditures and otherwise limit or restrict some of our or its or their operations, which could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental costs and liabilities associated with contamination at real estate properties owned by us may materially and adversely affect us.

Our properties may be subject to known and unknown environmental liabilities under various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to human
health and the environment. Certain of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on certain statutory classes of persons, including current
and former owners or operators, for the costs of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties. These laws and regulations apply to past and present
business operations on the properties, including the use, storage, handling and recycling or disposal of hazardous substances or wastes. We may face liability
for costs relating to the investigation and clean-up of any of our properties from which there has been a release or threatened release of hazardous substances or
other regulated material or any third-party sites to which we have arranged for the disposed of hazardous substances, regardless of our knowledge of the
contamination, the timing of the contamination, the cause of the contamination or the party responsible for the contamination of the property.

In addition to these costs, which could exceed a property’s value, we could be liable for certain other costs, including governmental fines, and injuries to
persons, property or natural resources. Further, some environmental laws create a lien on the contaminated site in favor of the government for damages and the
costs the government incurs in connection with such contamination. Any such costs or liens could have a material adverse effect on our business or financial
condition. Moreover, the presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination may adversely affect our ability to sell or lease the real estate or to
borrow using the real estate as collateral.

Although existing and future leases are expected to require tenants generally to indemnify us for their non-compliance with environmental laws or
contamination as a result of their occupancy, such tenants typically will not be required to indemnify us for environmental non-compliance or contamination
arising prior to their occupancy. In such cases, we may incur costs and expenses under such leases or as a matter of law. The amount of any environmental
liabilities could exceed the amounts for which third parties would be required to indemnify us (or the applicable unconsolidated entity) or their financial ability
to do so.
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Each unconsolidated entity is subject to similar risks relating to environmental costs and liabilities associated with its Unconsolidated Properties, which may
reduce the value of our investment in, or distributions to us by, one or more unconsolidated entities, or require that we make additional capital contributions to
one or more unconsolidated entities.

Our business faces potential risks associated with natural disasters, severe weather conditions and climate change and related legislation and regulations,
which could have an adverse effect on our cash flow and operating results.

Climate change may add to the unpredictability and frequency of natural disasters and severe weather conditions and create additional uncertainty as to future
trends and exposures. Certain of our properties are located in areas that are subject to natural disasters and severe weather conditions, such as hurricanes,
droughts, snow storms, floods and fires. Over time, the impact of climate change or the occurrence of natural disasters can delay new development and
redevelopment projects, increase the costs of such projects if required to include resiliency measures to address climate-related risks, increase investment costs
to repair or replace damaged properties, increase operating costs, create additional investment costs to make improvements to existing properties to comply with
climate change regulations, increase future property insurance costs, and otherwise negatively impact the tenant demand for space. In addition, changes in
federal, state and local legislation and regulations relating to climate change, such as “green building codes,” could result in increased operating expenses and
capital expenditures to improve the energy efficiency of our properties, or potentially result in fines for noncompliance. We may not be able to effectively pass
on such costs to our tenants. Moreover, any such legislation and regulations could impose substantial costs on our tenants, thereby impacting the financial
condition of our tenants and their ability to meet their lease obligations and to lease or re-lease our properties. In addition, geographic concentrations of certain
of our properties in areas such as California, Florida and Texas may further expose us to certain of these risks more than if we had a smaller concentration of
our properties in such areas.

Possible acts of war, terrorist activity or other acts of violence could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Acts of war, terrorist attacks or other acts of violence may result in declining economic activity, which could harm the demand for goods and services offered
by our tenants and the value of our properties and might adversely affect the value of an investment in our securities. Such a resulting decrease in retail demand,
could make it difficult for us to renew or re-lease our properties at lease rates equal to or above historical rates. War, terrorist activities or violence also could
directly affect the value of our properties through damage, destruction or loss, and the availability of insurance for such acts, or of insurance generally, might be
lower or cost more, which could increase our operating expenses and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. To the extent that our
tenants are affected by future attacks, their businesses similarly could be adversely affected, including their ability to continue to meet obligations under their
existing leases. These acts might erode business and consumer confidence and spending and might result in increased volatility in national and international
financial markets and economies. Any one of these events might decrease demand for real estate, decrease or delay the occupancy of our redeveloped
properties, and limit our access to capital or increase our cost of raising capital.

Cybersecurity incidents could cause a disruption to our operations, a compromise of confidential information and damage to our business relationships, all
of which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and operating results.

We are susceptible to cybersecurity risks that include, among other things, theft, unauthorized monitoring, release, misuse, loss, destruction or corruption of
confidential and highly restricted data; malware, ransomware; denial of service attacks; phishing and other social engineering compromises; unauthorized
access to relevant systems, compromises to networks or devices; or operational disruption or failures in the physical infrastructure or operating systems of our
information systems. Our information systems are essential to the operation of our business and our ability to perform day-to-day operations, including for the
secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and personal information. Any system failure or event that causes interruptions in our operations
could result in a material disruption to our business, and we may incur additional costs to remedy damages caused by such disruptions. We have engaged a
third-party managed security services provider to monitor and maintain our systems to protect our technology infrastructure and data from misappropriation,
corruption and disruption, however there can be no assurance that these measures will be effective in preventing or limiting the impact of future cybersecurity
incidents. Cybersecurity risks may also impact properties in which we invest on behalf of clients and tenants of those properties, which could result in a loss of
value in our clients’ investment. In addition, due to our interconnectivity with third-party service providers and other entities with which we conduct business,
we could be adversely impacted if such entities are subject to a successful cyber incident. Although we and our service providers have implemented processes,
procedures and controls to help mitigate these risks, there can be no assurance that these measures will be effective or that security breaches or disruptions will
not occur. The result of these incidents may include disrupted operations, liability for loss or misappropriation of data, stolen assets or information, increased
cybersecurity protection and insurance costs, increased compliance costs, litigation, regulatory enforcement actions and damage to our reputation or business
relationships.
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We may incur morigage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase our business risks.

We may incur mortgage debt and pledge all or some of our real properties as security for that debt to finance newly acquired properties or capital contributions
to joint ventures, or to fund re-tenanting and redevelopment projects. Since December 31, 2019, we were required to provide mortgages to the lender under our
term loan facility on a majority of our portfolio. The mortgages, together with the other provisions of the Term Loan Facility, limits our ability to obtain
additional secured financing using such properties as collateral. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company made aggregate principal
prepayments of $120.0 million on the Term Loan Facility, reducing the Term Loan Facility balance to $240.0 million as of December 31, 2024. In addition,
incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In
that case, we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default. If any mortgages contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default
on a single property could affect multiple properties. If any properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, our ability to pay cash distributions to our
shareholders may be adversely affected.

Covenants in our Term Loan Facility may limit our operational flexibility and a covenant breach or default could adversely affect our business and
financial condition.

Our Term Loan Facility includes certain financial metrics to govern certain collateral and covenant exceptions set forth in the agreement, including: (i) a total
fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.20 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (ii) an unencumbered fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.30 to 1.00 for
each fiscal quarter; (iii) a total leverage ratio of not more than 65%; (iv) an unencumbered ratio of not more than 60%; and (v) a minimum net worth of at least
$1.2 billion. Any failure to satisfy any of these financial metrics will limit our ability to dispose of assets via sale or joint venture and trigger a requirement for
us to provide mortgage collateral to our lender, but will not result in an event of default, mandatory amortization, cash flow sweep or similar provision. Since
the year ended December 31, 2019, we have been in breach of one or more of the financial metrics described above, therefore we were required to provide
mortgages to the lender under the Term Loan Facility with respect to a majority of our portfolio. The Term Loan Facility also includes certain limitations
relating to, among other activities, our ability to: sell assets or merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantially all of our assets; incur additional debt; incur
certain liens; enter into, terminate or modify certain material leases and/or the material agreements for our properties; make certain investments (including
limitations on joint ventures) and other restricted payments; pay distributions on or repurchase our capital stock; and enter into certain transactions with
affiliates.

The Term Loan Facility also provides for the Incremental Funding Facility. Our ability to access the incremental facility is subject to (i) our achieving rental
income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, on an annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for
the fiscal quarter ending prior to the date of incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of not less than $200 million, (ii) our good faith projection that
rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the succeeding
four consecutive fiscal quarters (beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the incremental facility is accessed) will be not less than $200 million, and (iii)
the repayment by the Operating Partnership of any deferred interest permitted under the amendment to the Term Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2024,
we have not achieved this level of rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants.

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our trustees and officers are limited.

As permitted by Maryland Law, the Company’s Declaration of Trust limits the liability of its trustees and officers to Seritage and its shareholders for money
damages, except for liability resulting from:

. actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

. a final judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the trustee or officer that was material to the cause of action adjudicated.

In addition, our Declaration of Trust authorizes us and our bylaws obligate us to indemnify our present and former trustees and officers for actions taken by
them in those capacities and to pay or reimburse their reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding to the maximum extent permitted by
Maryland law, and we have entered into indemnification agreements with our trustees and executive officers. As a result, the Company and our shareholders
may have more limited rights against our trustees and officers than might otherwise exist absent the provisions in our Declaration of Trust and bylaws or that
might exist with other companies. Accordingly, in the event that our trustees or officers are immune or exculpated from, or indemnified against, liability in
connection with actions taken by any such trustees or officers, which actions impede our performance, the Company and our shareholders’ ability to recover
damages from that trustee or officer will be limited.
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Our Declaration of Trust and bylaws and Maryland law contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent an acquisition of Class A common shares or a
change in control.

The Company’s Declaration of Trust and bylaws and Maryland law contain a number of provisions, the exercise or existence of which could delay, defer or
prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for our shareholders or otherwise be in their best interests, including the
following:

. The Company’s Board of Trustees Has the Power to Cause Us to Issue Additional Shares of Beneficial Interest and Classify and Reclassify Any
Unissued Class A Common Shares without Shareholder Approval. Our Declaration of Trust authorizes us to issue additional authorized but unissued
common shares or preferred shares of beneficial interest. We have also issued 2,800,000 Series A Preferred Shares that are senior to our common
shares with respect to priority of dividend payments and rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up. In addition, the Board of Trustees may,
without shareholder approval, (i) amend the Declaration of Trust to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of beneficial interest or the
number of shares of beneficial interest of any class or series that we have authority to issue and (ii) classify or reclassify any unissued common shares
or preferred shares of beneficial interest and set the preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified shares. As a result, the Board
of Trustees may establish a class or series of common shares or preferred shares of beneficial interest that could delay or prevent a transaction or a
change in control that might involve a premium price for Class A common shares or otherwise be in the best interests of our shareholders.

. Trustee Elections Require a Vote of Two-Thirds of the Class A Common Shares and Class B Non-Economic Common Shares Votes Cast. In
accordance with the Company’s bylaws, in both contested and uncontested elections at any Annual Meeting of Shareholders, trustees are elected by
the vote of two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of Class A common shares and Class B non-economic common shares (voting together as a
single class). In the event that an incumbent trustee does not receive a sufficient percentage of votes cast for election, he or she will continue to serve
on the Board of Trustees until a successor is duly elected and qualifies. The requirement that trustee nominees receive a vote of two-thirds of the
votes cast by the holders of Class A common shares and Class B non-economic shares (voting together as a single class) may have the effect of
making it more difficult for shareholders to change the composition of the Board of Trustees. The requirement that trustee nominees receive a vote
of two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of the Class A common shares and Class B non-economic shares (voting together as a single class) may
also have the effect of making it more difficult for shareholders to elect trustee nominees that do not receive the votes of shares of our largest
shareholder, Mr. Lampert, who owned approximately 24.0% of the Company’s outstanding Class A common shares as of December 31, 2024.

. Certain Provisions of Maryland Law May Limit the Ability of a Third Party to Acquire Control of Us. Certain provisions of the Maryland General
Corporation Law (the “MGCL”) applicable to Maryland REITs may have the effect of inhibiting a third party from acquiring us or of impeding a
change of control of the Company under circumstances that otherwise could provide Class A common shareholders with the opportunity to realize a
premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares or otherwise be in the best interest of shareholders, including:

o  “business combination” provisions that, subject to certain exceptions and limitations, prohibit certain business combinations between a
Maryland REIT and an “interested shareholder” (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or
more of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding voting shares or an affiliate or associate of the Maryland REIT who, at any time
within the two-year period immediately prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the
then-outstanding shares of the Company) or an affiliate of any interested shareholder and the Maryland REIT for five years after the most
recent date on which the shareholder becomes an interested shareholder, and thereafter imposes two supermajority shareholder voting
requirements on these combinations;

o  “control share” provisions that provide that, subject to certain exceptions, holders of “control shares” of our company (defined as voting
shares that, if aggregated with all other shares owned or controlled by the acquirer, would entitle the acquirer to exercise one of three
increasing ranges of voting power in electing trustees) acquired in a “control share acquisition” (defined as the direct or indirect
acquisition of issued and outstanding “control shares”) have no voting rights with respect to the control shares except to the extent
approved by our shareholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all
interested shares; and

o  Additionally, Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL permits the Board of Trustees, without shareholder approval and notwithstanding any
contrary provisions in our Declaration of Trust or bylaws, to implement certain takeover defenses.
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The Board of Trustees has, by resolution, exempted from the provisions of the Maryland Business Combination Act all business combinations (a) between us
and (i) Sears Holdings or its affiliates or (i) ESL Investments, Inc. or Fairholme Capital Management L.L.C. (“FCM”) and/or certain clients of FCM or their
respective affiliates and (b) between us and any other person, provided that in the latter case the business combination is first approved by the Board of Trustees
(including a majority of our trustees who are not affiliates or associates of such person). In addition, our bylaws contain a provision opting out of the Maryland
control share acquisition act.

We may experience uninsured or underinsured losses, or insurance proceeds may not otherwise be available to us which could result in a significant loss of
the capital we have invested in a property, decrease anticipated future revenues or cause us to incur unanticipated expense.

While many of our existing leases require, and new lease agreements are expected to require, that comprehensive general insurance and hazard insurance be
maintained by the tenants with respect to their premises, and we have obtained casualty insurance with respect to the vast majority of our properties other than
certain vacant properties and development land sites, there are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as earthquakes, hurricanes and
floods, that may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. Insurance coverage (net of deductibles) may not be effective or be sufficient to pay the full
current market value or current replacement cost of a loss. Inflation, changes in building and zoning codes and ordinances, environmental considerations, and
other factors also might make it infeasible to use insurance proceeds to restore or replace the property after such property has been damaged or destroyed.
Under such circumstances, the insurance proceeds received might not be adequate to restore the economic position with respect to such property or to comply
with the requirements of our mortgages and Property Restrictions. Moreover, the holders of any mortgage indebtedness may require some or all property
insurance proceeds to be applied to reduce such indebtedness, rather than being made available for property restoration.

If we experience a loss that is uninsured or that exceeds our policy coverage limits, we could lose the capital invested in the damaged properties as well as the
anticipated future cash flows from those properties. In addition, if the damaged properties were subject to recourse indebtedness, Property Restrictions or
ground leases, we could continue to be liable for the indebtedness or subject to claims for damages even if these properties were irreparably damaged.

In addition, even if damage to our properties is covered by insurance, a disruption of our business or that of our tenants caused by a casualty event may result in
the loss of business and/or tenants. The business interruption insurance we or our tenants carry may not fully compensate us for the loss of business or tenants
due to an interruption caused by a casualty event. Further, if one of our tenants has insurance but is underinsured, that tenant may be unable to satisfy its
payment obligations under its lease with us or its other payment or other obligations.

A disruption in the financial markets may make it more difficult to evaluate the stability, net assets and capitalization of insurance companies and any insurer’s
ability to meet its claim payment obligations. A failure of an insurance company to make payments to us upon an event of loss covered by an insurance policy,
losses in excess of our policy coverage limits or disruptions to our business or the business of our tenants caused by a casualty event could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Each unconsolidated entity may also experience uninsured or underinsured losses, and also faces other risks related to insurance that are similar to those we
face, which could reduce the value of our investment in, or distributions to us by, one or more unconsolidated entities, or require that we make additional capital
contributions to one or more unconsolidated entities.

Mr. Lampert may exert substantial influence over us, and his interests may differ from or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.

As of December 31, 2024, Mr. Lampert owned approximately 24.0% of our outstanding Class A common shares. Mr. Lampert previously served as the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Sears Holdings and was previously the Chairman of the Seritage Board of Trustees. In any
matter affecting us, the interests of Mr. Lampert may differ or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.

On March 1, 2022, Mr. Lampert filed a Schedule 13D/A with the SEC disclosing his support for our Board of Trustees’ efforts to explore and pursue strategic
alternatives and his intention to explore alternatives for his investment in the Company, which may include, among other things, participating with third parties
that may be interested in acquiring some or all of our assets and buying or selling shares in open market transactions. In the event of any such transaction, the
interests of Mr. Lampert and his affiliates, may differ from or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.
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Our investments in or redevelopment of properties may be unsuccessful or fail to meet our expectations.

We have historically grown our business through investments in, and acquisitions or development of, properties, including through the recapture and
redevelopment of space at many of our properties. However, our industry is highly competitive, and we face competition from REITs, investment companies,
private equity and hedge fund investors, sovereign funds, lenders, and other investors, some of whom are significantly larger and have greater resources and
lower costs of capital. This competition makes it more challenging to successfully capitalize on redevelopment opportunities that meet our investment
objectives. If we are unable to finance redevelopment opportunities on commercially favorable terms, our business, financial condition or results of operations
could be materially adversely affected. Our business entails risks associated with real estate investments generally, including (but not limited to) the following
risks and as noted elsewhere in this section:

. we may incur significant costs and divert management attention in connection with redevelopments, including ones that we are subsequently
unable to complete;

. we may not successfully manage and lease redeveloped properties to meet our expectations;

. we may spend more than budgeted to make necessary improvements or renovations to our properties;

. market conditions may result in higher than expected vacancy rates and lower than expected rental rates; and

. our properties may be subject to liabilities and without any recourse, or with only limited recourse, with respect to unknown liabilities.

The redevelopment of properties involves the risks associated with real estate development activities generally. If we are unable to successfully redevelop
properties or to lease the redeveloped properties to third parties on acceptable terms, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.

Current and future redevelopment may not yield expected returns.

We are currently undertaking redevelopment and reinvestment projects involving our properties. These projects are subject to a number of risks including (but
not limited to):

. abandonment of redevelopment activities after expending resources to determine feasibility;

. loss of rental income, as well as payments of maintenance, repair, real estate taxes and other charges;

. restrictions or obligations imposed pursuant to other agreements;

. construction and/or lease-up costs (including tenant improvements or allowances) and delays and cost overruns, including construction costs that
exceed original estimates;

. failure to achieve expected occupancy and/or rent levels within the projected time frame or at all;

. failure to successfully manage, or find suitable third-party development partners for, the development of residential, office or other mixed-use
properties;

. inability to successfully integrate re-developed properties into existing operations;

. difficulty obtaining financing on acceptable terms or paying operating expenses and debt service costs associated with redevelopment properties
prior to sufficient occupancy and commencement of rental obligations under new leases;

. changes in zoning, building and land-use laws, and conditions, restrictions or limitations of, and delays or failures to obtain, necessary zoning,
building, occupancy, land-use and other governmental permits;

. changes in local real-estate market conditions, including an oversupply of, or a reduction in demand for, retail space or retail goods, and the
availability of current and prospective tenants;

. negative perceptions by retailers or shoppers of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of the property;

. exposure to fluctuations in the general economy due to the significant time lag between commencement and completion of redevelopment

projects; and
. vacancies or ability to rent space on favorable terms, including possible market pressures to offer tenants rent abatements, tenant improvements,
early termination rights or below-market renewal options.

If any of these events occur at any time during the process with respect to any project, overall project costs may significantly exceed initial cost estimates,
which could result in reduced returns or losses from such investments. In addition, we may not have sufficient liquidity to fund such projects, and delays in the
completion of a development project may provide various tenants the rights to withdraw from a property.
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If members of our management team terminate their employment with us or we are unable to retain talented employees our financial results and/or the
Plan of Sale may be adversely affected.

Our business depends, to a meaningful extent, upon the continued services of our management team and, more broadly, our employees generally. Our
executives have substantial experience in our industry. During 2023, in an effort to continue to incentivize and retain our management team, we amended the
employment agreement with Ms. Andrea Olshan and extended and revised the retention agreements with Mr. Matthew Fernand and Mr. Eric Dinenberg. The
amended agreements are structured generally to incentivize the executives to remain employed until the Plan of Sale has been fully, or nearly fully, completed,
but each of these executives could elect to terminate their respective agreements at any time. Notwithstanding, the loss of services of one or more members of
our management team, or our failure to retain talented employees generally could harm our business and our prospects and could adversely affect the Plan of
Sale. Additionally, we have engaged third-party contractors and consultants to handle certain of our day-to-day functions, including accounting and finance, and
to assist us in the Plan of Sale. The contractual arrangements governing these services can be terminated by either party upon advance notice and may not be as
effective in providing direct control over the Plan of Sale. Any third-party contractor and consultant agreement terminations may adversely affect the Plan of
Sale. Third-parties may fail to take actions required for our Plan of Sale despite their contractual obligation to do so. If the third-party advisors fail to perform
under their agreements with us, we may have to rely on legal remedies under the law, which may not be effective. In addition, the termination of third-party
contractors who oversee the accounting and finance functions could impact internal controls over financial reporting.

The future outbreak of highly infectious or contagious diseases may materially and adversely impact the business of our tenants and materially or adversely
impact and disrupt our business, income, cash flow, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects and ability to service our debt obligations.

A future pandemic could have material and adverse effects on our ability to successfully operate and on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity
and cash flows due to, among other factors:

Difficulty accessing debt and equity capital on attractive terms, or at all, impacts to our credit ratings, and a severe disruption and instability in the
global financial markets or deteriorations in credit and financing conditions may affect our access to capital necessary to fund business operations or
address maturing liabilities on a timely basis and our tenants' ability to fund their business operations and meet their obligations to us;

The financial impact could negatively impact our ability to pay dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares;

The financial impact of a pandemic could negatively impact our future compliance with financial covenants of our term loan facility (the “Term Loan
Facility”) with Berkshire Hathaway or result in a default and potentially an acceleration of indebtedness, which non-compliance could negatively
impact our ability to make additional borrowings under our Incremental Funding Facility (as defined below), conduct asset sales, fund development
activity or pay dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares;

The worsening of estimated future cash flows due to a change in our plans, policies, or views of market and economic conditions as it relates to one
or more of our adversely impacted properties could result in the recognition of substantial impairment charges imposed on our assets;

The credit quality of our tenants could be negatively impacted and we may significantly increase our allowance for doubtful accounts;
Difficulties completing our redevelopment projects on a timely basis, on budget or at all;

A general decline in business activity and demand for real estate transactions could adversely affect our ability or desire to reinvest in or redevelop
our properties; and

The potential negative impact on the health of our personnel, particularly if a significant number of them are impacted, could result in a deterioration
in our ability to ensure business continuity during this disruption.
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We have been, and in the future may be, subject to securities class action, derivative, and other litigation, which may harm our business and results of
operations.

We are involved in legal proceedings related to various matters, including securities and derivative litigation, and may become involved in other legal
proceedings that arise from time to time in the future. For example, as discussed further in Note 9 — Commitments and Contingencies to consolidated financial
statements included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, (a) on July 1, 2024, a purported shareholder of the Company filed a class action
lawsuit alleging that the Company, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer violated the federal securities laws by
issuing false, misleading, and/or omissive disclosures concerning the Company’s alleged lack of effective internal controls regarding the identification and
review of impairment indicators for investments in real estate and the Company’s value and projected gross proceeds of certain real estate assets, and (b) on or
around January 15, 2025 and January 20, 2025, two derivative lawsuits alleging the same or similar claimed acts and omissions was filed against the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and current and former members of the Company’s Board of Trustees. The securities
complaint seeks compensatory damages in an unspecified amount to be proven at trial, an award of reasonable costs and expenses to the plaintiff and class
counsel, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. Each of the derivative complaints seeks compensatory damages in an
unspecified amount to be proven at trial, an order directing the Company and the individual defendants to reform and improve the Company’s corporate
governance and internal procedures, restitution from the individual defendants, an award of costs and expenses to the plaintiff and reasonable attorneys’ and
experts’ fees, costs, and expenses, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself
against the allegations in these lawsuits but there can be no assurance as to the outcomes of these proceedings. An unfavorable outcome in these lawsuits or in
other legal proceedings may have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity of the Company.

Risks Related to Our Tax Status

If we experience an “ownership change” for purposes of Section 382 of the Code, our ability to utilize our net operating loss and net capital loss
carryforwards and certain built-in losses to reduce our future taxable income could be limited, potentially increasing the net taxable income on which we
must pay corporate-level taxes, and potentially adversely affecting our liquidity, and our desire to preserve our net operating losses and net capital loss
carryforwards may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

If we experience an “ownership change,” our future ability to utilize our net operating loss and net capital loss carryforwards to reduce our taxable income may
be limited by certain provisions of the Code. Specifically, the Code limits the ability of a company that undergoes an “ownership change” to utilize its net
operating loss and net capital loss carryforwards and certain built-in losses to offset taxable income earned in years after the ownership change. An ownership
change occurs if, during a three-year testing period, more than 50% of the stock of a company is acquired by one or more persons (or certain groups of persons)
who own, directly or constructively, 5% or more of the stock of such company. An ownership change can occur as a result of a public offering of shares, as well
as through secondary market purchases of our shares and certain types of reorganization transactions. Generally, when an ownership change occurs, the annual
limitation on the use of net operating loss and net capital loss carryforwards and certain built-in losses is equal to the product of the applicable long-term tax
exempt rate and the value of the company’s stock immediately before the ownership change. We have substantial net operating and net capital loss carry
forwards which we have used, and will continue to use, to offset our taxable income.

If we experience an ownership change, our income tax liability could materially increase. In addition, if we were to undergo an ownership change, our net
operating losses and net capital loss carryforwards could become subject to additional limitations, which could result in us incurring materially greater tax
liability than if we had not undergone such an ownership change. The determination of whether an ownership change has occurred or will occur is complicated
and depends on changes in percentage share ownership among shareholders. In addition, we may decide in the future that it is necessary or in our interest to take
certain actions that could result in an ownership change. Therefore, no assurance can be provided as to whether an ownership change will occur in the future.
Moreover, the potential negative consequences of the limitations that would result from an ownership change may discourage us from, among other things,
redeeming our shares or issuing additional common shares to raise capital or to acquire businesses or assets. Accordingly, our desire to preserve our net
operating losses and net capital loss carryforwards may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

If we do not qualify to be taxed as a REIT for any taxable year through 2021, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax as a regular corporation and
could face a substantial tax liability, which would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders.

We elected for U.S. federal income tax purposes to be treated as a REIT for the 2021 taxable year and in prior taxable years and we operated in a manner
intended to qualify us as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes for such years. However, qualification as a
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REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code, for which only a limited number of judicial and administrative
interpretations exist. Even a technical or inadvertent violation could jeopardize our REIT qualification through 2021. Our qualification as a REIT through 2021
depends on the satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, shareholder ownership and other requirements. Moreover, there can be no
assurance that the IRS will not challenge our qualification as a REIT for years in which we intended to qualify as a REIT. Although we believe we did qualify
as a REIT in each such year, if the IRS were to successfully challenge our previous REIT status, we would suffer adverse tax consequences, such as those
described below.

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year through 2021, and no available relief provision applied, we would be subject to U.S. federal income
tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates (which is 21% for periods ending after December 31, 2017 through 2021), as well as U.S. state and local
income tax, and dividends paid to our shareholders would not be deductible by us in computing our taxable income. Any resulting corporate tax liability could
be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders, which in turn could have an adverse impact on the value of
our common shares.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating flexibility and reduce the price
of our Class A common shares.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the U.S.
Department of the Treasury. The 119th Congress and President Trump have announced plans to make significant changes to the Code. Changes to the tax laws
or interpretations thereof, with or without retroactive application, could materially and adversely affect our investors or us. We cannot predict how changes in
the tax laws might affect our investors or us. Any such changes could have an adverse effect on an investment in our shares or on the market value or the resale
potential of our assets. You are urged to consult with your tax advisor with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and
proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our shares.
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Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities

The market price and trading volume of our securities may be volatile.
The market price of our securities may be volatile, and the trading volume in our securities may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. Some
of the factors that could negatively affect the market price of our securities or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our securities include:
. actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly results of operations;
. changes in our funds from operations or earnings estimates;
*  publication of research reports about us or the real estate or retail industries;
. increases in market interest rates that may cause purchasers of our securities to demand a higher yield;
. changes in market valuations of similar companies;
. adverse market reaction to any additional debt we may incur in the future;
. actions by ESL, or by institutional shareholders;
»  speculation in the press or investment community about our company or industry or the economy in general;
. adverse performance or potential financial distress or bankruptcy of our major tenants;
*  the occurrence of any of the other risk factors presented in this filing;
. complications, or any public perception of complications, regarding the Plan of Sale;
. specific real estate market and real estate economic conditions; and

»  general market and economic conditions, including a possible recession.

We have issued Series A Preferred Shares, which, along with future offerings of debt or preferred equity securities, rank senior to our common shares for
purposes of distributions or upon liquidation, and may adversely affect the market price of our common shares.

We have issued 2,800,000 Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares, which are senior to our common shares for purposes of distributions or upon
liquidation. The Series A Preferred Shares may limit our ability to make distributions to holders of our common shares.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or preferred equity securities, including medium-term
notes, trust preferred securities, senior or subordinated notes and preferred shares. Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities, Series A Preferred Shares
and any additional preferred shares and lenders with respect to other borrowings may receive distributions of our available assets prior to the holders of our
common shares. Any additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing shareholders or reduce the market price of our common shares, or both.
Holders of our common shares are not entitled to preemptive rights or other protections against dilution, and will have no voting rights in connection with the
issuance of these securities. Our Series A Preferred Shares have, and any additional preferred shares of beneficial interest issued could have, a preference on
liquidating distributions or a preference on distribution payments that could limit our ability to make a distribution to the holders of our common shares. Since
our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend in part on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or
estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, our shareholders bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our
common shares and diluting their holdings in us.

The number of shares available for future sale could adversely affect the market price of Class A common shares.

We cannot predict whether future issuances of Class A common shares or the availability of Class A common shares for resale in the open market will decrease
the market price per share of Class A common shares. Sales of a substantial number of Class A common shares in the public market, or the perception that such
sales might occur, could adversely affect the market price of the Class A common shares.
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The Series A Preferred Shares have not been rated.

The Series A Preferred Shares have not been rated, and may never be rated, by any nationally recognized statistical rating organization, which may negatively
affect their market value and your ability to sell such shares. It is possible, however, that one or more rating agencies might independently determine to assign a
rating to the Series A Preferred Shares or that we may elect to obtain a rating of the Series A Preferred Shares in the future. Furthermore, we may elect to issue
other securities for which we may seek to obtain a rating. If any ratings are assigned to the Series A Preferred Shares in the future or if we issue other securities
with a rating, such ratings, if they are lower than market expectations or are subsequently lowered or withdrawn, could adversely affect the market for or the
market value of the Series A Preferred Shares. Ratings only reflect the views of the issuing rating agency or agencies, and such ratings could at any time be
revised downward or withdrawn entirely at the discretion of the issuing rating agency. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of a rating could have an
adverse effect on the market price of the Series A Preferred Shares. Further, a rating is not a recommendation to purchase, sell or hold any particular security,
including the Series A Preferred Shares. In addition, ratings do not reflect market prices or suitability of a security for a particular investor and any future rating
of the Series A Preferred Shares may not reflect all risks related to us and our business, or the structure or market value of the Series A Preferred Shares.

An active trading market may not develop for the Series A Preferred Shares or, even if it does develop, may not continue, which may negatively affect the
market value of, and the ability of holders of our Series A Preferred Shares to transfer or sell, their shares.

Since the Series A Preferred Shares have no stated maturity date, investors seeking liquidity will be limited to selling their shares in the secondary market. The
Series A Preferred Shares are listed on the NYSE under the symbol “SRG PRA,” but there can be no assurance that an active trading market on the NYSE for
the Series A Preferred Shares will develop or continue, in which case the market price of the Series A Preferred Shares could be materially and adversely
affected and the ability to transfer or sell Series A Preferred Shares would be limited. The market price of the shares will depend on many factors, including:

. prevailing interest rates;

. the market for similar securities;

. investors’ perceptions of us;

. our issuance of additional preferred equity or indebtedness;

. complications, or any public perception of complications, regarding the Plan of Sale;
. general economic and market conditions, including a possible recession; and

*  our financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects.

The Series A Preferred Shares are subordinate in right of payment to our existing and future debt, and the interests of the holders of Series A Preferred
Shares could be diluted by the issuance of additional preferred shares, including additional Series A Preferred Shares, and by other transactions.

The Series A Preferred Shares rank junior to all of our existing and future debt and to other non-equity claims on us and our assets available to satisfy claims
against us, including claims in bankruptcy, liquidation or similar proceedings. Our future debt may include restrictions on our ability to pay dividends to
preferred shareholders. As of December 31, 2024, our total indebtedness was $240.0 million. In addition, we may incur additional indebtedness in the future.
Our Declaration of Trust currently authorizes the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred shares in one or more classes or series. Our board of trustees
has the power to reclassify unissued common shares and preferred shares and to amend our Declaration of Trust, without any action by our shareholders, to
increase the aggregate number of shares of beneficial interest of any class or series, including preferred shares, that we are authorized to issue. The issuance of
additional preferred shares on parity with or senior to the Series A Preferred Shares with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets in the
event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up would dilute the interests of the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares, and any issuance of preferred
shares senior to the Series A Preferred Shares or of additional indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to pay dividends on, redeem or pay the liquidation
preference on the Series A Preferred Shares. Other than the limited conversion right afforded to holders of Series A Preferred Shares that may occur in
connection with a Change of Control, none of the provisions relating to the Series A Preferred Shares contain any provisions relating to or limiting our
indebtedness or affording the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares protection in the event of a highly leveraged or other transaction, including a merger or
the sale, lease or conveyance of all or substantially all our assets or business, that might adversely affect the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares, so long as
the rights of holders of the Series A Preferred Shares are not materially and adversely affected.
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Dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, are discretionary. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to pay dividends in
the future or what the actual dividends will be for any future period.

Future dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, will be authorized by our Board of Trustees and declared by us at the
discretion of our Board of Trustees and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, cash flow from operations, financial condition and capital
requirements, any debt service requirements and any other factors our Board of Trustees deems relevant. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that we will be able
to make cash dividends on our preferred shares or what the actual dividends will be for any future period. However, until we declare payment and pay or set
apart the accrued dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares, our ability to pay dividends and make other distributions on our common shares and non-voting
shares (including redemptions) will be limited by the terms of the Series A Preferred Shares.

Holders of Series A Preferred Shares will have limited voting rights.

Holders of the Series A Preferred Shares have limited voting rights. Our Class A common shares and our non-economic shares are currently the only shares of
beneficial interest of our company with full voting rights. Voting rights for holders of Series A Preferred Shares exist primarily with respect to the right to elect
two additional trustees to our Board of Trustees in the event that six quarterly dividends (whether or not consecutive) payable on the Series A Preferred Shares
are in arrears, and with respect to voting on amendments to our Declaration of Trust or articles supplementary relating to the Series A Preferred Shares that
would materially and adversely affect the rights of holders of the Series A Preferred Shares or create additional classes or series of our shares that are senior to
the Series A Preferred Shares with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of
our affairs. Other than in limited circumstances, holders of Series A Preferred Shares will not have any voting rights.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are no unresolved comments from the staff of the SEC as of the date of this Annual Report.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
Risk Management and Strategy

We recognize the importance of assessing, identifying, and managing risk associated with cybersecurity threats. We have implemented cybersecurity processes,
technologies, and controls to aid in our efforts to assess, identify, and manage such risks. We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management
program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our critical systems and information.

Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management program, and shares common methodologies, reporting
channels, and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management program to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational, and financial
risk areas. As part of this process, we have elected to engage third-party managed service providers to maintain our network and to manage the monitoring,
detection, mitigation, and prevention of cybersecurity threats. These service providers are responsible for managing our hosted services, all of the computer and
computer-related hardware and software we use, and for managing our backup processes. Our primary managed service provider supplies management with
weekly updates and activity reports related to network alerts, connectivity issues, and help desk tickets.

Our management team has taken additional steps to implement our cybersecurity risk management program. For example, we have implemented periodic
management reviews of our controls related to provisioning of user access to certain third-party hosted applications that we use in connection with the business
and risks posed by certain critical vendors; this includes reviewing System and Organizational Control audit reports of such vendors. We maintain insurance
coverage intended to mitigate our financial exposure to certain cybersecurity threats, and we consult with external advisors regarding opportunities and
enhancements to strengthen our cybersecurity processes and practices.

We are subject to risks from cybersecurity threats and incidents. As of December 31, 2024, we do not believe such risks have materially affected or are
reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including the Company’s business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, there can
be no assurance that the Company will not be materially affected by such risks in the future. For additional information regarding risks from cybersecurity
threats, refer to Item 1A, “Risk Factors”, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Governance

Our Board of Trustees considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function. In February 2024, the Board delegated to its Audit Committee
oversight of cybersecurity and other information technology risks. Our Audit Committee oversees management’s implementation of our cybersecurity risk
management program. Our Audit Committee will receive periodic reports from our Interim Chief Financial Officer or our Chief Legal Officer on our
cybersecurity risks. In addition, our Interim Chief Financial Officer or our Chief Legal Officer will update our Audit Committee, as necessary, regarding any
significant cybersecurity incidents impacting our information systems. Our entire Board will also receive briefings from our Interim Chief Financial Officer or
Chief Legal Officer on our cybersecurity risk management program as part of our overall business risk updates.

Our management, represented by our Interim Chief Financial Officer, John Garilli, oversees the Company’s cybersecurity risk management program. We have
elected to engage third-party providers to maintain our network defenses and to manage and assess cybersecurity risk management and strategy for the
Company. Our third-party providers update Mr. Garilli and other members of our executive management team with any network issues on a weekly basis and
make recommendations for security upgrades as needed. The Interim Chief Financial Officer or the Chief Legal Officer will update the Audit Committee
quarterly, or more frequently in the case of a significant cybersecurity incident impacting our information systems.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s portfolio consisted of interests in 17 properties comprised of approximately 1.7 million square feet of GLA or build-
to-suit leased area and 274 acres of land. The portfolio consists of approximately 0.9 million square feet of GLA and 166 acres held by 10 Consolidated
Properties and 0.8 million square feet of GLA and 108 acres held by seven Unconsolidated Properties. The following tables set forth certain information
regarding our Consolidated Properties and Unconsolidated Properties based on signed leases as of December 31, 2024, including signed but not yet open leases
(“SNO” or “SNO Leases”):

St GLA
at Legged Not Land
City _e _Total Leased Acres Significant Tenants o Leased
1 Braintree @ I\A/I 85’18 85’18 - 34 Nordstrom Rack, Ulta Beauty, Amazon 100.0 %
2 King of Prussia © i 20868 1746(5) 34,200 14 Dick's Sporting Goods, Primark 83.6 %
3 Clearwater E 2120’3 75’58 137’48 14 Whole Foods, Nordstrom Rack 35.5%
4 Aventura E 2160’(1) 1700’(1) 46,000 13 CCRM, Industrious, Pinstripes, Anatomy Fitness 78.7%
5 Boca Raton E 4,200 4,200 - 19 JP Morgan Chase 100.0 %
6 Dallas N - - - 23 na 0.0%
7  Redmond \X 7,500 7,500 - 15 Red Robin 100.0 %
8  Riverside - Resi g - - - 14 n/a 0.0 %
9  Riverside - Retail g 33’28 33’28 - 5 Bank of America, Aldi 100.0 %
. F 1343 134,30
10 Panama City L 00 - 0 15 n/a 0.0 %
Total - Consolidated Properties Rz 2201 SHHL 166 61.0 %
00 00 0
St GLA
at Le?ﬁed Not Land
City e _Total Leased Joint Venture Acres Significant Tenants Leased
1 Santa Monica ¢ AED - 000 Mark 302 JV 3 e} 0.0%
A 00 0
2 San Diego ‘2 2120’3 2120’3 - UTCJvV 13 Amazon 100.0 %
. \Y% Foulger Pratt / n/a
3 Alexandria A - - - Howard Hughes 41 0.0 %
Altamonte Springs F 186,9 9,500 177,40 GGPI1JV 17 Darden o
4 L 00 0 51%
Santa Rosa C 165.,4 - 165,40 Simon JV 7 n/a
5 A 00 0 0.0 %
Austin T 164,6 - 164,60 Simon JV 16 n/a
6 X 00 0 0.0 %
Austin T - - B RD Development 11 n/a 0
7 X v 0.0 %
Total - Unconsolidated Properties 83263 22268 610’48 108 26.7 %
. 1,734 772,1 962,30
Grand Total - All Properties ’400 00 "0 274 445 %
Grand Total - All Properties (at Share) 1,318 661,1 657,10 220 50.2 %
,200 00 0

(1) Based on signed leases as of December 31, 2024, including SNO Leases.
(2) Asset sold subsequent to December 31, 2024.
(3) Property subject to a lease or ground lease.
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Consolidated Properties
Geographic Diversification

The following table sets forth information regarding the geographic diversification of the portfolio based on signed leases as of December 31, 2024:

Number of

State Properties Annual Rent % of Annual Rent PSF
Florida 4 $ 13,874,000 64.2% $ 55.52
Pennsylvania 1 4,901,000 22.7% 28.08
Massachusetts 1 2,421,000 11.2% 28.44
California 2 236,000 1.1% 7.10
Washington 1 190,000 0.9% 25.33
Texas 1 - 0.0% -

Total 10 $ 21,622,000 100.0 % $ 39.31

Tenant Overview

The following table provides a summary of annual base rent for the portfolio based on signed leases as of December 31, 2024:

% of Total Gross Annual
Number of Leased Leasable Base Rent % of Total Gross Annual Rent
Tenant Leases GLA GLA ("ABR") Annual Rent PSF ("ABR PSF")
484.,0
In-place leases 30 00 53.7% $ 17,973,000 83.1% $ 37.13
66,00
SNO leases (1) 11 0 7.3% 3,649,000 16.9% 55.29
550,0
Total 41 00 61.0 % $ 21,622,000 100.0 % $ 39.31

(1) SNO = Signed not yet opened leases

Unconsolidated Properties

Geographic Diversification

The following table sets forth information regarding the geographic diversification of the Unconsolidated Properties based on signed leases as of December 31,
2024:

Number of
State Properties Annual Rent % of Annual Rent PSF
California 3 $ 15,276,000 98.8 % $ 71.89
Florida 1 186,000 1.2% 19.72
Texas 2 - 0.0% -
Virginia 1 - 0.0% -
Total 7 $ 15,462,000 100.0 % $ 69.67
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Tenant Overview

The following table provides a summary of annual base rent for the Unconsolidated Properties based on signed leases as of December 31, 2024:

Gross Annual

Gross Annual

Number of % of Total Base Rent % of Total Rent PSF
Tenant Leases Leased GLA Leasable GLA ("ABR") Annual Rent ("ABR PSF")
In-place leases 27 222,000 26.7% $ 15,462,000 100.0 % $ 69.65
Total 27 222,000 26.7% $ 15,462,000 100.0% $ 69.65
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business and due to the current
environment. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on currently available information, that the
final outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity of the
Company. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company did not record any amounts for litigation or other matters aside from payments made by our
D&O insurers, which we received during the year ended December 31, 2023. Details of the litigation and these payments are described in Note 9 to our
consolidated financial statements.

On July 1, 2024, a purported shareholder of the Company filed a class action lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, captioned
Zhengxu He, Trustee of the He & Fang 2005 Revocable Living Trust v. Seritage Growth Properties, Case No. 1:24:CV:05007, alleging that the Company, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer violated the federal securities laws (the “Securities Action”). The complaint
seeks to bring a class action on behalf of all persons and entities that purchased or otherwise acquired Company securities between July 7, 2022 and May 10,
2024. The complaint alleges that the defendants violated federal securities laws by issuing false, misleading, and/or omissive disclosures concerning the
Company’s alleged lack of effective internal controls regarding the identification and review of impairment indicators for investments in real estate and the
Company’s value and projected gross proceeds of certain real estate assets. The complaint seeks compensatory damages in an unspecified amount to be proven
at trial, an award of reasonable costs and expenses to the plaintiff and class counsel, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. On
or around January 15, 2025, another purported shareholder of the Company filed a derivative lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland,
captioned Paul Sidhu v. Seritage Growth Properties, Case No. 1:25-cv-00152 (the “Sidhu Derivative Action”). On or around January 20, 2025, another
purported shareholder of the Company filed a derivative lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland, captioned James Wallen v. Seritage
Growth Properties, Case No. 1:25-cv-00190 (the “Wallen Derivative Action” and, together with the Sidhu Derivative Action, the “Derivative Actions”). The
Derivative Actions allege the same or similar claimed acts and omissions underlying the Securities Action, assert breach of fiduciary duty and other claims
against the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and current and former members of the Company’s Board of Trustees,
and name the Company as a nominal defendant. The complaint in each of the Derivative Actions seeks compensatory damages in an unspecified amount to be
proven at trial, an order directing the Company and the individual defendants to reform and improve the Company’s corporate governance and internal
procedures, restitution from the individual defendants, an award of costs and expenses to the plaintiff and reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees, costs, and
expenses, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. On February 13, 2025, the parties to the Derivative Actions filed a stipulation
and proposed order seeking to consolidate the Derivative Actions and appoint lead counsel. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the
allegations in these lawsuits.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company’s Class A common shares are listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “SRG”.

Common Shares and Operating Partnership Units

On March 27, 2025, the reported closing sale price per share of our Class A common shares on the NYSE was $3.30.

As of March 27, 2025, there were 56,324,607 Class A common shares issued and outstanding which were held by approximately 120 shareholders of record.
The number of shareholders of record does not reflect persons or entities that held their shares in nominee or “street” name.

As of March 27, 2025, no outstanding Operating Partnership units (“OP Units”) were held by limited partners other than the Company. Seritage, and its
consolidating subsidiaries, own all outstanding Operating Partnership interests.

The Class B non-economic common shares have voting rights, but do not have economic rights and, as such, do not receive dividends and are not included in
earnings per share computations.

Class C non-voting common shares have economic rights, but do not have voting rights. Upon any transfer of a Class C non-voting common share to any
person other than an affiliate of the holder of such share, such share shall automatically convert into one Class A common share. As of March 31, 2025, there
are no Class B non-economic common shares outstanding and there are no Class C non-voting common shares outstanding.

Share-Based Compensation

The following table provides information with respect to the Company’s equity compensation plan as of December 31, 2024:

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under

Number of securities to ‘Weighted-average equity compensation
be issued upon exercise exercise price of plans (excluding
of outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
warrants and rights warrants and rights column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) ©
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders 87,899 (1) na (2) 2,048,587 (3)
Total 87,899 — 2,048,587

(1)  Represents restricted stock awards and units previously granted and that remain unvested as of December 31, 2024.

2) Weighted average exercise price does not apply to restricted stock units (“RSU”).

(3)  Shares remaining available for future issuance under the Seritage Growth Properties 2015 Share Plan, taking into account 84,216 shares of restricted
stock previously granted and 1,117,197 shares subject to grants of RSUs previously granted (including those that remain unvested reported in column

(@)).

Dividends and Distributions

The timing, amount and composition of all distributions will be made by the Company at the discretion of its Board of Trustees. Such distributions will depend
on the financial position, results of operations, cash flows, capital requirements, debt covenants, applicable law and other factors as the Board of Trustees of
Seritage deems relevant.

The Company declared a dividend on the Company’s Class A and Class C common shares for the first quarter of 2019 and has not declared dividends on the
Company’s Class A and Class C common shares since that time.

REIT Election

On March 31, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees, with the recommendation of the Special Committee, approved a plan to terminate the
Company's REIT status and become a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022. As a result, the Company is no longer required to operate under REIT
rules, including the requirement to distribute at least 90% of REIT taxable income to its shareholders, which provides the Company with greater flexibility to
use its free cash flow. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company is subject to federal and state income taxes on its taxable income at applicable tax rates and is no
longer entitled to a tax deduction for dividends paid. The Company operated as a REIT for the 2021 tax year and prior years, and existing REIT requirements
and limitations, including those established by the Company’s organizational documents, remained in place through December 31,
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2021. Refer to Note 7 — Income Taxes of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 6. RESERVED
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This section contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may vary materially from those discussed in the
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including, without limitation, those set forth in “Risk Factors” and the other matters set forth in this
Annual Report. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

All references to numbered Notes are to specific footnotes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report. You should read this
discussion in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements, the notes thereto and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual
Report. Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). Capitalized terms
used, but not defined, in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) have the same meanings as
in such Notes.

Overview

Prior to our adoption of the Plan of Sale, we were principally engaged in the ownership, development, redevelopment, management, sale and leasing of
diversified retail and mixed-use properties throughout the United States. As of December 31, 2024, our portfolio consisted of interests in 17 properties
comprised of approximately 1.7 million square feet of GLA or build-to-suit leased area and 274 acres of land. The portfolio encompasses 10 wholly owned
properties consisting of approximately 0.9 million square feet of GLA and 166 acres and seven unconsolidated entities consisting of approximately 0.8 million
square feet of GLA and 108 acres.

Review of Strategic Alternatives

On March 1, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees has commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives to enhance
shareholder value. The Board of Trustees created a special committee of the Board of Trustees (the “Special Committee™) to oversee the process. The Special
Committee retained Barclays as its financial advisor from March 2022 to August 2023 to assist with the strategic review. The Company sought a shareholder
vote to approve a proposed plan of sale of our assets and dissolution (the “Plan of Sale”) that would allow our board to sell all of our assets, distribute the net
proceeds to shareholders and dissolve the Company.

The 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, at which time the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders, following our filing
of a final proxy statement with the SEC on September 14, 2022. See Note 1 — Organization of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part
IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about the Plan of Sale. The strategic review process remains ongoing as the
Company executes the Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value maximizing alternatives, including a potential sale of the
Company. There can be no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or that the Company will be successful in fully executing on the Plan
of Sale. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations—There can be no assurance that our review of strategic alternatives will
result in any transaction or any strategic change at this time.” The Board of Trustees is currently overseeing the Plan of Sale.

Impairment of real estate assets and investments in unconsolidated entities

Due to negotiations for rent relief with existing tenants that began during the second quarter of 2024 the need for an impairment analysis pursuant to ASC 360,
Property, Plant and Equipment was triggered. We also agreed to sell certain assets below carrying value. As such, we recorded impairment losses of $87.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to changes in discount rates and residual capitalization rates between June 2023 and June 2024.
We did not recognize any other-than-temporary impairment losses on our investments in unconsolidated entities during the year ended December 31, 2024. Due
to increasing development and construction costs, deteriorating market conditions and, in certain instances excluding Aventura, FL, agreeing to sell below
carrying value, we recognized $107.0 million of impairment losses during the year ended December 31, 2023. We recognized $11.7 million of other-than-
temporary impairment losses on our investments in unconsolidated entities during the year ended December 31, 2023. We continue to evaluate our portfolio,
including our development plans, hold periods and, if applicable, offers received, which may result in additional impairments in future periods on our
consolidated properties and investments in unconsolidated entities.

Asset Sales and Sales of Unconsolidated Properties

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold 13 wholly owned assets, generating gross proceeds of $163.5 million and monetized two
unconsolidated properties for an additional $14.9 million, or $10.8 million at share, of gross proceeds.

As of March 31, 2025, we had one asset owned by our consolidated joint venture under contract to sell for total anticipated proceeds of $14.0 million, subject to
buyer diligence and closing conditions.
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Effects of Natural Disasters

The Company assessed the impact of the natural disasters that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2024 and determined that natural disasters did not
have a material impact on our operating results or financial position. The wildfires in Los Angeles, CA that occurred in January 2025 did not have a material
impact on our operating results or financial condition but could create a delay in our ability to sell the Santa Monica asset. The Company did not experience
interruptions in rental payments related to natural disasters nor has it incurred material capital expenditures to repair any property damage. As a result of
changes to weather patterns caused by climate change, our properties could experience increased storm intensity and other natural disasters in future periods
and, as such, we cannot provide assurance that natural disasters will not have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows
over the foreseeable future.

Appointment of New Chief Executive Officer and President

On March 28, 2025, we announced that our Board of Trustees and Andrea L. Olshan have agreed that Ms. Olshan will step down as the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and President (“CEO”) and as a member of the Board effective as of April 11, 2025 (the “Separation Date”). Also on March 28, 2025, we
announced that our Board of Trustees appointed Board Chairman Adam Metz as Interim CEO as of the Separation Date. In his role as Interim CEO, Mr. Metz
will serve as the principal executive officer of the Company until his successor is duly appointed and qualified, or until his earlier termination or removal, and
will receive a monthly salary of $80,000. Mr. Metz will also continue to serve as Board Chairman, and the Board has appointed Mitchell Sabshon to serve as
Lead Independent Director as of the Separation Date.
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Results of Operations

We derive substantially all of our revenue from rents received from tenants under existing leases at each of our properties. This revenue generally includes
fixed base rents and recoveries of expenses that we have incurred and that we pass through to the individual tenants, in each case as provided in the respective
leases.

Our primary cash expenses consist of our property operating expenses, general and administrative expenses, interest expense, and construction and development
related costs. Property operating expenses include: real estate taxes, repairs and maintenance, management fees, insurance, ground lease costs and utilities;
general and administrative expenses include payroll, office expenses, professional fees, and other administrative expenses; and interest expense on our term loan
facility. In addition, we incur substantial non-cash charges for depreciation of our properties and amortization of intangible assets and liabilities.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2024 to the Year Ended December 31, 2023

The following table presents selected data on comparative results from the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31,
2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023 $ Change
Revenue
Rental income $ 17,055  $ 15,060 $ 1,995
Expenses
Property operating (16,339) (21,282) 4,943
Abandoned project cots (5,732) - (5,732)
Real estate taxes (3,935) (6,128) 2,193
Depreciation and amortization (13,118) (14,471) 1,353
General and administrative (30,021) (45,988) 15,967
Gain on sale of real estate, net 10,678 96,214 (85,536)
Gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities 2,042 6,407 (4,365)
Impairment of real estate assets (87,536) (107,043) 19,507
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities (3,154) (55,857) 52,703
Interest and other income (expense), net 2,513 17,067 (14,554)
Interest expense (24,972) (44,571) 19,599

Rental Income

The following table presents the results for rental income for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the corresponding year ended December 31,
2023 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
% of Total % of Total
Rental Income Rental Income Rental Income Rental Income $ Change

In-place retail leases $ 17,957 1053% $ 31,904 211.8% $ (13,947)
Straight-line rent expense 917) -5.4% (16,872) -112.0% 15,955
Amortization of above/below market leases 15 0.1% 28 0.2% (13)

Total rental income $ 17,055 100.0% $ 15,060 100.0% $ 1,995

In-place retail tenants rental income decreased $13.9 million during 2024 primarily due to property sales. The decrease was partially offset by an increase of
$2.3 million in rental income from the Aventura, FL property.

The decrease of $16.0 million in straight-line rental expense during 2024 was due primarily to the decrease in property sales of tenanted properties in 2024,
decreasing the amount of straight-line rental income reversals.

The decrease of $4.9 million in property operating expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 was due primarily to decreases of $7.5 million of operating
expenses related to asset sales which was partially offset by increases of demolition costs of $0.6 million and $1.5 million in insurance expense.
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Abandoned project costs

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company expensed costs that were previously capitalized in construction in progress on account of a tenant that
defaulted on its lease prior to opening and predevelopment costs on a property which the Company is not currently pursuing entitlements.

Real Estate Taxes

Real estate taxes decreased by approximately $5.0 million due to property sales. The decrease was partially offset by an increase of $1.0 million in Aventura,
FL real estate taxes and a reduction of capitalized real estate taxes of approximately $1.3 million.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

The decrease of $1.4 million in depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 was due primarily to a $3.9 million decrease due
to property sales which was partially offset by $1.5 million in depreciation related to moving a property out of held for sale.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs, including share-based compensation, professional fees, office expenses and overhead expenses.

The decrease of $16.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 was primarily driven by a decrease of $14.2 million related to third-party consulting fees
utilized to execute the Plan of Sale as well as a decrease of $2.8 million in personnel costs.

Gain on Sale of Real Estate

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold 13 properties for aggregate consideration of $163.5 million and recorded a gain totaling $10.7
million.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold 60 properties, for aggregate consideration of $702.0 million and recorded a gain totaling $96.2
million.

Gain/Loss on Sale of Interests in Unconsolidated Entities
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold its interest in one unconsolidated property and recorded a gain of $2.0 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold its interest in eight unconsolidated properties, and recorded a gain totaling $6.4 million.

Impairment of Real Estate Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized $1.7 million impairment of real estate assets as a result of the Company accepting offers
below book value on three properties and an $85.8 million impairment of real estate assets on the Company's development property in Aventura, FL due to
negotiations for rent relief with existing tenants that began during the second quarter of 2024 which triggered the need for an impairment analysis pursuant to
ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment. The Company determined the fair value of this property by applying a discount to projected cash flows over the
estimated hold period. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $107.0 million of impairment losses as a result of recognizing an
impairment on the Company's development property in Aventura, FL, which is included within the condensed consolidated statements of operations

Equity in Loss of Unconsolidated Entities

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded $3.2 million of loss from investments in unconsolidated entities primarily due to $2.6 million
of loss on the sale of one of the underlying properties. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded $55.9 million of loss from
investments in unconsolidated entities primarily due to impairment charges of $70.8 million and $41.9 million recorded on two underlying investments resulting
in the Company picking up its share of these impairments of $35.4 million and $5.5 million, respectively, and an $11.7 million other-than-temporary
impairment charge recorded against three other investments.
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Interest and Other Income

The decrease of $14.5 million in interest and other income is primarily due to the receipt of $11.6 million in settlement proceeds during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Interest Expense

The decrease of $19.6 million in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 was driven by partial Term Loan Facility pay downs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and debt service
(collectively, “Obligations™), and certain development expenditures. Property rental income, which is the Company’s primary source of operating cash flow,
did not fully fund Obligations incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024 and the Company recorded net operating cash outflows of $53.5 million.
Additionally, the Company generated net investing cash inflows of $126.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, which were driven by asset sales
and partially offset by development expenditures and recorded financing cash outflows of $125.3 million, primarily due to partial repayments of the Term Loan
Facility.

Obligations are projected to continue to exceed property rental income and we expect to fund such Obligations and any development expenditures with cash on

hand and a combination of capital sources including, but not limited to, sales of Consolidated Properties, sales of interests in Unconsolidated Properties and

potential financing transactions, subject to any approvals that may be required under the Term Loan Agreement. Below is our sales activity since we began our

capital recycling program:

. Sales of Consolidated Properties. We began our capital recycling program in July 2017 and have been monetizing assets since. In March of 2022, we
elected to terminate our REIT status effective January 1, 2022 in order to remove any restrictions around asset sales. On October 24, 2022, we received
shareholder approval of the Plan of Sale.

o  Wesold 90 Consolidated Properties, and additional outparcels at certain properties, and generated approximately $986.8 million of gross
proceeds from the beginning of our capital recycling program in July 2017 through the date our REIT status terminated on December 31, 2021;
o  We sold 40 Consolidated Properties, and additional outparcels at certain properties, and generated approximately $438.1 million of gross
proceeds from December 31, 2021, the date we terminated our REIT status, through the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022;
o  From the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022 through December 31, 2024, we sold 89 Consolidated Properties, and additional
outparcels at certain properties, and generated approximately $1.0 billion of gross proceeds.
. Sales of interests in Unconsolidated Properties. Certain of our unconsolidated entity agreements also include rights that allow us to sell our interests in
select Unconsolidated Properties to our partners at fair market value.
o  We sold our interests in 15 Unconsolidated Properties and generated approximately $278.1 million of gross proceeds from the beginning of our
capital recycling program in July 2017 through the date our REIT status terminated on December 31, 2021;
o  We sold our interests in 8 Unconsolidated Properties and generated approximately $84.8 million of gross proceeds since we terminated our
REIT status on December 31, 2021, through the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022;
0 From the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022 through December 31, 2024, we sold our interests in 10 Unconsolidated Properties
and generated approximately $151.5 million of gross proceeds.
. Unconsolidated Properties. As of December 31, 2024, we had contributed interests in 12 properties to unconsolidated entities, which generated
approximately $242.4 million of gross proceeds since July 2017. In addition to generating liquidity upon closing, these entities also reduce our
development expenditures by the amount of our partners’ interests in the unconsolidated entities.

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, we sold one asset for gross proceeds of $29.9 million. As of March 31, 2025, we had one asset owned by our consolidated
joint venture under contract for sale subject to customary due diligence for total anticipated proceeds of $14.0 million and is subject to closing conditions.
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Term Loan Facility

On July 31, 2018, the Operating Partnership, as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor, entered into a Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement (as amended,
the “Term Loan Agreement”) providing for a $2.0 billion term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility””) with Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of
Nebraska (“Berkshire Hathaway”) as lender and Berkshire Hathaway as administrative agent. The Term Loan Facility provided for an initial funding of $1.6
billion at closing (the “Initial Funding”) and includes a $400 million incremental funding facility (the “Incremental Funding Facility”) subject to certain
conditions described below. On February 2, 2023, the Company made a $230 million voluntary prepayment, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $800
million, and the debt maturity was extended for two years to July 31, 2025. The Company made additional voluntary prepayments aggregating $440 million
during the remainder of 2023 and additional voluntary prepayments aggregating $120.0 million during 2024, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $240.0
million at December 31, 2024.

Funded amounts under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at an annual rate of 7.0% and unfunded amounts under the Incremental Funding Facility are subject
to an annual fee of 1.0% until drawn. The Company prepays the annual fee and amortizes the expense to interest expense on the consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company’s ability to access the Incremental Funding Facility is subject to (i) the Company achieving rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, on an
annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the fiscal quarter ending prior to the date of
incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of not less than $200 million, (ii) the Company’s good faith projection that rental income from non-Sears
Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the succeeding four consecutive fiscal quarters
(beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the incremental facility is accessed) will be not less than $200 million, and (iii) the repayment by the Operating
Partnership of any deferred interest permitted under the Term Loan Amendment as further described below. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has not yet
achieved the requirements to access the Incremental Funding Facility.

The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by the Company and, subject to certain exceptions, is required to be guaranteed by all existing and future subsidiaries of
the Operating Partnership. The Term Loan Facility is secured on a first lien basis by a pledge of the capital stock of the direct subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnership and the guarantors, including its joint venture interests, except as prohibited by the organizational documents of such entities or any joint venture
agreements applicable to such entities.

The Term Loan Facility includes certain financial metrics to govern springing collateral requirements and certain covenant exceptions set forth in the Term
Loan Agreement, including: (i) a total fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.20 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (ii) an unencumbered fixed charge
coverage ratio of not less than 1.30 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (iii) a total leverage ratio of not more than 65%; (iv) an unencumbered ratio of not more than
60%; and (v) a minimum net worth of at least $1.2 billion. Any failure to satisfy any of these financial metrics limits the Company’s ability to dispose of assets
via sale or joint venture and triggers the springing mortgage and collateral requirements but will not result in an event of default. The Term Loan Facility also
includes certain limitations relating to, among other activities, the Company’s ability to: sell assets or merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantially all of its
assets; incur additional debt; incur certain liens; enter into, terminate or modify certain material leases and/or the material agreements for the Company’s
properties; make certain investments (including limitations on joint ventures) and other restricted payments; pay distributions on or repurchase the Company’s
capital stock; and enter into certain transactions with affiliates.

The Term Loan Facility contains customary events of default, including (subject to certain materiality thresholds and grace periods) payment default, material
inaccuracy of representations or warranties, and bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. If there is an event of default, the lenders may declare all or any portion
of the outstanding indebtedness to be immediately due and payable, exercise any rights they might have under any of the Term Loan Facility documents, and
require the Company to pay a default interest rate on overdue amounts equal to 2.0% in excess of the then applicable interest rate.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company was not in compliance with certain of the financial metrics described above. The Company was previously required to
receive the consent of Berkshire Hathaway to dispose of assets via sale or contribution to another entity and, as of June 16, 2022, Berkshire Hathaway had
provided such consent for all such transactions submitted for approval. The Third Term Loan Amendment (defined below) executed on June 16, 2022
eliminates this requirement. The Company believes it is in compliance with all other terms and conditions of the Term Loan Agreement.

The Company incurred $2.1 million of debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan Facility which are recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying amount
of the Term Loan Facility and amortized over the term of the Term Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2023 the Company's debt issuance costs were fully
amortized.
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On May 5, 2020, the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Term Loan Amendment”) to the Term Loan Agreement
by and among the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway as initial lender and administrative agent that permits the deferral of payment of interest under
the Term Loan Agreement if, as of the first day of each applicable month, (x) the amount of unrestricted and unencumbered (other than liens created under the
Term Loan Agreement) cash on hand of the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries, minus (y) the aggregate amount of anticipated necessary expenditures for
such period (such sum, “Available Cash”) is equal to or less than $30.0 million. In such instances, for each interest period, the Operating Partnership is
obligated to make payments of interest in an amount equal to the difference between (i) Available Cash and (ii) $20.0 million (provided that such payment shall
not exceed the amount of current interest otherwise due under the Term Loan Agreement). Any deferred interest shall accrue interest at 2.0% in excess of the
then applicable interest rate and shall be due and payable on the maturity date of the Term Loan; provided, that the Operating Partnership is required to pay any
deferred interest from Available Cash in excess of $30.0 million (unless otherwise agreed to by the administrative agent under the Term Loan Agreement in its
sole discretion). In addition, repayment of any outstanding deferred interest is a condition to any borrowings under the $400 million incremental funding facility
under the Term Loan Agreement. The Company has paid all interest due under the Term Loan Agreement and has not deferred any interest as permitted under
the Term Loan Amendment.

Additionally, the Term Loan Amendment provides that the administrative agent and the lenders express their continued support for asset dispositions, subject to
the administrative agent’s right to approve the terms of individual transactions due to the occurrence of a Financial Metric Trigger Event, as such term is
defined under the Term Loan Agreement.

On November 24, 2021, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Second Term Loan Amendment”)
to the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating Partnership, the Company
and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that (i) the “make whole” provision in the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement shall not be applicable to
prepayments of principal ; and (ii) the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, as amended for (i) above, may at the Operating Partnership's election be extended
for two years from July 31, 2023 to July 31, 2025 (the “Maturity Date”) if its principal has been reduced to $800 million by July 31, 2023. The outstanding
principal balance was reduced to $800 million on February 2, 2023, and the Maturity Date has been extended to July 31, 2025. In all other respects, the Senior
Secured Term Loan Agreement remains unchanged.

On June 16, 2022, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Third Term Loan Amendment”) to the
Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating Partnership, the Company and
Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the asset sale covenant, the parent, borrower, and their respective
subsidiaries will be permitted without the consent of the administrative agent to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of properties (including but not limited to
properties or equity interests of any subsidiary) to unaffiliated third parties for no less than fair market value, provided that the borrower deposits all net
proceeds received into a controlled account and the use of such net proceeds will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Term Loan Agreement, including
but not limited to the restricted payments and investments/loans covenants.

On November 20, 2024, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Fourth Term Loan Amendment”) to
the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway pursuant to which the Operating Partnership, the
Company and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that the Term Loan Agreement may, at the Operating Partnership’s election, be extended for one year from
the Maturity Date to July 31, 2026 if the Operating Partnership pays a 2% extension fee on the then outstanding principal balance as of the Maturity Date.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has paid down $1.36 billion towards the Term Loan’s unpaid principal balance. The aggregate principal amount
outstanding under the Term Loan Facility as of December 31, 2024 was $240.0 million.

The Company currently anticipates it will continue to use cash on hand together with sales of Consolidated Properties, sales of interests in Unconsolidated
Properties and potential financing transactions as the primary source of capital to repay principal on the Term Loan and its obligations.

Preferred Shares

As of December 31, 2024, we had 2,800,000 7.00% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares (the “Series A Preferred Shares”) outstanding. As of
December 14, 2022, we may redeem any or all of the Series A Preferred Shares at $25.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Dividends and Distributions

The Company’s Board of Trustees did not declare dividends on the Company’s Class A common shares during 2024. The last dividend on the Company’s Class
A and C common shares that the Board of Trustees declared was on February 25, 2019, which was paid on April 11, 2019 to shareholders of record on March
29, 2019.
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The Company’s Board of Trustees also declared the following dividends on Company’s Series A Preferred Shares during 2025, 2024 and 2023:

Series A

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Preferred Share

2025

February 26 March 31 April 15 $ 0.43750
2024

October 28 December 31 January 15, 2025 $ 0.43750
July 31 September 30 October 15 0.43750
May 2 June 28 July 15 0.43750
February 29 March 29 April 15 0.43750
2023

October 30 December 29 January 16, 2024 $ 0.43750
July 25 September 29 October 13 0.43750
April 27 June 30 July 14 0.43750
February 15 March 31 April 17 0.43750

Our Board of Trustees will continue to assess the Company’s investment opportunities and its expectations of taxable income in its determination of future
distributions, if any.

Minimum Cash Requirements

Our contractual obligations relate to our Term Loan Facility and non-cancelable operating leases in the form of a ground lease at one of our properties, as well
as an operating lease for our corporate office.

Information concerning our obligations and commitments to make future payments under contracts for these loan and lease agreements as of December 31,
2024 is aggregated in the following table (in thousands):

Payments due by Period

Within After

Minimum Cash Requirements Total 1 year 2 - 3 years 4 -5 years 5 years
Long-term debt (1) $ 250,640  $ 250,640 $ — 3 —  $ —
Operating leases 2,765 605 90 90 1,980
Total $ 253405 $ 251245 $ 90 § 90 $ 1,980

(1) Includes expected interest payments.

Capital Expenditures

During the year ended December 31, 2024 the Company invested $27.5 million in our consolidated development and operating properties and an additional $9.3
million into our unconsolidated joint ventures.

During the year ended December 31, 2023 the Company invested $79.7 million in our consolidated development and operating properties and an additional
$13.4 million into our unconsolidated joint ventures.
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Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to December 31, 2023

The following table summarizes the Company’s cash flow activities for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 $ Change
Net cash used in operating activities $ (53,548) $ (53,061) $ (487)
Net cash provided by investing activities 126,870 732,911 (606,041)
Net cash used in financing activities (125,313) (675,089) 549,776

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Significant components of net cash used in operating activities include:
- In 2024, a decrease in rental income and gain on sale of real estate assets and a decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities; and

- In 2023, a decrease in rental income and gain on sale of real estate assets and a decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Significant components of net cash provided by investing activities include:

- In 2024, $155.7 million of net proceeds from the sale of real estate and $8.0 million of distributions and proceeds from the disposition of interests in
unconsolidated entities offset by development of real estate of ($27.5) million and investments in unconsolidated entities of ($9.3) million; and

- In 2023, $673.5 million of net proceeds from the sale of real estate and $152.6 million of distributions and proceeds from the disposition of interests in
unconsolidated entities offset by development of real estate of ($79.7) million and investments in unconsolidated entities of ($13.4) million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Significant components of net cash used in financing activities include:
- In 2024, ($120.0) million cash repayment of Term Loan Facility principal and ($4.9) million cash payment of preferred dividends; and
- In 2023, ($670.0) million cash repayment of Term Loan Facility principal and ($4.9) million cash payment of preferred dividends.

Litigation and Other Matters

In accordance with accounting standards regarding loss contingencies, we accrue an undiscounted liability for those contingencies where the incurrence of a
loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, and we disclose the amount accrued and the amount of a reasonably possible loss in excess of the
amount accrued or disclose the fact that such a range of loss cannot be estimated. We do not record liabilities when the likelihood that the liability has been
incurred is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated, or when the liability is believed to be only reasonably possible or remote. In such cases, we
disclose the nature of the material contingency, and an estimate of the possible loss, range of loss, or disclose the fact that an estimate cannot be made.

On July 1, 2024, a purported shareholder of the Company filed a class action lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, captioned
Zhengxu He, Trustee of the He & Fang 2005 Revocable Living Trust v. Seritage Growth Properties, Case No. 1:24:CV:05007, alleging that the Company, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer violated the federal securities laws. The complaint seeks to bring a class action
on behalf of all persons and entities that purchased or otherwise acquired Company securities between July 7, 2022 and May 10, 2024. The complaint alleges
that the defendants violated federal securities laws by issuing false, misleading, and/or omissive disclosures concerning the Company’s alleged lack of effective
internal controls regarding the identification and review of impairment indicators for investments in real estate and the Company’s value and projected gross
proceeds of certain real estate assets. The complaint seeks compensatory damages in an unspecified amount to be proven at trial, an award of reasonable costs
and expenses to the plaintiff and class counsel, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. On or around January 15, 2025, another
purported shareholder of the Company filed a derivative lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland, captioned Paul Sidhu v. Seritage Growth
Properties, Case No. 1:25-cv-00152. On or around January 20, 2025, another purported sharecholder of the Company filed a derivative lawsuit in the U.S.
District Court for the District of Maryland, captioned James Wallen v. Seritage Growth Properties, Case No. 1:25-cv-00190. The Derivative Actions allege the
same or similar claimed acts and omissions underlying the Securities Action, assert breach of fiduciary duty and other claims against the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and current and former members of the Company’s Board of Trustees, and name the Company as a
nominal defendant. The complaint in each of the Derivative Actions seeks compensatory
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damages in an unspecified amount to be proven at trial, an order directing the Company and the individual defendants to reform and improve the Company’s
corporate governance and internal procedures, restitution from the individual defendants, an award of costs and expenses to the plaintiff and reasonable
attorneys’ and experts’ fees, costs, and expenses, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. On February 13, 2025, the parties to
the Derivative Actions filed a stipulation and proposed order seeking to consolidate the Derivative Actions and appoint lead counsel. The Company intends to
vigorously defend itself against the allegations in these lawsuits.

On March 2, 2021, we brought a lawsuit in Delaware state court against QBE Insurance Corporation, Endurance American Insurance Company, Allianz Global
Risks US Insurance Company and Continental Casualty Company, each of which are D&O insurance providers of the Company (the “D&O Insurers”). Our
lawsuit sought, among other things, declaratory relief and money damages as a result of certain of the D&O Insurers refusal to pay certain costs and expenses
related to the defense of the litigation related to the bankruptcy of Sears Holdings (the “Litigation”). The Litigation was settled in 2022 and the Litigation was
dismissed. Any amounts received from the insurers will offset the Seritage Defendants’ contribution. We reached settlement agreements with two of the D&O
Insurers for gross proceeds of $12.7 million which is recorded in interest and other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations during the
year ended December 31, 2022. In 2023, we reached settlement agreements with the other two D&O Insurers for gross proceeds of $11.6 million. We received
$11.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, which is recorded in interest and other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of
operations.

We are subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business and due to the current environment.
While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on currently available information, the final outcome of
such ordinary course legal proceedings and claims will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity of the
Company.

Critical Accounting Estimates

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, we have made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Refer to the discussion of our accounting policies included in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Real Estate Investments

The Company on a periodic basis, assesses whether there are indicators, including macroeconomic conditions, that the value of the real estate assets may be
impaired. If an indicator is identified, management will estimate the real estate asset recoverability based on projected operating cash flows (undiscounted and
unleveraged), taking into account the anticipated holding period and capitalization rates, to determine if the undiscounted cash flows are less than a real estate
asset’s carrying value. Ifthe carrying value of an asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an analysis is performed to determine the estimated fair value of
the real asset. In estimating the fair value of an asset, various factors are considered, including expected future operating income, trends and leasing prospects
including the effects of demand, competition, and other economic factors such as discount rates and market comparables. Changes in any estimates and/or
assumptions, including the anticipated holding period, could have a material impact on the projected operating cash flows. If management determines that the
carrying value of a real estate asset is impaired, a loss will be recorded for the excess of its carrying amount over its estimated fair value. The Company
recognized $87.5 million and $107.0 million in impairment losses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

On a periodic basis, management assesses whether there are indicators, including the operating performance of the underlying real estate and general market
conditions which include macroeconomic conditions that the value of the Company’s investments in unconsolidated entities may be impaired. An investment’s
value is impaired if management’s estimate of the fair value of the Company’s investment is less than its carrying value and such difference is deemed to be
other-than-temporary. To the extent impairment has occurred, the loss is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the investment over its estimated fair
value. The Company did not record any other-than-temporary impairment losses for the year December 31, 2024. The Company recorded $11.7 million in
other-than-temporary impairment losses in investments in unconsolidated entities for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Revenue Recognition

We evaluate on an individual lease basis whether it is probable that we will collect substantially all amounts due from our tenants and recognize changes in the
collectability assessment of our operating leases as adjustments to rental revenue. Management exercises judgment in assessing collectability of tenant
receivables and considers payment history, current credit status, publicly available information about the financial condition of the tenant, and other factors. Our
assessment of the collectability of tenant receivables can have a significant impact on the rental revenue recognized in our consolidated statements of income.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements for recently issued accounting pronouncements.
Non-GAAP Supplemental Financial Measures and Definitions

The Company makes reference to NOI-cash basis and NOI-cash basis at share which are financial measures that include adjustments to GAAP.

Net Operating Income (Loss)-cash basis (“NOI”’-cash basis) and Net Operating Income (Loss)-cash basis at share (“NOI-cash basis at share”’)

NOI - cash basis is defined as income from property operations less property operating expenses, adjusted for variable items such as termination fee income, as
well as non-cash items such as straight-line rent and amortization of lease intangibles. Other real estate companies may use different methodologies for
calculating NOI-cash basis, and accordingly the Company’s depiction of NOI-cash basis may not be comparable to other real estate companies. The Company
believes NOI-cash basis provides useful information regarding Seritage, its financial condition, and results of operations because it reflects only those income
and expense items that are incurred at the property level.

The Company also uses NOI-cash basis at share, which includes its proportional share of Unconsolidated Properties. The Company does not control any of the
joint ventures constituting such properties and NOI-cash basis at share does not reflect our legal claim with respect to the economic activity of such joint
ventures. We have included this adjustment because the Company believes this form of presentation offers insights into the financial performance and condition
of the Company as a whole given our ownership of

Unconsolidated Properties that are accounted for under GAAP using the equity method. The operating agreements of the Unconsolidated Properties generally
allow each investor to receive cash distributions to the extent there is available cash from operations. The amount of cash each investor receives is based upon
specific provisions of each operating agreement and varies depending on certain factors including the amount of capital contributed by each investor and
whether any investors are entitled to preferential distributions.

The Company also considers NOI-cash basis and NOI-cash basis at share to be a helpful supplemental measure of its operating performance because it excludes
from NOI variable items such as termination fee income, as well as non-cash items such as straight-line rent and amortization of lease intangibles.

Due to the adjustments noted, NOI-cash basis and NOI-cash basis at share should only be used as an alternative measure of the Company’s financial
performance.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to GAAP Financial Measures

Neither NOI-cash basis nor NOI-cash basis at share are measures that (i) represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP; (ii) are indicative of cash
available to fund all cash flow needs, including the ability to make distributions; (iii) are alternatives to cash flow as a measure of liquidity; or (iv) should be
considered alternatives to net income (which is determined in accordance with GAAP) for purposes of evaluating the Company’s operating performance.
Reconciliations of these measures to the respective GAAP measures we deem most comparable are presented below on a comparative basis for all periods.
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The following table reconciles NOI-cash basis and NOI-cash basis at share to GAAP net loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

NOI-cash basis and NOI-cash basis at share

Net loss

Management and other fee income

Abandoned project costs

Depreciation and amortization

General and administrative expenses

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities

Gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities
Gain on sale of real estate, net

Impairment of real estate assets

Interest and other income (expense), net

Interest expense

Provision for income taxes

Straight-line rent

Above/below market rental expense
NOI-cash basis

Unconsolidated entities ‘**

Net operating income of unconsolidated entities ®
Straight-line rent
Above/below market rental expense

NOI-cash basis at share

(1) Activity represents the Company's proportionate share of unconsolidated entity activity.

Year Ended December 31,
2024
(153,536) $ (154,911)
(567) (5,719)
5,732 —
13,118 14,471
30,021 45,988
3,154 55,857
(2,042) (6,407)
(10,678) (96,214)
87,536 107,043
(2,513) (17,067)
24,972 44,571
1,584 38
917 16,874
189 176
(2,113) $ 4,700
5,315 8,384
(578) (4,512)
36) 28
2,588 $ 8,600

(2) Net operating income of unconsolidated properties excludes depreciation and amortization, gains, losses and impairments and management and

administrative costs.



ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
As of December 31, 2024, we had $240.0 million of consolidated debt, all of which is borrowed under our fixed-rate Term Loan Facility which is based on a

fixed term and imputed interest rate and therefore, neither are subject to interest rate fluctuations.

As of December 31, 2024, the estimated fair value of our consolidated debt was $235.7 million. The estimated fair value of our consolidated debt is calculated
based on current market prices and discounted cash flows at the current rate at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings for
the remaining term of such debt.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Reference is made to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule beginning on page F-1 for the required
information.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was performed by our management under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer ("PEO") and principal
financial officer ("PFO") of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as of December 31, 2024. Based on the evaluation, our PEO and PFO have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024.

Remediation of Previously Disclosed Material Weaknesses

In fiscal year 2023, management identified material weaknesses due to deficiencies in the design and operating effectiveness of our controls over the
impairment of investments in real estate and other than temporary impairment of equity method investments. The deficiencies related to the identification of
impairment indicators. Additionally, management did not maintain adequate evidence of the review of information used in the impairment indicator analysis
and the fair value of investments in real estate and equity method investments. Further, management identified a deficiency in the operating effectiveness in our
review over the calculation of other than temporary impairments. These deficiencies contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial
statements.

Additionally, management identified a material weakness due to a deficiency in the design of our controls over the accounting for certain non-routine
transactions, particularly related to accounting for transactions with joint ventures and certain consulting contracts. For these transactions, Management did not
possess the adequate technical capabilities to appropriately assess these non-routine transactions to ensure compliance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. This deficiency contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial statements.

Remediation Plan

In response to the material weaknesses, management, with oversight of the Audit Committee, implemented steps to remediate the material weaknesses. Our
internal control remediation efforts included the following:

. enhancement of our internal control over the identification of impairment indicators for investments in real estate to include specific indicators
related to development assets as well as an expanded set of potential indicators for all investments in real estate and equity method investments,

. inclusion of additional members of management outside the accounting function in the identification of impairment indicator process,

. updated policies and education for our reviewers to properly document and maintain adequate evidence of review of information used in
preparation of the financial statements,

. the engagement of third-party resources to assist with technical accounting for non-routine transactions, and

. created a checklist to ensure all necessary inputs are utilized in the calculation of other than temporary impairment.
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s management, including our PEO and PFO, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act and based on the criteria set forth by the Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("the COSO framework"). Under the supervision of our
management, including our PEO and PFO, we have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
COSO framework. Based on the evaluation under these criteria, management has determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2024.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Other than described above, there were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule
10b5-1 trading arrangement” (as such terms are defined under Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a) Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule.

The consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and
Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule are filed as part of this Annual Report.

(b) Exhibits.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None
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Exhibit No.

Description

SEC Document Reference

2.1

3.1

32

33

34

4.1

4.2

43

10.1

10.2

10.3%*

10.4*

10.5

10.6

June 8, 2015, by and between Seritage Growth Properties and Sears
Holdings Corporation

Articles of Amendment and Restatement

Articles Supplementary Establishing and Fixing the Rights and Preferences

0of 7.00% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial
Interest, par value $0.01 per share

Articles of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation, dated October 31,_
2022

Amended and Restated Bylaws

Registration Rights Agreement by and among Seritage Growth Properties,_
ESL Investments, Inc., and Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., dated as of
July 7, 2015

Form of specimen certificate evidencing the 7.00% Series A Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest, par value $0.01 per
share

Description of Capital Stock of Seritage Growth Properties Registered
Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Transition Services Agreement by and between Sears Holdings
Management Corporation and Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., dated as of

July 7,2015

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Seritage
Growth Properties, L.P., dated as of January 4, 2023

Holdco Master Lease by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage
KMT Finance LLC, Transform SR Operations LLC and Transform KM

Funding LLC, dated as of July 7, 2015

Omnibus Amendment to the Mortgage Loan Agreement, dated as of
September 28, 2015, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage

Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties L.P., JPMorgan
Chase Bank, National Association and H/2 SO III Funding LLC
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Registration
Statement on Form S-11, filed on June 9, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Registration
Statement on Form 8-A, filed on December 14, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 9, 2022.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 3, 2019.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration
Statement on Form 8-A, filed on December 14, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2020.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on March 15, 2019.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on March 15, 2019.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.
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10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14%

10.157

10.167

10.17+

10.18+

10.19%

Second Amendment to Mortgage Loan Agreement, dated as of November 8,_
2016, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage KMT Finance
LLC, certain other subsidiaries of Operating Partnership, Seritage Growth
Properties, Seritage Growth Properties L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association

Mezzanine Loan Agreement by and among Seritage SRC Mezzanine
Finance LLC, Seritage KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC, JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association and H/2 Special Opportunities III Corp., dated

as of July 7, 2015

Omnibus Amendment to Mezzanine Loan Agreement, dated as of
September 28, 2015, by and among Seritage SRC Mezzanine Finance LLC,_
Seritage KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC, Seritage Growth Properties,_
Seritage Growth Properties L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association and H/2 Special Opportunities I1I Corp.

Second Amendment to Mezzanine Loan Agreement, dated as of November
8,2016, by and among Seritage SRC Mezzanine Finance LLC, Seritage
KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC, Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage
Growth Properties, L..P. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

Third Amendment to Mezzanine Loan Agreement, entered into as of
November 8, 2017 and effective as of June 30, 2017, by and among Seritage
SRC Mezzanine Finance LLC, Seritage KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC,_
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association

Term Loan Facility by and among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P.,
Seritage Growth Properties, JPP, LL.C and JPP II, LLC, dated as of
February 23, 2017

Senior Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2017,
among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., Seritage Growth Properties, JPP
LLC, JPP II, LLC and Empyrean Investments, LLC, as lenders, and JPP
LLC, as administrative agent

Form of Seritage Growth Properties 2015 Share Plan

Seritage Growth Properties Restricted Share Agreement

Form of Seritage Growth Properties Restricted Share Agreement

Form of Seritage Growth Properties Time-Vesting Restricted Share Unit
Agreement

Form of Seritage Growth Properties Annual P-RSU Restricted Share
Agreement

Seritage Growth Properties
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 28, 2018.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on February 24, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on December 28, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Registration
Statement on Form S-11, filed on May 11, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration
Statement on Form S-11, filed on May 26, 2015.
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Exchange Agreement by and among Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage

Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated July 31, 2018, among Seritage
Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Berkshire
Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska

Form of Seritage Growth Properties Time-Vesting Restricted Share Unit
Agreement — 2018 Incentive RSUs

Form of Seritage Growth Properties Performance-Vesting Restricted Share
Unit Agreement — 2018 Incentive P-RSUs

First Amendment to the Master L ease, effective as of October 29, 2019, by_
and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC and Seritage KMT Finance LLC

2020, among Seritage Growth Properties, L..P. and Berkshire Hathaway Life
Insurance Company of Nebraska

Master Lease Modification and Settlement Agreement, dated as of June 3,
2020, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage KMT Finance
LLC, Transform SR Operations LLC and Transform KM Operations LLC

Second Master .ease Modification and Settlement Agreement, dated
December 02, 2020, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage
KMT Finance LLC, Transform SR Operations LLC and Transform KM
Operations LLC

Employment Agreement, dated February 7, 2021, among Seritage Growth

Amendment No. 2 to Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated
November 24, 2021, among _Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Berkshire
Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska

Employment Agreement Amendment, dated March 15, 2022, among_
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Andrea
Olshan

Amendment No. 3 to Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated June 16,_
2022, among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Berkshire Hathaway Life
Insurance Company of Nebraska

Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Matthew
Fernand

Employment Offer Letter Addendum, dated March 15, 2022, among_
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Eric
Dinenberg
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 2, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 2, 2015.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on July 31, 2018.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 3, 2018.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 3, 2018.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2020.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on May 8§, 2020.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on June 4, 2020.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 15, 2021.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on February 9, 2021.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on November 26, 2021.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2022.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on June 21, 2022.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2022.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2022.
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Letter Agreement, dated March 14, 2019, between Eric Dinenberg and
Seritage Growth Properties

Employment Agreement Amendment, dated October 23, 2023, among_
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Eric
Dinenberg

Employment Agreement Amendment, dated October 23, 2023, among_
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Matthew
Fernand

Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Andrea
Olshan

Amendment No. 4 to Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated
November 20, 2024, among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Berkshire
Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska

Seritage Growth Properties Insider Trading Policy and Guidelines with
Respect to Certain Transactions in Securities

List of subsidiaries

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Seritage Growth Properties 2023 Clawback Policy

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in
the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained
in Exhibit 101)
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 14, 2023.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 8, 2023.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 8, 2023.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on November 21, 2024

Filed herewith.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024.

Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024.

Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.
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https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-23-061211.html?hash=9b4a86f7abff458047be90bf593bdfddd484f812591ddaeb269345a088145a0f&dest=srg-20230930_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-23-061211.html?hash=9b4a86f7abff458047be90bf593bdfddd484f812591ddaeb269345a088145a0f&dest=srg-20230930_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-23-061211.html?hash=9b4a86f7abff458047be90bf593bdfddd484f812591ddaeb269345a088145a0f&dest=srg-20230930_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-039550.html?hash=c3fb9536b9535cc6b8a57a6b217171895db33512e890d430c913ff0b7cd94443&dest=srg-ex10_38_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-039550.html?hash=c3fb9536b9535cc6b8a57a6b217171895db33512e890d430c913ff0b7cd94443&dest=srg-ex10_38_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-039550.html?hash=c3fb9536b9535cc6b8a57a6b217171895db33512e890d430c913ff0b7cd94443&dest=srg-ex10_38_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-129485.html?hash=035d9b49e139ecf4182a35b379ffac333a6cc499b6807b588e63715698204abd&dest=srg-ex10_1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-129485.html?hash=035d9b49e139ecf4182a35b379ffac333a6cc499b6807b588e63715698204abd&dest=srg-ex10_1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-129485.html?hash=035d9b49e139ecf4182a35b379ffac333a6cc499b6807b588e63715698204abd&dest=srg-ex10_1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-039550.html?hash=c3fb9536b9535cc6b8a57a6b217171895db33512e890d430c913ff0b7cd94443&dest=srg-ex21_1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950170-24-039550.html?hash=c3fb9536b9535cc6b8a57a6b217171895db33512e890d430c913ff0b7cd94443&dest=srg-ex97_1_htm

* Portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

Dated: March 31, 2025 /s/ Andrea Olshan

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Andrea Olshan Chief Executive Officer and President March 31, 2025
Andrea Olshan (principal executive officer)

/s/ John Garilli Interim Chief Financial Officer March 31, 2025
John Garilli (principal financial and accounting officer)

/s/ Adam Metz Trustee March 31, 2025
Adam Metz

/s/ John T. McClain Trustee March 31, 2025

John T. McClain
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/s/ Talya Nevo-Hacohen Trustee March 31, 2025
Talya Nevo-Hacohen

/s/ Allison Thrush Trustee March 31, 2025
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/s/ Mark Wilsmann Trustee March 31, 2025
Mark Wilsmann
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Trustees and shareholders of Seritage Growth Properties

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Seritage Growth Properties and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, and
2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, equity and cash flows, for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, and the related notes and the
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2024, and 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on
the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Liquidity — Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and debt
service (collectively, “Obligations”), and certain development expenditures. Property rental income, which is the Company’s primary source of operating cash
flow, did not fully fund Obligations incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024. Obligations are projected to continue to exceed property rental income
and the Company expects to fund such costs with a combination of capital sources including, cash on hand, and sales of consolidated and unconsolidated
properties and potential financing transactions.

We identified the Company’s liquidity disclosure as a critical audit matter because of the significant judgments in management’s plans to fund its Obligations
and certain development expenditures. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort when performing audit procedures to
evaluate management’s conclusion that it is probable management’s plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the date the financial statements
are issued and will provide the necessary cash flows to fund the Company’s Obligations and certain development expenditures.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s liquidity disclosure included the following, among others:

. We tested management’s key assumptions, including projected rental income by comparing such assumptions to underlying lease agreements or
rent commencement letters.

. We evaluated management’s estimates relating to development expenditures by comparing to underlying development budgets and costs spent to
date and performing corroborating inquiries with management outside of accounting.

. We performed a sensitivity analysis on management’s projected sources and uses of cash to evaluate the reasonableness of management’s
projections.

. We evaluated the ability of the Company to extend the Term Loan Agreement and that it was appropriately considered in management’s liquidity
analysis.

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities — Indicators of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company, on a periodic basis, assesses whether there are indicators that investments in unconsolidated entities may be other-than-temporarily impaired.
Possible indications of other-than-temporary impairment may include tenant financial instability, decrease in occupancy, significant adverse legal factors,
including an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the construction
of a long-lived asset, significant decreases in the market price of a long-lived asset or other adverse asset-specific and/or market conditions.

If an indicator is identified for an investment in an unconsolidated entity for which management determines the estimated fair value is less than the carrying
value, management will determine if such decline in value is other-than-temporary. We identified the Company’s indicators of other-than-temporary
impairment analysis as a critical audit matter because of the significant assumptions in management’s analysis of relevant indicators and the higher degree of
auditor judgment.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the evaluation of investments in unconsolidated entities for possible indications of other-than-temporary impairment included
the following, among others:

. We evaluated the Company’s identification of other-than-temporary impairment indicators by:
o Searching for adverse asset-specific and/or market conditions.
o Developing an independent expectation of other-than-temporary impairment indicators and comparing such expectation to management’s
analysis.
0 Inquiring of management outside of accounting to corroborate changes in the use of assets that may indicate the carrying value of the asset

maybe not be recoverable.

o Inquiring of management outside of accounting regarding assets that have significant tenants experiencing financial instability and
corroborating management’s conclusions by reviewing the unconsolidated entity’s bad debt analysis and performing online searches for
contradictory evidence.

o Inquiries of the management regarding ongoing negotiations with or offers received from the Company’s partners in the unconsolidated
entities and comparing those offers to the carrying value of the investment.

Investment in Real Estate -Impairment Indicators and Impairment — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company evaluates real estate assets for impairment whenever there are changes in circumstances or indicators that the carrying amount of the asset may
not be recoverable. These indicators may include declining operating performance, below average occupancy, shortened anticipated holding periods, and other

adverse changes. An impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use
and eventual disposition of the asset.
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If the carrying value of a real estate asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, the Company performs an analysis to determine the estimated fair value of the
real estate asset. If management determines that the carrying value of a real estate asset is impaired, a loss will be recorded for the excess of its carrying value
over its estimated fair value.

The Company made significant assumptions in the discounted cash flow valuation used to estimate the fair value of the Company’s development property in
Aventura, FL. The significant assumptions included the capitalization rate, discount rate, anticipated hold period, capital expenditure estimates, rental rates and
rental growth rates. The Company’s assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the development property in Aventura, FL are subjective and require
judgment. Because of this, auditing these assumptions required a high degree of auditor judgment and extensive auditor effort, including the need to involve our
fair value specialists.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the evaluation management’s indicators of investments in real estate included the following, among others:

. Developing an independent expectation of impairment indicators and comparing such expectation to management’s analysis.

. Inquiring of management outside of accounting to corroborate the progress of leasing up assets under development, delays in sales of assets under
contract, or changes in the use of assets that may indicate the carrying value of the asset maybe not be recoverable.

. Inquiring of management outside of accounting regarding assets that have significant tenants experiencing financial instability and corroborating
management’s conclusions by reviewing the Company’s bad debt analysis and performing online searches for contradictory evidence.

. We utilized professionals with specialized skills and knowledge to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions used by
management in the indicators and the undiscounted cashflows, including, future market rents, down-time leasing period, hold period and terminal
capitalization rates for certain real estate investments, for which impairment indicators have been identified.

Our audit procedures related to evaluating management’s estimated fair value of the Company's development property in Aventura, FL included the following,
among others:

. With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of the (1) valuation methodology; (2) significant assumptions
made, including the determination of discount rate, anticipated hold period, rental rates, rental growth rates, capitalization rates and; (3)
mathematical accuracy of the cash flow model utilized by management.

. Evaluating whether the assumptions in determining the estimated fair value of the development property in Aventura, FL were consistent with
evidence obtained in other areas of the audit and comparable market data.

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future cash flows by agreeing in-place tenant rentals to executed lease agreements and comparing
the estimated future rental assumptions to recently executed leases.

. Evaluating management’s estimates relating to projected development expenditures by comparing to executed lease agreements, assessed
speculative tenant improvements for reasonableness by comparing to market data.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
March 31, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.
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ASSETS

Investment in real estate
Land
Buildings and improvements
Accumulated depreciation

Construction in progress
Net investment in real estate
Real estate held for sale

SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Investment in unconsolidated entities

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Tenant and other receivables, net
Lease intangible assets, net

Prepaid expenses, deferred expenses

Total assets (¥

and other assets, net

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities
Term loan facility

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9)

Shareholders' Equity

Class A common shares $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized;
56,274,466 and 56,194,727 shares issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively

Series A preferred shares $0.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized,
2,800,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and
2023; liquidation preference of $70,000

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
$ 65,009 $ 102,090
239,978 344,972
(39,940) (36,025)
265,047 411,037
93,587 135,305
358,634 546,342
. 39,332
189,699 196,437
85,206 134,001
12,503 15,699
7,894 12,246
1,047 886
22,791 28,921
$ 677,774 $ 973,864
$ 240,000 $ 360,000
31,971 50,700
271,971 410,700
562 562
28 28
1,362,644 1,361,742
(958,778) (800,342)
404,456 561,990
1,347 1,174
405,803 563,164
$ 677,774 $ 973,864

() The Company's consolidated balance sheets include assets and liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs"). See Note 2. The consolidated balance sheets, as of December 31, 2024, include the following amounts related to our consolidated VIEs,
excluding the Operating Partnership: $3.3 million of land, $2.8 million of building and improvements, $(0.9) million of accumulated depreciation and $3.2 million of other assets included in other line items. The Company's consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2023, include the following amounts related to our consolidated VIEs, excluding the Operating Partnership: $3.3 million of land, $2.8 million of building and improvements, $(0.8) million of accumulated depreciation and $2.4 million of other

assets included in other line items.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

REVENUE
Rental income
Management and other fee income
Total revenue
EXPENSES
Property operating
Abandoned project costs
Real estate taxes
Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
Total expenses
Gain on sale of real estate, net
Gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities
Impairment of real estate assets
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities
Interest and other income (expense), net
Interest expense
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Preferred dividends
Net loss attributable to Seritage common shareholders

Net loss per share attributable to Seritage Class A
common shareholders - Basic

Net loss per share attributable to Seritage Class A
common shareholders - Diluted

Weighted average Class A common shares
outstanding - Basic

Weighted average Class A common shares
outstanding - Diluted

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023
$ 17,055 $ 15,060
567 5,719
17,622 20,779
16,339 21,282
5,732 —
3,935 6,128
13,118 14,471
30,021 45,988
69,145 87,869
10,678 96,214
2,042 6,407
(87,536) (107,043)
(3,154) (55,857)
2,513 17,067
(24,972) (44,571)
(151,952) (154,873)
(1,584) (38)
(153,536) (154,911)
(4,900) (4,900)
$ (158,436) $ (159,811)
$ (2.82) $ (2.85)
$ 2.82) § (2.85)
56,255 56,151
56,255 56,151

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Additional Non-
Accumulate
Class A Common Series A Preferred Paid-In d Controlling Total
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Interests Equity
Balance at January 1, 2023 56,053 $ 561 2,800 $ 28 $ 1,360,411 $ (640,531) $ 2,130 $ 722,599
Net loss — — — — — (154,911) — (154,911)
Preferred dividends
declared ($1.75 per share) — — — — — (4,900) — (4,900)
Vesting of restricted share units 142 1 — — (316) — — (315)
Share-based compensation — — — — 2,782 — — 2,782
Sale of consolidated joint venture — — — — (1,135) — (1,082) (2,217)
Contributions to consolidated VIEs — — — — — — 126 126
Balance at December 31, 2023 56,195 § 562 2,800 $ 28 $ 1,361,742 § (800,342) $ 1,174 § 563,164
Additional Non-
Accumulate
Class A Common Series A Preferred Paid-In d Controlling Total
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Interests Equity
Balance at January 1, 2024 56,195 § 562 2,800 § 28 $ 1,361,742 $ (800,342) $ 1,174  § 563,164
Net loss — — — — — (153,536) — (153,536)
Preferred dividends
declared ($1.75 per share) — — — — — (4,900) — (4,900)
Vesting of restricted share units 79 — — — (586) — — (586)
Share-based compensation — — — — 1,488 — — 1,488
Contributions to consolidated VIEs — — — — — — 173 173
Balance at December 31, 2024 56,274 $ 562 2,800 $ 28  $ 1,362,644 § (958,778) $ 1,347 § 405,803

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities
Distributions from unconsolidated entities
Gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities
Gain on sale of real estate, net
Impairment of real estate assets
Share-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of above and below market leases, net
Straight-line rent adjustment
Abandoned project costs
Non-cash lease expense
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Tenants and other receivables
Prepaid expenses, deferred expenses and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in unconsolidated entities
Distributions from unconsolidated entities
Net proceeds from sale of real estate
Development of real estate
Net cash provided by investing activities
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of term loan
Purchase of shares related to stock grant recipients' tax withholdings
Preferred dividends paid
Contributions from noncontrolling interests to consolidated VIEs
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease) and increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
$ (153,536) § (154,911)
3,154 55,857
6,998 —
(2,042) (6,407)
(10,678) (96,214)
87,536 107,043
1,488 2,735
13,118 14,471
— 246
189 176
917 16,872
5,732 —
619 —
5,112 12,544
911 5,948
(13,066) (11,421)
(53,548) (53,061)
(9,255) (13,370)
7,952 152,553
155,687 673,473
(27,514) (79,745)
126,870 732,911
(120,000) (670,000)
(586) (315)
(4,900) (4,900)
173 126
(125,313) (675,089)
(51,991) 4,761
149,700 144,939
$ 97,709 $ 149,700
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(Amounts in thousands)

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Restricted cash at end of period
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash payments for interest

Capitalized interest

Income taxes paid

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Development of real estate financed with accounts payable

Preferred dividends declared and unpaid

Year Ended December 31,
2024
134,001 133,480
15,699 11,459
149,700 144,939
85,206 134,001
12,503 15,699
97,709 149,700
Year Ended December 31,
2024
25,355 46,046
— 3,742
1,570 38
17,172 19,575
1,225 1,225

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Organization

Seritage Growth Properties (“Seritage”) (NYSE: SRG), was formed as a Maryland real estate investment trust on June 3, 2015, operated as a fully integrated,
self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) as defined under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) from
formation through December 31, 2021. On March 31, 2022, Seritage revoked its REIT election and became a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022.
Seritage’s assets are held by and its operations are primarily conducted, directly or indirectly, through Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (the “Operating Partnership”). Under the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership, Seritage, as the sole general partner, has exclusive
responsibility and discretion in the management and control of the Operating Partnership. Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires,
the “Company” and “Seritage” refer to Seritage, the Operating Partnership and its owned and controlled subsidiaries.

Prior to the adoption of the Company’s Plan of Sale (defined below), Seritage was principally engaged in the ownership, development, redevelopment,
management, sale and leasing of diversified retail and mixed-use properties throughout the United States. As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s portfolio
consisted of interests in 17 properties comprised of approximately 1.7 million square feet of gross leasable area (“GLA”) or build-to-suit leased area and 274
acres of land. The portfolio encompasses 10 wholly owned properties consisting of approximately 0.9 million square feet of GLA and 166 acres (such
properties, the “Consolidated Properties”) and seven unconsolidated entities consisting of approximately 0.8 million square feet of GLA and 108 acres (such
properties, the “Unconsolidated Properties™).

The Company commenced operations on July 7, 2015 following a rights offering to the shareholders of Sears Holdings Corporation (“Sears Holdings” or
“Sears”) to purchase common shares of Seritage in order to fund, in part, the $2.7 billion acquisition of certain of Sears Holdings” owned properties and its 50%
interests in three joint ventures which were simultaneously leased back to Sears Holdings under a master lease agreement (the “Original Master Lease” and the
“Original JV Master Leases”, respectively).

On March 1, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees had commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives. The Board of
Trustees created a Special Committee (the “Special Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Trustees to oversee the process. The Special Committee retained
Barclays as its financial advisor. The agreement with Barclays expired in August 2023. The Company’s strategic review process remains ongoing as the
Company executes sales pursuant to the Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value maximizing alternatives, including a potential
sale of the Company. There can be no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or that the Company will be successful in fully executing
the Plan of Sale. The Board of Trustees is currently overseeing the Plan of Sale.

On March 31, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees, with the recommendation of the Special Committee, approved a plan to terminate the
Company’s REIT status and become a taxable C Corporation, effective for the year ended December 31, 2022. As a result, the Company is no longer required
to operate under REIT rules, including the requirement to distribute at least 90% of REIT taxable income to its shareholders, which provides the Company with
greater flexibility to use its free cash flow. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company is subject to federal and state income taxes on its taxable income at
applicable tax rates and is no longer entitled to a tax deduction for dividends paid. The Company operated as a REIT since inception and through the 2021 tax
year, and existing REIT requirements and limitations, including those established by the Company’s organizational documents, remained in place until
December 31, 2021.

As a result of the Company’s change in corporate structure to a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022, the Company incurred a one-time, non-cash
deferred tax benefit of approximately $161.3 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2022. The Company also recorded a full valuation allowance against
the deferred tax asset pursuant to ASC 740, Income Taxes, as discussed in more detail below.

The Company sought a shareholder vote to approve a proposed plan of sale of the Company’s assets and dissolution (the “Plan of Sale”) that would allow the
Board to sell all of the Company’s assets, distribute the net proceeds to shareholders and dissolve the Company. The Plan of Sale is expected to increase the
universe of potential buyers by allowing Seritage and potential buyers to enter into and complete value maximizing transactions without subjecting any such
transaction to the delay and conditionality associated with having to seek and obtain shareholder approval. On July 6, 2022, Edward Lampert, the Company’s
former Chairman, entered into a Voting and Support Agreement under which he exchanged his equity interest in the Operating Partnership for Class A common
shares and agreed to vote his shares in favor of the Plan of Sale. As of December 31, 2024, Mr. Lampert owns approximately 24.0% of the Company’s
outstanding Class A common shares, and Seritage, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is the sole owner of all outstanding Operating Partnership interests.

The affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all outstanding common shares of the Company was required to approve the Plan of Sale. The 2022 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, following the Company’s filing of a final proxy statement
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with the SEC on September 14, 2022. During the meeting, the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders. The strategic review process remains ongoing as
the Company executes the Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value maximizing alternatives, including a potential sale of the
Company. There can be no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or that the Company will be successful in fully executing on the Plan
of Sale. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations—There can be no assurance that our review of strategic alternatives will
result in any transaction or any strategic change at this time.” The Board of Trustees is currently overseeing the Plan of Sale.

Liquidity

The Company’s primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and debt
service (collectively, “Obligations”), and certain development expenditures. Property rental income, which is the Company’s primary source of operating cash
flow, did not fully fund Obligations incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024 and the Company recorded net operating cash outflows of ($53.5)
million. Additionally, the Company generated net investing cash inflows of $126.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, which were driven by
asset sales and partially offset by development expenditures and investments in unconsolidated entities.

Obligations are projected to continue to exceed property rental income and the Company expects to fund such costs with a combination of capital sources
including, but not limited to cash on hand, sales of Consolidated Properties, sales of Unconsolidated Properties and potential financing transactions. During the
year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold 13 consolidated assets and two unconsolidated properties for gross proceeds of $174.3 million and made
aggregate principal prepayments of $120.0 million on the Term Loan Facility, reducing the outstanding Term Loan Facility balance to $240.0 million as of
December 31, 2024. The maturity date for the Term Loan Facility is July 31, 2025. On November 20, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment to the
Term Loan Facility agreement which provides the Company with an option to extend the maturity of the Term Loan Facility to July 31, 2026. Exercise of the
extension option requires the Company to pay a 2% fee on the then outstanding balance of the Term Loan Facility. All other terms of the loan remain the same.

Going Concern

In accordance with ASC 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern, for each annual and interim reporting period, management evaluates
whether there are conditions and events that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date
that the financial statements are issued. As part of this evaluation, the Company takes into consideration all Obligations and certain development expenditures
due within the subsequent 12 months, as well as cash on hand and expected cash receipts. Management has determined that it is probable its plans, as described
under Liquidity, will be effectively implemented within one year after the date the financial statements are issued and that these actions will provide the
necessary cash flows to fund the Company’s Obligations and development expenditures for the one-year period.

As the Company has the option, at its sole discretion, to extend the maturity date to July 31, 2026, the outstanding balance of the Term Loan Facility is not
considered to be due within the 12 month period subsequent to the date that the financial statements are issued, therefore the outstanding principal balance of
the Company’s Term Loan Facility is not factored into the Company’s analysis as a current Obligation. The Company has considered the costs to exercise the
extension option to be a current Obligation.

Existing cash on hand and estimated rental income would allow the Company to fund its Obligations and certain development expenditures. As a result, the
Company has concluded that management’s plans do alleviate substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, the Operating Partnership, each of their consolidated properties, and all other
entities in which they have a controlling financial interest. For entities that meet the definition of a variable interest entity (““VIE”), the Company consolidates
such entities when the Company is the primary beneficiary of the entity. The Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary when it possesses both the
unilateral power to direct activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to
receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The Company continually evaluates whether it qualifies as the primary beneficiary and
reconsiders its determination of whether an entity is a VIE upon reconsideration events. As of December 31, 2024, the Company consolidates one VIE in which
we are considered the primary beneficiary, as the Company has the power to direct the activities of the entity, specifically surrounding the development plan. As
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has investments in several unconsolidated VIEs and does not consolidate these entities because the Company is
not the primary beneficiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
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To the extent such variable interests are in entities that are not evaluated under the VIE model, the Company evaluates its interests using the voting interest
entity model.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, holds a 100% interest in the Operating Partnership and is the sole general partner
which gives the Company exclusive and complete responsibility for the day-to-day management, authority to make decisions, and control of the Operating
Partnership.

Certain reclassifications, if any, have been made to previously reported amounts to conform to the current period's presentation.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant assumptions and estimates relate to real estate impairment assessments,
and assessing the recoverability of accounts receivable. These estimates are based on historical experience and other assumptions which management believes
are reasonable under the circumstances. Management evaluates its estimates on an ongoing basis and makes revisions to these estimates and related disclosures
as experience develops or new information becomes known. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Segment Reporting

During the year ended December 31 2024, given the continued decline in size of the portfolio and the continued progression of the Plan of Sale, the Company
has concluded that they have one operating segment and one reportable segment as the Company is assessing performance and making operating decisions on
an aggregated single segment basis. The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment which includes the ownership, development,
redevelopment, management, sale and leasing of real estate properties. The Company’s chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), Andrea Olshan (the
principal executive officer), assesses and measures the operating and financial results on an aggregated basis and does not allocate resources or make decisions
distinguishing between individual properties, geographies, sizes, or types. All revenue has been generated and all tangible assets are held in the United States.

Real Estate
Real estate assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.

Expenditures for ordinary repairs and maintenance will be expensed as incurred. Significant renovations which improve the property or extend the useful life of
the assets are capitalized. To the extent any real estate is undergoing redevelopment activities, all amounts directly associated with and attributable to the
project, including planning, development and construction costs, interest costs, personnel costs of employees directly involved, and other miscellaneous costs
incurred during the period of redevelopment, are capitalized. The capitalization period begins when redevelopment activities are underway and ends when the
project is substantially complete.

Depreciation of real estate assets, excluding land, is recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which generally range between:

Buildings: 25 — 40 years
Site improvements: 5 —15 years
Tenant improvements: shorter of the estimated useful life or non-cancelable term of lease

The Company amortizes identified intangibles that have finite lives over the period they are expected to contribute directly or indirectly to the future cash flows
of the property or business acquired, generally the remaining non-cancelable term of a related lease.

The Company, on a periodic basis, assesses whether there are indicators that the value of the real estate assets may be impaired. If an indicator is identified,
management will estimate the real estate asset recoverability based on projected operating cash flows (undiscounted and unleveraged), taking into account the
anticipated holding period and capitalization rates, to determine if the undiscounted cash flows are less than a real estate asset’s carrying value. In estimating
the fair value of an asset, various factors are considered, including expected future operating income, trends and leasing prospects, including the effects of
demand, competition, and other economic factors, such as discount rates and market comparables. If the carrying value of an asset exceeds the undiscounted
cash flows, an analysis is performed to determine the estimated fair value of the real asset. Changes in any estimates and/or assumptions, including the
anticipated holding period, could have a material impact on the projected operating cash flows. If management determines that the carrying value of a real estate
asset is impaired, a loss will be recorded for the excess of its carrying amount over its estimated fair value. The Company recognized impairment losses of
$87.5 million and $107.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Real Estate Dispositions




When the Company disposes of all or a portion of a real estate asset, it recognizes a gain or loss on sale of real estate as the difference between the carrying
value and consideration received. Consideration consists of cash proceeds received and in certain circumstances, non-cash consideration when a property is
contributed to an investment in unconsolidated entity. Gains and losses from the disposition of real estate are recorded as gain (loss) on sale of real estate on the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Refer to Note 4 for more information on the Company’s unconsolidated entity transactions.

The following table summarizes the Company’s gain on sale of real estate, net during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Gross proceeds $ 163.5 $ 702.0
Gain on sale of real estate, net 10.7 96.2

Real Estate Held for Sale

When a real estate asset is identified by management as held for sale, the Company ceases depreciation of the asset and estimates its fair value, net of estimated
costs to sell. If the estimated fair value, net of estimated costs to sell, of an asset is less than its net carrying value, an adjustment is recorded to reflect the
estimated fair value. Properties classified as real estate held for sale generally represent properties that are under contract for sale and are expected to close
within a year.

In evaluating whether a property meets the held for sale criteria, the Company makes a determination as to the point in time that it is probable that a sale will be
consummated. Given the nature of all real estate sales contracts, it is not unusual for such contracts to allow potential buyers a period of time to evaluate the
property prior to formal acceptance of the contract. In addition, certain other matters critical to the final sale, such as financing arrangements, often remain
pending even upon contract acceptance. As a result, properties under contract may not close within the expected time period or at all.

As of December 31, 2024, no properties were classified as held for sale and as of December 31, 2023, six properties were classified as held for sale with assets
of $39.3 million and no liabilities.

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

The Company accounts for its investments in Unconsolidated Entities using the equity method of accounting as the Company exercises significant influence but
does not have a controlling financial interest. These investments are initially recorded at cost and are subsequently adjusted for cash contributions, cash
distributions, and earnings and losses which are recognized in accordance with the terms of the applicable agreement.

On a periodic basis, management assesses whether there are indicators, including the operating performance of the underlying real estate and general market
conditions which include macroeconomic conditions, that the value of the Company’s investments in unconsolidated entities may be impaired. An investment’s
value is impaired if management’s estimate of the fair value of the Company’s investment is less than its carrying value and such difference is deemed to be
other-than-temporary. To the extent impairment has occurred, the loss is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the investment over its estimated fair
value.

The Company did not record any other-than-temporary impairment losses in investments in unconsolidated entities for the year ended December 31, 2024. The
Company recorded $11.7 million in other-than-temporary impairment losses in investments in unconsolidated entities for the year ended December 31, 2023 in
equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Restricted Cash
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, restricted cash represents cash collateral for letters of credit and cash held in escrow.

Rental Revenue Recognition and Tenant Receivables

Rental income is comprised of base rent and reimbursements of property operating expenses. The Company commences rental revenue recognition when the
lessee takes control of the physical use of the leased asset based on an evaluation of several factors. Base rent is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
non-cancelable terms of the related leases. For leases that have fixed and measurable base rent escalations, the difference between such rental income earned
and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease is recorded as straight-line rent receivable and included as a component of tenant and other receivables on
the consolidated balance sheets. Reimbursement of property operating expenses arises from tenant leases which provide for the recovery of all or a portion of
the operating expenses and real estate taxes of the respective property. This revenue is accrued in the same periods as the expenses are incurred.
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The Company periodically reviews its receivables for collectability, taking into consideration changes in factors such as the tenant’s payment history, the
financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates, and economic conditions in the area where the property is
located. Tenant receivables, including receivables arising from the straight-lining of rents, are written-off directly when management deems that the
collectability of substantially all future lease payments from a specified lease is not probable of collection, at which point, the Company will begin recognizing
revenue on a cash basis, based on actual amounts received. Any receivables that are deemed to be uncollectible are recognized as a reduction to rental income
in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. If future circumstances change such that the Company believes that it is reasonably certain that the
Company will collect all rental income remaining on such leases, the Company will resume accruing rental income and recognize a cumulative catch up for
previously written-off receivables. The Company is recognizing rental income on a cash basis for certain tenants starting in the third quarter of 2024.

In leasing tenant space, the Company may provide funding to the lessee through a tenant allowance. In accounting for a tenant allowance, the Company will
determine whether the allowance represents funding for the construction of leasehold improvements and evaluate the ownership of such improvements. If the
Company is considered the owner of the improvements for accounting purposes, the Company will capitalize the amount of the tenant allowance and depreciate
it over the shorter of the useful life of the improvements or the related lease term. If the tenant allowance represents a payment for a purpose other than funding
leasehold improvements, or in the event the Company is not considered the owner of the improvements for accounting purposes, the allowance is considered a
lease incentive and is recognized over the lease term as a reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis.

Tenant and Other Receivables

Tenant and other receivables includes unpaid amounts billed to tenants, accrued revenues for future billings to tenants for property expenses, and amounts
arising from the straight-lining of rent, as discussed above. Tenant and other receivables also includes management fees receivable for services performed for
the benefit of certain unconsolidated entities. In the event that the collectability of a management fee receivable is in doubt, a provision for uncollectible
amounts will be established or a direct write-off of the specific receivable will be made.

Management and Other Fee Income

Management and other fee income represents property management, construction, leasing and development fees for services performed for the benefit of certain
unconsolidated entities.

Property management fee income is reported at 100% of the revenue earned from such Unconsolidated Properties in management and other fee income on the
consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s share of management expenses incurred by the unconsolidated entities is reported in equity in loss of
unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations and in other expenses in the combined financial data in Note 4.

Leasing and development fees are initially reported at the portion of revenue earned attributable to outside ownership of the related unconsolidated entities. The
Company’s share in leasing and development fee income is recognized over the useful life of the associated development project, in the case of development
fees, or lease term, in the case of leasing fees, as the associated asset is depreciated over the same term and included in equity in loss of unconsolidated entities
on the consolidated statements of operations and in other expenses in the combined financial data in Note 4.

Management determined that property and asset management and construction and development management services each represent a series of stand-ready
performance obligations satisfied over time with each day of service being a distinct performance obligation. For property and asset management services, the
Company is typically compensated for its services through a monthly management fee earned based on a specified percentage of monthly rental income or
rental receipts generated from the property under management. For construction and development services, the Company is typically compensated for planning,
administering and monitoring the design and construction of projects within our unconsolidated entities based on a percentage of project costs or a fixed fee.
Revenues from such management contracts are recognized over the life of the applicable contract.

Conversely, leasing services are considered to be performance obligations, satisfied as of a point in time. The Company’s leasing fee is typically paid upon the
occurrence of certain contractual event(s) that may be contingent and the pattern of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment. For these
services, the obligations are typically satisfied at lease execution and tenant opening date, and revenue is recognized in accordance with the related agreement at
the point in time when the obligation has been satisfied.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company generally recognizes equity awards to employees as compensation expense and includes such expense within general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statements of operations. Compensation expense for equity awards is based on the grant date fair value of the awards. Compensation
expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period for awards with time-based vesting and awards with market-based vesting conditions (e.g. total
shareholder return). For awards with performance-based vesting determined by Company operating criteria, the Company recognizes compensation expense at
the date the achievement of performance criteria is deemed probable for the amount which would have been recognized ratably from the date of the grant
through
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the date the achievement of performance criteria is deemed probable, and then ratably from the date the achievement of performance criteria is deemed probable
through the remainder of the vesting period. The Company utilized a third-party valuation firm to measure the grant date fair value of restricted stock unit
awards with market-based criteria using the Monte Carlo model. All market-based awards expired on March 15, 2024. Forfeitures are recorded on an actual
basis.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of operators, tenants, or obligors related to the Company’s investments are engaged in similar business
activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations, including
those to the Company, to be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. Management believes the Company’s portfolio is reasonably diversified and
does not contain any significant concentrations of credit risk. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has one tenant that comprises 12.4% of annualized base
rent, with no other tenants exceeding 10.0% of annualized base rent. The Company’s portfolio of 10 Consolidated Properties and seven Unconsolidated
Properties was diversified by location across seven states.

Earnings per Share

The Company has three classes of common stock. The rights, including the liquidation and dividend rights, of the holders of the Company’s Class A common
shares and Class C non-voting common shares are identical, except with respect to voting. As the liquidation and dividend rights are identical, the undistributed
earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis. The net earnings (loss) per share amounts are the same for Class A and Class C common shares because the
holders of each class are legally entitled to equal per share distributions whether through dividends or in liquidation. Since August 29, 2018, all outstanding
Class C common shares had been exchanged for Class A common shares and there are currently no Class C common shares outstanding.

Class B non-economic common shares are excluded from earnings per share computations as they do not have economic rights. As of December 31, 2020, all
outstanding Class B common shares had been surrendered and there are currently no Class B common shares outstanding.

All outstanding non-vested shares that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered participating securities and are included in computing earnings
per share pursuant to the two-class method which specifies that all outstanding non-vested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to
distributions are considered participating securities and should be included in the computation of earnings per share.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic
280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”). ASU 2023-7 aims to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily
through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. ASU 2023-07 requires disclosure of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided
to the chief operating decision maker and included within the segment measure of profit or loss, an amount and description of its composition for other segment
items to reconcile segment profit or loss. The update also requires disclosure regarding the chief operating decision maker and expands the interim segment
disclosure requirements. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 and its adoption did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures that requires public companies to annually (1) disclose specific
categories in the rate reconciliation and (2) provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold (if the effect of those
reconciling items is equal to or greater than five percent of the amount computed by multiplying pretax income or loss by the applicable statutory income tax
rate). ASU 2023-09 will be effective for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company does expect that the implementation will have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.



Note 3 — Lease Intangible Assets and Liabilities

The following tables summarize the Company’s lease intangible assets (acquired in-place leases and above-market leases) and liabilities (acquired below-
market leases, which is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets), net of accumulated

amortization, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2024
Gross Accumulated
Lease Intangible Assets Asset Amortization Balance
In-place leases, net 2,858 (1,838) 1,020
Above-market leases, net 534 (507) 27
Total 3,392 (2,345) 1,047
Gross Accumulated
Lease Intangible Liabilities Liability Amortization Balance
Below-market leases, net (1,865) 785 (1,080)
Total (1,865) 785 (1,080)
December 31, 2023
Gross Accumulated
Lease Intangible Assets Asset Amortization Balance
In-place leases, net 1,541 (655) 886
Total 1,541 (655) 886
Gross Accumulated
Lease Intangible Liabilities Liability Amortization Balance
Below-market leases, net 1,304 (456) 848
Total 1,304 (456) 848

Amortization of acquired below-market leases, net of acquired above-market leases, resulted in additional rental income of $14.3 thousand and $0.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively. Amortization of an acquired below-market ground lease resulted in additional property expense of
$0.2 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Amortization of acquired in-place leases resulted in additional depreciation and
amortization expense of $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Future amortization of these lease

intangibles is set forth below (in thousands):

2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
Thereafter
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Note 4 — Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

The Company conducts a portion of its property rental activities through investments in unconsolidated entities. The Company’s partners in these
unconsolidated entities are unrelated real estate entities or commercial enterprises. The Company and its partners in these unconsolidated entities make initial
and/or ongoing capital contributions to these unconsolidated entities. The obligations to make capital contributions are governed by each unconsolidated
entity’s respective operating agreement and related governing documents.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had investments in seven unconsolidated entities as follows:

Seritage % #of Total
Unc lidated Entities Entity Partner(s) Ownership Properties GLA
GS Portfolio Holdings II LLC Brookfield Properties Retail
("GGP 1JV") (formerly GGP Inc.) 50.0% — —
GS Portfolio Holdings (2017) LLC Brookfield Properties Retail
("GGP 11 JV") (formerly GGP Inc.) 50.0% 1 93,500
SPS Portfolio Holdings II LLC
("Simon JV") Simon Property Group, Inc. 50.0% 2 165,000
Mark 302 JV LLC An investment fund managed
("Mark 302 JV") by Invesco Real Estate 50.0% 1 51,500
SIUTC LLC A separate account advised by
("UTC JV") Invesco Real Estate 50.0% 1 106,200
Tech Ridge JV Holding LLC An affiliate of
("Tech Ridge JV") RD Management 50.0% 1 —
Landmark Land Holdings, LLC The Howard Hughes Corporation and
("Landmark JV") Foulger-Pratt 31.3% 1 —
7 416,200

The final property in the GGP 1 JV was sold on December 31, 2024 and the Company received its share of proceeds the same day. The final accounting and
wind up of GGP 1JV will be completed in 2025. One property in the Simon JV was sold on December 31, 2024. The Company's share of the proceeds was
received on January 10, 2025.

In certain circumstances, when the Company has contributed properties to unconsolidated entities in exchange for equity interests in those unconsolidated
entities, the transaction price attributed to the property at the closing (the "Contribution Value") is subject to revaluation as defined in the respective
unconsolidated entity agreements, which may result in an adjustment to the gain or loss recognized. If the Contribution Value is subject to revaluation, the
Company initially recognizes the gain or loss at the value that is the expected amount within the range of possible outcomes and will re-evaluate the expected
amount on a quarterly basis through the final determination date.

Upon revaluation, the primary inputs in determining the Contribution Value will be updated for actual results and may result in a cash settlement or capital
account adjustment between the unconsolidated entity partners, as well as an adjustment to the initial gain or loss.

Each reporting period, the Company re-analyzes the primary inputs that determine the Contribution Value and the gain or loss for those unconsolidated entities
subject to a revaluation. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has one remaining instance where the Contribution Value is subject to a revaluation under
certain conditions. The Company did not recognize any gain or loss on revaluation during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Summarized Financial Information for Unconsolidated Entities

The Company has determined that for the periods presented in the Company’s financial statements, the UTC JV has met the conditions of a significant
subsidiary under Rule 4-08(g) of Regulation S-X, pursuant to which the Company is required to provide summarized financial information for this

unconsolidated entity.

The following tables presents summarized financial data for UTC JV (in thousands):

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

ASSETS
Investment in real estate
Land $ 27,992 $ 27,992
Buildings and improvements 158,229 149,625
Accumulated depreciation (11,943) (6,592)
174,278 171,025
Construction in progress 3,013 2,362
Net investment in real estate 177,291 173,387
Cash and cash equivalents 2,839 7,355
Tenant and other receivables, net 11,408 11,289
Other assets, net 893 11,927
Total assets $ 192,431 $ 203,958
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,698 18,133
Total liabilities 4,698 18,133
Members' Interest
Total members' interest 187,733 185,825
Total liabilities and members' interest $ 192,431 $ 203,958
Carrying value of Company's investments in equity investments $ 98,587 $ 97,018
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Total revenue $ 17,712 $ 15,489
Property operating expenses (3,450) (2,986)
Depreciation and amortization (6,252) (5,341)
Operating income 8,010 7,162
Other expenses 875) (1,965)
Net income $ 7,135 $ 5,197
Equity in income of unconsolidated
entities (1) $ 3,716 $ 851

(1) Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations includes basis difference adjustments.
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Summarized Financial Information for Unconsolidated Entities

The following tables present combined financial data for all of the Company’s Unconsolidated Entities, excluding UTC JV (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
ASSETS
Investment in real estate
Land $ 88,153 $ 117,439
Buildings and improvements 74,644 96,016
Accumulated depreciation (30,854) (43,070)
131,943 170,385
Construction in progress 64,212 104,866
Net investment in real estate 196,155 275,251
Cash and cash equivalents 18,164 2,795
Tenant and other receivables, net 35 6
Other assets, net 17,921 34,098
Total assets $ 232,275 $ 312,150
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 12,194 65,522
Total liabilities 12,194 65,522
Members' Interest
Total members' interest 220,081 246,628
Total liabilities and members' interest $ 232,275 $ 312,150
Carrying value of Company's investments in equity investments $ 91,112 $ 99,419

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023

Total revenue $ 1,454 $ 10,188
Property operating expenses (5,087) (6,588)
Depreciation and amortization (4,215) (12,104)
Operating loss (7,848) (8,504)
Other expenses (187) (697)
Gains (losses) and (impairments) (13,537) (154,938)
Net loss $ (21,572) $ (164,139)

Equity in loss of unconsolidated

entities (1) $ (6,870)  § (56,708)

(1) Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations includes basis difference adjustments.

The Company shares in the profits and losses of these unconsolidated entities generally in accordance with the Company’s respective equity interests. In some
instances, the Company may recognize profits and losses related to investment in an unconsolidated entity that differ from the Company’s equity interest in the
unconsolidated entity. This may arise from impairments that the Company recognizes related to its investment that differ from the impairments the
unconsolidated entity recognizes with respect to its assets, differences between the Company’s basis in assets it has transferred to the unconsolidated entity and
the unconsolidated entity’s basis in those assets or other items. The Company utilizes appraisals and third-party prepared fair value estimates as well as
negotiated offers to sell the investments for the impairment analysis. As a result of the Company’s analysis, there was no other-than-temporary impairment for
the year ended December 31, 2024 and $11.7 million was recorded against equity method investments for the year ended December 31, 2023 for agreeing to
sell its interests in unconsolidated properties for less than their carrying value. This impairment is included in the equity in loss of unconsolidated entities line in
the consolidated statements of operations.

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company sold its interest in one and eight unconsolidated properties, respectively, resulting in a gain
of $2.0 million and $6.4 million, respectively. The gain is included in gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of
operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, one underlying property was sold for a loss of $5.3 million. The Company's 50% share of this loss is
included in equity loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations. No underlying properties were sold during the year ended
December 31, 2023.



As of December 31, 2024, the Company has put rights for three assets in two of its joint ventures, however since these properties are vacant, the 50% occupancy
threshold to exercise these put rights has not been met. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company closed on the sale of four exercised put rights
and as of December 31, 2023 the sale of all exercised put rights have closed.

The Company’s partners assess impairment on its underlying assets pursuant to ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment, and recorded impairment on
unconsolidated properties of $8.3 million and $112.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. For the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, the Company's 50% share of these impairment charges, adjusted to reflect the impact of basis differences, is $0.1 million and $41.8 million,
respectively, and is included in equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations.

Unconsolidated Entity Management and Related Fees

The Company acts as the operating partner and day-to-day manager for the Mark 302 JV, the UTC JV, and Tech Ridge JV. The Company is entitled to receive
certain fees for providing management, leasing, and construction supervision services to certain of its unconsolidated entities. Refer to Note 2 for the
Company’s accounting policies. The Company earned $0.6 million and $5.8 million from these services for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Note 5 — Leases

Lessor Disclosures

Future minimum rental receipts, excluding variable payments and tenant reimbursements of expenses, under non-cancelable operating leases executed as of
December 31, 2024 is approximately as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2024

2025 $ 19,597
2026 19,872
2027 18,618
2028 16,231
2029 14,975
Thereafter 82,526

Total $ 171,819

The components of lease revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Fixed rental income $ 14,493 $ 30,457
Variable rental income 3,464 1,447
Total rental income $ 17,957 $ 31,904

Lessee Disclosures

The Company has one ground lease and one corporate office lease which are classified as operating leases. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the outstanding
amount of right of use ("ROU") assets were $11.5 million and $14.4 million, respectively, which is included in prepaid expenses, deferred expenses and other
assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the outstanding lease liabilities were $1.2 million and $5.2 million,
respectively, which is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company recorded rent expense related to leased corporate office space of $1.8 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Such rent expense is classified within general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.

On May 1, 2024, the Company exercised its early termination right provision of the corporate office lease. This reduced the lease term by 37 months, amending
the initial lease end date from August 30, 2028 to July 31, 2025. In connection with electing its termination right, the Company paid a $1.6 million termination
fee on May 1, 2024. The termination fee was recorded as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company entered into a sublease agreement to sublease a portion of its corporate office. As a result, this
triggered the need for an ROU impairment assessment and the Company determined that the ROU asset was impaired. The Company recorded impairment of
$0.8 million which is included in impairment of real estate assets on the consolidated statements of operations.

In addition, the Company recorded ground rent expense of approximately $45.0 thousand and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Such ground rent expense is classified within property operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. The ground lease requires
the Company to make fixed annual rental payments and expires in 2073 assuming all extension options are exercised.

The Company expects to make cash payments on operating leases of $0.7 million in 2025, $45.0 thousand in 2026, $45.0 thousand in 2027, $45.0 thousand in
2028, $45.0 thousand in 2029 and $2.0 million for the periods thereafter. The present value discount is $(1.7) million.

The following table sets forth information related to the measurement of our lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024:

December 31, 2024

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 18.6
Weighted average discount rate 7.68 %
Cash paid for operating leases (in thousands) $ 3,275

Note 6 — Debt
Term Loan Facility

On July 31, 2018, the Operating Partnership, as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor, entered into a Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement (the “Term
Loan Agreement”) providing for a $2.0 billion term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility””) with Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska
(“Berkshire Hathaway”) as lender and Berkshire Hathaway as administrative agent. The Term Loan Facility provided for an initial funding of $1.6 billion at
closing (the “Initial Funding”) and includes a $400 million incremental funding facility (the “Incremental Funding Facility”’) subject to certain conditions
described below. On February 2, 2023, the Company made a $230 million voluntary prepayment, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $800 million, and the
debt maturity was extended for two years to July 31, 2025. The Company made additional voluntary prepayments aggregating $440 million during the
remainder of 2023 and additional voluntary prepayments aggregating $120.0 million during 2024, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $240.0 million at
December 31, 2024.

Funded amounts under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at an annual rate of 7.0% and unfunded amounts under the Incremental Funding Facility are subject
to an annual fee of 1.0% until drawn. The Company prepays the annual fee and amortizes the expense to interest expense on the consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company’s ability to access the Incremental Funding Facility is subject to (i) the Company achieving rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, on an
annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the fiscal quarter ending prior to the date of
incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of not less than $200 million, (ii) the Company’s good faith projection that rental income from non-Sears
Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the succeeding four consecutive fiscal quarters
(beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the incremental facility is accessed) will be not less than $200 million, and (iii) the repayment by the Operating
Partnership of any deferred interest permitted under the amendment to the Term Loan Amendment as further described below. As of December 31, 2024, the
Company has not yet achieved the requirements to access the Incremental Funding Facility.

The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by the Company and, subject to certain exceptions, is required to be guaranteed by all existing and future subsidiaries of
the Operating Partnership. The Term Loan Facility is secured on a first lien basis by a pledge of the capital stock of the direct subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnership and the guarantors, including its joint venture interests, except as prohibited by the organizational documents of such entities or any joint venture
agreements applicable to such entities, and contains a requirement to provide mortgages and other customary collateral upon the breach of certain financial
metrics described below, the occurrence and continuation of an event of default and certain other conditions set forth in the Term Loan Agreement. During
2019, mortgages were recorded on a majority of the Company’s portfolio and during the year ended December 31, 2021, mortgages were recorded on the
remaining unmortgaged properties in all but two locations.

The Term Loan Facility includes certain financial metrics to govern springing collateral requirements and certain covenant exceptions set forth in the Term
Loan Agreement, including: (i) a total fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.20 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (ii) an unencumbered fixed charge
coverage ratio of not less than 1.30 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (iii) a total leverage ratio of not more than 65%; (iv) an unencumbered ratio of not more than
60%; and (v) a minimum net worth of at least $1.2 billion. Any
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failure to satisfy any of these financial metrics limits the Company’s ability to dispose of assets via sale or joint venture and triggers the springing mortgage and
collateral requirements but will not result in an event of default. The Term Loan Facility also includes certain limitations relating to, among other activities, the
Company’s ability to: sell assets or merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantially all of its assets; incur additional debt; incur certain liens; enter into,
terminate or modify certain material leases and/or the material agreements for the Company’s properties; make certain investments (including limitations on
joint ventures) and other restricted payments; pay distributions on or repurchase the Company’s capital stock; and enter into certain transactions with affiliates.

The Term Loan Facility contains customary events of default, including (subject to certain materiality thresholds and grace periods) payment default, material
inaccuracy of representations or warranties, and bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. If there is an event of default, the lenders may declare all or any portion
of the outstanding indebtedness to be immediately due and payable, exercise any rights they might have under any of the Term Loan Facility documents, and
require the Company to pay a default interest rate on overdue amounts equal to 2.0% in excess of the then applicable interest rate.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company was not in compliance with certain of the financial metrics described above. As a result, the Company was previously
required to receive the consent of Berkshire Hathaway to dispose of assets via sale or contribution to another entity and, as of June 16, 2022, Berkshire
Hathaway had provided such consent for all such transactions submitted for approval. The Third Term Loan Amendment (defined below) executed on June 16,
2022 eliminates this requirement. The Company believes it is in compliance with all other terms and conditions of the Term Loan Agreement.

The Company incurred $2.1 million of debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan Facility which were recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying
amount of the Term Loan Facility and amortized over the initial term of the Term Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2023 the Company's debt issuance
costs were fully amortized.

On May 5, 2020, the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Term Loan Amendment”) to the Term Loan Agreement
by and among the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway as initial lender and administrative agent that permits the deferral of payment of interest under
the Term Loan Agreement if, as of the first day of each applicable month, (x) the amount of unrestricted and unencumbered (other than liens created under the
Term Loan Agreement) cash on hand of the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries, minus (y) the aggregate amount of anticipated necessary expenditures for
such period (such sum, “Available Cash”) is equal to or less than $30.0 million. In such instances, for each interest period, the Operating Partnership is
obligated to make payments of interest in an amount equal to the difference between (i) Available Cash and (ii) $20.0 million (provided that such payment shall
not exceed the amount of current interest otherwise due under the Term Loan Agreement). Any deferred interest shall accrue interest at 2.0% in excess of the
then applicable interest rate and shall be due and payable on the Term Loan maturity date; provided, that the Operating Partnership is required to pay any
deferred interest from Available Cash in excess of $30.0 million (unless otherwise agreed to by the administrative agent under the Term Loan Agreement in its
sole discretion). In addition, repayment of any outstanding deferred interest is a condition to any borrowings under the $400.0 million incremental funding
facility under the Term Loan Agreement. The Company has paid all interest due under the Term Loan Agreement and has not deferred any interest as permitted
under the Term Loan Amendment.

Additionally, the Term Loan Amendment provides that the administrative agent and the lenders express their continued support for asset dispositions, subject to
the administrative agent’s right to approve the terms of individual transactions due to the occurrence of a Financial Metric Trigger Event, as such term is
defined under the Term Loan Agreement.

On November 24, 2021, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Second Term Loan Amendment”)
to the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating Partnership, the Company
and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that (i) the “make whole” provision in the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement shall not be applicable to
prepayments of principal ; and (ii) the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, as amended for (i) above, may at the Operating Partnership’s election be extended
for two years from July 31, 2023 to July 31, 2025 (the “Maturity Date”) if its principal has been reduced to $800 million by July 31, 2023. The outstanding
principal balance was reduced to $800 million on February 2, 2023, and the Maturity Date has been extended to July 31, 2025. In all other respects, the Senior
Secured Term Loan Agreement remains unchanged.

On June 16, 2022, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Third Term Loan Amendment”) to the
Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating Partnership, the Company and
Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the asset sale covenant, the parent, borrower, and their respective
subsidiaries will be permitted without the consent of the administrative agent to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of properties (including but not limited to
properties or equity interests of any subsidiary) to unaffiliated third parties for no less than fair market value, provided that the borrower deposits all net
proceeds received into a controlled account and the use of such net proceeds will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Term Loan Agreement, including
but not limited to the restricted payments and investments/loans covenants.

On November 20, 2024, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Fourth Term Loan Amendment”) to
the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway pursuant to which the Operating Partnership, the
Company and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that the Term Loan
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Agreement may, at the Operating Partnership’s election, be extended for one year from the Maturity Date to July 31, 2026 if the Operating Partnership pays a
2% extension fee on the then outstanding principal balance as of the Maturity Date.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has paid down $1.36 billion towards the Term Loan Facility’s unpaid principal balance. The aggregate principal
amount outstanding under the Term Loan Facility as of December 31, 2024 was $240.0 million.

Note 7 — Income Taxes

As a result of ongoing operations and sales activity, the Company recognized a deferred tax benefit of $29.1 million and $36.1 million during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has recorded full valuation allowances of $227.9 million and
$198.8 million, respectively, against the deferred tax asset pursuant to ASC Topic 740 - Income Taxes ("ASC 740"), as discussed in more detail below.

The Company’s effective tax rate of 0% differs from the U.S. statutory rate of 21% in 2024 and 2023 primarily due to the recognition of a valuation allowance
on its deferred tax assets.

The effective tax rate is calculated below (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Pre-tax book income (loss) $ (153,536) $ (154,911)
Tax on pre-tax book income (loss) (32,243) (32,532)
State taxes on current year income, permanent items (5,466) (7,200)
Valuation allowance 29,054 36,054
Deferred rate change 7,504 483
Other 1,151 3,195
Income tax expense $ — $ —
Effective tax rate 0% 0%

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities of $227.9 million and $198.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, consist of book to tax basis differences, net operating losses, and carryover net operating losses. As discussed below, the Company has recorded
full valuation allowances on the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The total deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
Loss carryforwards and credits $ 133,499 $ 119,720
Difference between book and tax basis of property, plant, and equipment 88,732 83,068
Straight-line rent (662) (926)
Prepaid insurance (405) (716)
Allowance for bad debts 722 441
Joint ventures 1,228 (9,568)
Accrued bonus 1,152 3,335
Stock compensation 3,424 3,192
Prepaid rent 11 —
Unearned revenue 368 531
State depreciation differences (208) (270)
Valuation allowance (227,861) (198,807)
Net deferred income tax asset $ — $ —
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Valuation allowances are recorded related to deferred tax assets based on the “more likely than not” criteria. ASC 740 states that deferred tax assets shall be
reduced by a valuation allowance if there is insufficient objectively verifiable evidence to support that it is more likely than not that they will be realized. This
evaluation requires significant judgment which should be weighted commensurate with the extent to which the evidence can be objectively verified.
Additionally, under ASC 740, forming a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed is difficult when there is negative evidence such as cumulative
losses in recent years. Given the Company’s history of cumulative losses combined with the fact that the Company’s utilization of deferred tax assets is highly
dependent on the outcome of the review of a broad range of strategic alternatives announced by its Board of Trustees and the uncertainty in timing and volume
of future property sales, we have deemed that their realization, at this time, cannot be objectively verified. The Company has therefore recorded full valuation
allowances against the Company’s deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company will evaluate this position each quarter as verifiable
positive evidence becomes available, such as the execution of asset sales, to support the future utilization of the deferred tax assets.

A summary of the Company’s valuation allowance activity is as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Balance, beginning of year $ 198,807 $ 162,753.0
Charged to costs and expenses 29,054 36,054
Balance, end of year $ 227,861 $ 198,807

Note 8 — Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value and establishes a framework for measuring fair value. The objective of fair value is to determine the
price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date
(the “exit price”). ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into three levels:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities
Level 2 - observable prices based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data
Level 3 - unobservable inputs used when little or no market data is available

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Company utilizes
valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company also
considers counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The following tables present the Company's assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as December 31, 2024 and 2023, aggregated by the level in
the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall:

Balance Fair Value Measurements Using
Description December 31, 2024 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Impaired real estate assets $ 139,462 $ - $ - $ 139,462
Balance Fair Value Measurements Using
Description December 31, 2023 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Impaired real estate assets $ 207,968 $ 6,000 $ 5,000 $ 196,968
Impaired right-of-use assets 3,020 - - 3,020
Other-than-temporary impaired investments in
unconsolidated entities 14,739 - 14,739 -

In accordance with ASC 360-10, Property, Plant and Equipment, the Company reviews the carrying value of its real estate assets at each reporting period. For
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded impairment losses of $87.5 million and $107.0 million, respectively, on real estate assets
which is included in impairment on real estate assets within the consolidated statements of operations. The $87.5 million of impairment recorded during the year
ended December 31, 2024 was primarily due to negotiations for rent relief with existing tenants at Aventura, FL that began during the second quarter of 2024,
and agreeing to sell one property below carrying value. The $107.0 million of impairment recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily the
result of increased development and construction costs and deteriorating market conditions with respect to the property at Aventura, FL which created delays in
leasing and tenant openings. Other instances of impairment were driven by deteriorating market conditions and the Company agreeing to sell a property for less
than its carrying value. We continue to evaluate our portfolio,

F-24



including our development plans and holding periods, which may result in additional impairments in future periods on our consolidated properties.

In accordance with ASC 323, Equity Method and Joint Ventures, the Company reviews the carrying value of its investments in unconsolidated entities at each
reporting period. The Company did not record any other-than-temporary impairment losses on investments in unconsolidated entities for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The Company recorded $11.7 million of other-than-temporary impairment losses as a result of agreeing to sell Unconsolidated Properties
below their carrying value for the year end December 31, 2023. This impairment is included in the equity in loss of unconsolidated entities line in the
consolidated statements of operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company estimated fair value of certain assets based on a discounted cash flow analysis using a discount rate of
11.0% and a residual capitalization rate of 6.75%. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company estimated fair value of certain assets based on a
discounted cash flow analysis using a discount rate of 6.9% to 7.5% and residual capitalization rate of 6.0%. As significant inputs to the model are
unobservable, the Company has determined that the fair values of these properties are classified within Level 3 of the fair value reporting hierarchy. The
Company estimated fair value of certain assets based on letters of intent and bids which are subject to judgment as to comparability to the valued property.
Because these inputs are derived from observable market data, we have determined that the fair values of these properties are classified within Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy. We consider fair values based upon the agreed-upon contract sales price to be classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial Assets and Liabilities not Measured at Fair Value

Financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets include cash equivalents and the Term Loan Facility. The
fair value of the Term Loan Facility is classified as Level 2. Cash equivalents and restricted cash are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. The fair
value of debt obligations is calculated by discounting the future contractual cash flows of these instruments using current risk-adjusted rates available to
borrowers with similar credit ratings. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the estimated fair values of the Company’s debt obligations were $235.7 million and
$349.5 million, respectively, which approximated the carrying value at such dates as the current risk-adjusted rate approximates the stated rates on the
Company’s debt obligations.
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Note 9 — Commitments and Contingencies

Insurance

The Company maintains general liability insurance and all-risk property and rental value, with sub-limits for certain perils such as floods and earthquakes on
each of the Company’s properties. The Company also maintains coverage for terrorism acts as defined by Terrorism Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization
Act, which expires in December 2027.

Insurance premiums are charged directly to each of the properties. The Company will be responsible for deductibles and losses in excess of insurance coverage,
which could be material. The Company continues to monitor the state of the insurance market and the scope and costs of coverage for acts of terrorism.
However, the Company cannot anticipate what coverage will be available on commercially reasonable terms in the future.

Environmental Matters

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, the Company may be considered an owner or operator of real property or may have
arranged for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances. As a result, the Company may be liable for certain costs including removal, remediation,
government fines and injuries to persons and property.

Litigation and Other Matters

In accordance with accounting standards regarding loss contingencies, the Company accrues an undiscounted liability for those contingencies where the
incurrence of a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, and the Company discloses the amount accrued and the amount of a reasonably
possible loss in excess of the amount accrued or discloses the fact that such a range of loss cannot be estimated. The Company does not record liabilities when
the likelihood that the liability has been incurred is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated, or when the liability is believed to be only
reasonably possible or remote.

On July 1, 2024, a purported shareholder of the Company filed a class action lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, captioned
Zhengxu He, Trustee of the He & Fang 2005 Revocable Living Trust v. Seritage Growth Properties, Case No. 1:24:CV:05007, alleging that the Company, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer violated the federal securities laws (the "Securities Action"). The complaint
seeks to bring a class action on behalf of all persons and entities that purchased or otherwise acquired Company securities between July 7, 2022 and May 10,
2024. The complaint alleges that the defendants violated federal securities laws by issuing false, misleading, and/or omissive disclosures concerning the
Company’s alleged lack of effective internal controls regarding the identification and review of impairment indicators for investments in real estate and the
Company’s value and projected gross proceeds of certain real estate assets. The complaint seeks compensatory damages in an unspecified amount to be proven
at trial, an award of reasonable costs and expenses to the plaintiff and class counsel, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. On
or around January 15, 2025, another purported shareholder of the Company filed a derivative lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland,
captioned Paul Sidhu v. Seritage Growth Properties, Case No. 1:25-cv-00152 (the “Sidhu Derivative Action”). On or around January 20, 2025, another
purported shareholder of the Company filed a derivative lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland, captioned James Wallen v. Seritage
Growth Properties, Case No. 1:25-cv-00190 (the “Wallen Derivative Action” and, together with the Sidhu Derivative Action, the “Derivative Actions”). The
Derivative Actions allege the same or similar claimed acts and omissions underlying the Securities Action, assert breach of fiduciary duty and other claims
against the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and current and former members of the Company’s Board of Trustees,
and name the Company as a nominal defendant. The complaint in each of the Derivative Actions seeks compensatory damages in an unspecified amount to be
proven at trial, an order directing the Company and the individual defendants to reform and improve the Company’s corporate governance and internal
procedures, restitution from the individual defendants, an award of costs and expenses to the plaintiff and reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees, costs, and
expenses, and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. On February 13, 2025, the parties to the Derivative Actions filed a stipulation
and proposed order seeking to consolidate the Derivative Actions and appoint lead counsel. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the
allegations in these lawsuits.

On March 2, 2021, the company brought a lawsuit in Delaware state court against QBE Insurance Corporation, Endurance American Insurance Company,
Allianz Global Risks US Insurance Company and Continental Casualty Company, each of which are D&O insurance providers of the Company (the “D&O
Insurers”). The Company’s lawsuit sought, among other things, declaratory relief and money damages as a result of certain of the D&O Insurers refusal to pay
certain costs and expenses related to the defense of the Litigation. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company reached settlement agreements with
two of the D&O Insurers and received gross proceeds of $12.7 million, which was recorded in interest and other income in the consolidated statements of
operations during the year ended December 31, 2022. During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company reached settlement agreements with the
other two D&O Insurers for gross proceeds of $11.6 million. The Company received $11.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, which is recorded
in interest and other income in the consolidated statements of operations.
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In addition to the litigation described above, the Company is subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course
of business and due to the current environment. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on
currently available information, that the final outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of
operations, cash flows or liquidity of the Company.

Note 10 — Related Party Disclosure

Edward S. Lampert

Edward S. Lampert is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ESL, which owns Holdco, and was Chairman of Sears Holdings. Mr. Lampert was also the
Chairman of Seritage prior to his retirement effective March 1, 2022.

On July 6, 2022, Mr. Lampert converted all of his remaining Operating Partnership Units (“OP Units”) to Class A common shares. As a result, he no longer
holds a direct interest in the Operating Partnership and he owns approximately 24.0% of the outstanding Class A shares as of December 31, 2024.

Winthrop Capital Advisors

On December 29, 2021, the Company entered into a Services Agreement with Winthrop Capital Advisors LLC to provide additional staffing to the Company.
On January 7, 2022, the Company announced that John Garilli, an employee of Winthrop, has been appointed interim chief financial officer on a full-time basis,
effective January 14, 2022. The Company pays Winthrop a monthly fee of $0.1 million and reimbursement for certain employee expenses. The Company paid
Winthrop $2.8 million and $2.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Unconsolidated Entities

Certain unconsolidated entities have engaged the Company to provide management, leasing, construction supervision and development services at the
properties owned by the unconsolidated entities. Refer to Note 2 for the Company’s significant accounting policies.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was $3.2 million and $3.0 million, respectively, in receivables from unconsolidated entities for reimbursable costs and is
included in tenant and other receivables on the consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was $0.1 million and $0.1 million,
respectively, in payables to unconsolidated entities and is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheets.

At December 31, 2024, the Company has certain put rights on three properties held by two unconsolidated entities, which may require the Company’s partner to
buy out the Company’s investment in such properties. As of December 31, 2024, the threshold to exercise these put rights had not been met. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not exercise any put rights. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company exercised its put rights on one

property.

Note 11 — Shareholders’ Equity

Class A Common Shares

As of December 31, 2024, 56,274,466 Class A common shares were issued and outstanding. Class A shares have a par value of $0.01 per share.

Class B Non-Economic Common Shares

As of December 31, 2024, there were no Class B non-economic common shares issued or outstanding.

Series A Preferred Shares
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In December 2017, the Company issued 2,800,000 7.00% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares (the “Series A Preferred Shares™) in a public
offering at $25.00 per share. The Company received net proceeds from the offering of approximately $66.4 million, after deducting payment of the
underwriting discount and offering expenses.

On and after December 14, 2022, the Company may redeem any or all of the Series A Preferred Shares at $25.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid
dividends. The Series A Preferred Shares have no stated maturity, are not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption and will remain outstanding
indefinitely unless the Company redeems or otherwise repurchases them or they are converted.

Dividends and Distributions

The Company’s Board of Trustees has not declared dividends on the Company’s Class A common shares during 2024 or 2023. The last dividend on the
Company’s Class A and C common shares that the Board of Trustees declared was on February 25, 2019, which was paid on April 11, 2019 to shareholders of
record on March 29, 2019.

Our Board of Trustees will determine future distributions following the pay down of the Term Loan Facility.

The Company’s Board of Trustees also declared the following dividends on preferred shares during 2025, 2024 and 2023:

Series A

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Preferred Share

2025

February 26 March 31 April 15 $ 0.43750
2024

October 28 December 31 January 15, 2025 $ 0.43750
July 31 September 30 October 15 0.43750
May 2 June 28 July 15 0.43750
February 29 March 29 April 15 0.43750
2023

October 30 December 29 January 16, 2024 $ 0.43750
July 25 September 29 October 13 0.43750
April 27 June 30 July 14 0.43750
February 15 March 31 April 17 0.43750

Note 12 — Earnings per Share

The table below provides a reconciliation of net loss and the number of common shares used in the computations of “basic” earnings per share (“EPS”), which
utilizes the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding without regard to dilutive potential common shares, and “diluted” EPS, which includes all
such shares. Potentially dilutive securities consist of shares of non-vested restricted stock and the redeemable non-controlling interests in the Operating
Partnership.

All outstanding non-vested shares that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered participating securities and are included in computing EPS
pursuant to the two-class method which specifies that all outstanding non-vested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to distributions
are considered participating securities and should be included in the computation of EPS.
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(in thousands except per share amounts) Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Numerator - Basic and Diluted
Net loss $ (153,536) $ (154,911)
Preferred dividends (4,900) (4,900)
Net loss attributable to common shareholders - Basic $ (158,436) $ (159,811)
Denominator - Basic and Diluted
Weighted average Class A common shares outstanding 56,255 56,151
Weighted average Class A common shares
outstanding - Basic 56,255 56,151
Weighted average Class A common shares
outstanding - Diluted 56,255 56,151
Loss per share attributable to Class A
common shareholders - Basic $ (2.82) $ (2.85)
Loss per share attributable to Class A
common shareholders - Diluted $ (2.82) $ (2.85)

No adjustments were made to the numerator for the years ended December 31, 2024 or 2023 because the Company generated a net loss. During periods of net
loss, undistributed losses are not allocated to the participating securities as they are not required to absorb losses.

No adjustments were made to the denominator for the years ended December 31, 2024 or 2023 because (i) the inclusion of outstanding non-vested restricted
shares would have had an anti-dilutive effect and (ii) including the non-controlling interest in the Operating Partnership would also require that the share of
Operating Partnership loss attributable to such interests be added back to net loss, therefore, resulting in no effect on earnings per share.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were 87,899 and 361,645 shares, respectively, of non-vested restricted shares outstanding.

Note 13 — Share-Based Compensation

On July 7, 2015, the Company adopted the Seritage Growth Properties 2015 Share Plan (the “Plan”). The number of shares of common stock reserved for
issuance under the Plan is 3,250,000. The Plan provides for grants of restricted shares, share units, other share-based awards, options, and share appreciation
rights, each as defined in the Plan (collectively, the “Awards”). Directors, officers, other employees, and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries and
affiliates are eligible for Awards.

Restricted Shares and Share Units

Pursuant to the Plan, the Company has periodically made grants of restricted shares or share units. The vesting terms of these grants are specific to the
individual grant and vary in that a portion of the restricted shares and share units vest in equal annual amounts over the subsequent three years (time-based
vesting) and a portion of the restricted shares and share units vest on the third, and in some instances, the fourth anniversary of the grants subject to the
achievement of certain performance criteria (performance-based and market-based vesting).

In general, participating employees are required to remain employed for vesting to occur (subject to certain limited exceptions). Restricted shares and share
units that do not vest are forfeited. Dividends on restricted shares and share units with time-based vesting are paid to holders of such shares and share units and
are not returnable, even if the underlying shares or share units do not ultimately vest. Dividends on restricted shares and share units with performance-based
vesting are accrued when declared and paid to holders of such shares on the third, and in some instances, the fourth anniversary of the initial grant subject to the
vesting of the underlying shares. See Note 2 for valuation information related to the grants of the awards that are subject to market-based vesting conditions.
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The following table summarizes restricted share activity for the grant periods ended December 31, 2024, and 2023:

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Year Ended December 31, 2023
Weighted- Weighted-

Average Grant Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value
Unvested restricted shares at beginning of period 361,645  $ 14.27 535,650 $ 14.31
Restricted shares vested (141,771) 13.42 (161,729) 13.63
Restricted shares forfeited (131,975) 17.18 (12,276) 24.22
Unvested restricted shares at end of period 87,899 8§ 1131 361,645 8 14.27

The Company recognized $1.5 million and $2.7 million in share-based compensation expense related to the restricted shares for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively. Compensation expenses related to the restricted shares are included in general and administrative expenses on the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2024, there were approximately $0.2 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to the outstanding restricted shares which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 0.2 years. As of December 31, 2023, there were $1.7 million of total unrecognized
compensation costs related to the outstanding restricted shares which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.0 years.

In light of the actions taken by the Board of Trustees to commence a process to review a broad range of

strategic alternatives, on March 9, 2022, the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) approved certain modifications to the
Company’s existing performance-based compensation programs to reflect the Company’s current focus on this strategic process and approved retention
incentives to employees whose efforts will be critical to the execution of the strategic review process in the coming months.

These actions include: (i) amending the Company’s 2021 annual equity award program, pursuant to which grants are scheduled to be made in 2022 to be
comprised entirely of time-based restricted stock units (rather than a mix of time-based and performance-based restricted stock units), which will vest ratably
over a period of 3 years, subject to acceleration provisions in the event of certain termination of employment events; (ii) amending the Company’s annual cash
bonus program to provide that annual cash bonuses for the 2022 performance year will be paid to employees who are eligible to receive a bonus in an amount
equal to each individual’s target annual cash bonus incentive; and (iii) amending the Company’s 2022 and future annual equity award programs to provide for
awards that would be scheduled to be granted in 2023 and subsequent years to be comprised of cash awards, in lieu of any further equity awards, with the cash
awards to be in an amount equal to the eligible individual’s annual target equity award value and, unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee
at the time of grant, subject to the vesting conditions applicable to the 2021 annual equity award program above. No previously granted awards were modified
during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Note 14 — Segment Reporting

The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment which includes the ownership, development, redevelopment, management, sale and leasing of
real estate properties. Substantially all of our revenues are derived from contractual rents and tenant expense reimbursements as outlined within lease
agreements. The Company’s CODM, who is our chief executive officer, assesses and measures the operating and financial results on an aggregated basis and
does not allocate resources or make decisions distinguishing between individual properties, geographies, sizes, or types. All revenue has been generated and all
tangible assets are held in the United States.

The Company’s CODM regularly reviews the operating results of the Company to determine how to best allocate resources. The Company’s measure of
segment profitability is consolidated net loss. The CODM uses consolidated net loss when deciding whether to market a property for sale, make an investment
in a property to improve its marketability, or reduce general and administrative expenses. Consolidated net loss is also used to monitor budgeted versus actual
results. The measure of segment assets is reported on the consolidated balance sheets as Total assets.

The table below reconciles total segment revenues to consolidated net loss and includes the significant segment expenses regularly provided to and reviewed by
the CODM as part of their decision making process (in thousands):
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Total revenue
Real estate taxes
Abandoned property

Common area maintenance

Property insurance
Personnel expenses
Interest expense

1)

Other segment items

Net loss

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023

$ 17,622 $ 20,779
(3,935) (6,128)

(5.732) -
(9,302) (14,747)
(5,354) (3,839)
(17,163) (28,189)
(24,972) (44,571)
(103,116) (78,178)
$ (151,952) $ (154,873)

(1) Personnel expenses include expenses related to employee base compensation, bonuses, cash payments in lieu of equity, share based compensation and third-

party consulting fees.

(2) Other segment items include expenses included in the measure of segment loss that are not considered significant. Items that are not considered significant
include the following: property utilities, audit and tax fees, office expenses, trustee fees, information and technology costs, legal fees, corporate insurance and
other miscellaneous expenses. Other items also include the following: depreciation and amortization, gain on sale of real estate, gain on sale of interests in
unconsolidated entities, impairment of real estate assets and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities, interest and other income, net and provision for income

taxes.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
SCHEDULE III—REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
DECEMBER 31, 2024
(Dollars in thousands)

Subsequent to Acquisition

Acquisition Costs 1) at Close of Period (2) Life Upon Which
Buildings Buildings Buildings Accumulate
and and and Date Depreciation
Improveme Improveme Improveme Depreciatio
City State E brances Land nts Land nts Land nts Total n Acquired is Computed
Riverside CA @) 1,054 494 — 194 1,054 688 1,742 (163)  July, 2015 3)
Riverside CA “) 3,343 2,778 — 3,128 3,343 5,906 9,249 914) July, 2015 3)
Boca Raton FL ) 16,089 7,480 — (514) 16,089 6,966 23,055 (2,134)  July,2015 3)
Clearwater/Cntrysd FL “) 5,852 17,777 — 1,605 5,852 19,382 25,234 (6,291) July, 2015 3)
Miami FL 4) 13,264 61,577 (8,757) 83,141 4,507 144,718 149,225 (10,747) July, 2015 3)
Panama City FL ) 3,227 1,614 — (53) 3,227 1,561 4,788 (1,153)  July, 2015 3)
Braintree MA “) 6,585 5,614 — 14,969 6,585 20,583 27,168 (5,271) July, 2015 3)
King of Prussia PA ) — 42,300 — 1,496 - 43,796 43,796 (12,450)  July, 2015 3)
Valley View TX “) 4,706 3,230 — 41,451 4,706 44,681 49,387 - July, 2015 3)
Redmond-Overlake
Pk WA @) 5,133 4,133 14,513 41,151 19,646 45,284 64,930 (817)  July, 2015 3)
$ 59253 § 146997 $ 5756 $ 186568 S 65009 § 333565 $ 398574 $  (39.940)
(1) Includes reductions related to partial site sales and impairment of long-lived assets.
2) The aggregate cost of land, buildings and improvements for U.S. federal income tax purposes is approximately $686 million (unaudited).
3) Depreciation is computed based on the following estimated useful lives:
Building: 25 — 40 years
Site improvements: 5— 15 years

Tenant improvements:

shorter of the estimated useful life or non-cancelable term of lease
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Balance at beginning of year
Additions

Impairments

Dispositions

Write-offs

Balance at end of year

Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation expense
Dispositions

Write-offs

Balance at end of year

SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
NOTES TO SCHEDULE 111
(Dollars in thousands)

Reconciliation of Real Estate

2024 2023
$ 627,950 1,341,849
24,688 59,182
(87,536) (107,043)
(159,373) (663,089)
(7,155) (2,949)
$ 398,574 627,950
Reconciliation of Accumulated Depreciation
2024 2023
$ 43,634 124,131
11,777 13,020
(15,471) (89,815)
— (3,702)
$ 39,940 43,634
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INTRODUCTION

As described in more detail in this Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) below, insider trading generally occur when a person purchases,
sells, transfers or otherwise trades a company’s securities while aware of material non-public information or discloses material nonpublic
information to others who then trade the company’s securities. Seritage Growth Properties (together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries, the
“Company") opposes the unauthorized disclosure of any nonpublic information acquired in the course of your service with the Company and the
misuse of material nonpublic information in securities trading. You are required to read and understand this Policy which, in a number of
respects, contains prohibitions that are broader in scope than the insider trading laws. Any violation of law or this Policy may lead to severe
sanctions by the Company as well as the Government.

Legal prohibitions on insider trading

The antifraud provisions of U.S. federal securities laws prohibit trustees, officers, employees and other individuals who possess material
nonpublic information from trading on the basis of that information. Transactions will be considered “on the basis of” material nonpublic
information if the person engaged in the transaction was aware of the material nonpublic information at the time of the transaction. It is not a
defense that the person did not “use” the information for purposes of the transaction.

Disclosing material nonpublic information directly or indirectly to others or making recommendations or expressing opinions as to
transactions in securities while aware of material nonpublic information (which is sometime referred to as “tipping”) is also illegal. Both the
person who provides the information, recommendation or opinion and the person who trades based on it may be liable.

These illegal activities are commonly referred to as “insider trading’. State securities laws and securities laws of other jurisdictions also
impose restrictions on insider trading.

In addition, a company, as well as individual trustees, officers and other supervisory personnel, may be subject to liability as “controlling
persons” for failure to take appropriate steps to prevent insider trading by those under their supervision, influence or control. The Insider
Trading and Securities Fraud Enforcement Act of 1988, for example, mandates that “[e]very person who, directly or indirectly, controls any
person liable [for insider trading] shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person...unless the
controlling person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action.”

Detection and prosecution of insider trading

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC"), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") and the stock exchanges
use sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to investigate and detect insider trading, and the SEC and the U.S. Department of Justice
pursue insider trading violations vigorously. Cases involving trading through foreign accounts, trading by family members and friends and trading
involving only a small number of shares have been successfully prosecuted.

Penalties for violation of insider trading laws and this Policy

Civil and criminal penalties. As of the effective date of this Policy, potential penalties for insider trading violations under U.S. federal
securities laws include:

o damages in a private lawsuit;
o disgorging any profits made or losses avoided;
. imprisonment for up to 20 years;



o criminal fines of up to $5 million for individuals and $25 million for entities;

o civil fines of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided;
o a bar against serving as an officer or director of a public company; and
) an injunction against future violations.

Civil and criminal penalties also apply to tipping. The SEC has imposed large penalties in tipping cases even when the disclosing person did
not trade or gain any benefit from another person’s trading.

Controlling person liability. U.S. Securities laws mandates that “[e]very person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable [for
insider trading] shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person...unless the controlling person
acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action.” As of the effective date of
this Policy, the penalty for “controlling person” liability is a civil fine of up to the greater of $1.275 million or three times the profit gained or loss
avoided as a result of the insider trading violations, as well as potential criminal fines and imprisonment.

Company disciplinary actions. If the Company has a reasonable basis to conclude that you have failed to comply with this Policy, you may
be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including termination of your employment, regardless of whether or not your failure
to comply with this Policy results in a violation of law. It is not necessary for the Company to wait for the filing or conclusion of any civil or
criminal action against an alleged violator before taking disciplinary action. In addition, the Company may give stop transfer and other
instructions to the Company’s transfer agent to enforce compliance with this Policy.

Reporting violations

It is your responsibility to help enforce this Policy. The General Counsel and Legal Department are generally responsible for the
administration of this Policy. You should be alert to possible violations and promptly report violations or suspected violations of this Policy to the
General Counsel at (646) 876-7302 or mfernand@seritage.com or at Seritage Growth Properties, 489 Fifth Avenue, 18" Floor, New York, New
York 10017, ATTENTION: General Counsel. If your situation requires that your identity be kept secret, your anonymity will be preserved to the
greatest extent reasonably possible, or otherwise permitted by law. If you wish to remain anonymous, send a letter addressed to the General
Counsel at Seritage Growth Properties, 489 Fifth Avenue, 18" Floor, New York, New York 10017, ATTENTION: General Counsel or the Audit
Committee of the Board of Trustees at Seritage Growth Properties, 489 Fifth Avenue, 18™ Floor, New York, New York 10017, ATTENTION: Audit
Committee or contact the anonymous Insider Trading Hotline at (877) 282-9060. If you make an anonymous report, please provide as much
detail as possible, including any evidence that you believe may be relevant to the issue.

Personal responsibility
The ultimate responsibility for complying with this Policy and applicable laws and regulations rests with you. You should use your best

judgment at all times and consult with your legal and financial advisors, as needed. We advise you to seek assistance if you have any questions
at all. The rules relating to insider trading can be complex, and a violation of insider trading laws can carry severe consequences.



PERSONS AND TRANSACTIONS COVERED BY THIS POLICY

Persons covered by this Policy

This Policy applies to all trustees, officers, employees and agents (such as consultants and independent contractors) of the Company.
References in this Policy to “you” (as well as general references to trustees, officers, employees and agents of the Company) should also be
understood to include members of your immediate family, persons with whom you share a household, persons that are your economic
dependents and any other individuals or entities whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control (including, for example, a
venture or other investment fund, if you influence, direct or control transactions by the fund). You are responsible for making sure that these
other individuals and entities comply with this Policy.

Types of transactions covered by this Policy

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions”, this Policy applies to all transactions involving the securities of the
Company or the securities of other companies as to which you possess material nonpublic information obtained in the course of your service with
the Company. This Policy therefore applies to purchases, sales and other transfers of common stock, options, warrants, preferred stock, debt
securities (such as debentures, bonds and notes) and other securities (including distributions of securities by a venture or other investment fund
to its constituent equity holders). This Policy also applies to any arrangements that affect economic exposure to changes in the prices of these
securities. These arrangements may include, among other things, transactions in derivative securities (such as exchange-traded put or call
options), hedging transactions, short sales and certain decisions with respect to participation in benefit plans. In addition, this Policy applies to
pledging securities as collateral for loans. This Policy also applies to any offers with respect to the transactions discussed above. You should note
that there are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction.

Responsibilities regarding the nonpublic information of other companies

This Policy prohibits the unauthorized disclosure or other misuse of any nonpublic information of other companies, such as the Company’s
distributors, vendors, customers, collaborators, suppliers and competitors. This Policy also prohibits insider trading and tipping based on the
material nonpublic information of other companies.

Applicability of this Policy after your departure

You are expected to comply with this Policy until such time as you are no longer affiliated with the Company and you no longer possess any
material nonpublic information subject to this Policy. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this Policy at the time you cease
to be affiliated with the Company, you are expected to abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout
period.

No exceptions based on personal circumstances

There may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction
because of the restrictions imposed by this Policy. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under
the securities laws and will not excuse a failure to comply with this Policy.



MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION

“Material” information

Information should be regarded as material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in
deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities or would view the information as significantly altering the total mix of information in the
marketplace about the issuer of the security. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of a
security is likely to be material. Either positive or negative information may be material.

It is not possible to define all categories of “material” information. However, some examples of information that could be regarded as
material include information with respect to:

Financial results, financial condition, earnings pre-announcements, guidance, projections or forecasts, particularly if
inconsistent with the Company’s guidance or the expectations of the investment community;

Restatements of financial results, or material impairments, write-offs or restructurings;

Changes in independent auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report;

Business plans or budgets;

Creation of significant financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation;
Impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems;

Significant developments involving business relationships, including execution, modification or termination of significant
agreements or orders with customers, suppliers, distributors, manufacturers or other business partners;

Product introductions, modifications, defects or recalls or significant pricing changes or other product announcements of
a significant nature;

Significant developments in research and development or relating to intellectual property;
Significant legal or regulatory developments, whether actual or threatened;

Major events involving the Company’s securities, including calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock
repurchase programs, option repricings, stock splits, changes in dividend policies, public or private securities offerings,
imminent distribution of venture investors’ holdings to limited partners, modification to the rights of security holders or notice
of delisting;

Significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed merger, joint venture or tender offer, a significant
investment, the acquisition or disposition of a significant business or asset or a change in control of the Company;

The existence of a special blackout period; and

Major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or lay-offs.

If you have any questions as to whether information should be considered “material”, you should consult with the General Counsel. In
general, it is advisable to resolve any close questions as to the materiality of any information by assuming that the information is material.



“Nonpublic” information

Information is considered nonpublic if the information has not been broadly disseminated to the public for a sufficient period to be reflected
in the price of the security. As a general rule, information should be considered nonpublic until the start of the second full trading day after the
information is broadly disseminated to the public in a press release, a public filing with the SEC, a pre-announced public webcast or another
broad, non-exclusionary form of public communication. However, depending upon the form of the announcement and the nature of the
information, it is possible that information may not be fully absorbed by the marketplace until a later time. Any questions as to whether
information is nonpublic should be directed to the General Counsel.

The term “trading day’ means a day on which national stock exchanges and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated
Quotation System are open for trading. A “full’ trading day has elapsed when, after the public disclosure, trading in the relevant security has
opened and then closed.

For example, in general, if the Company issues its earnings release on a Wednesday afternoon, then Thursday would be the next full
trading day, and you would not be able to trade in the Company’s securities until that Friday.



POLICIES REGARDING MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
Confidentiality of nonpublic information

The unauthorized use or disclosure of nonpublic information relating to the Company or other companies is prohibited. All nonpublic
information you acquire in the course of your service with the Company may only be used for legitimate Company business purposes. In
addition, nonpublic information of others should be handled in accordance with the terms of any relevant nondisclosure agreements, and the use
of any such nonpublic information should be limited to the purpose for which it was disclosed.

You must use all reasonable efforts to safeguard nonpublic information in the Company’s possession. You may not disclose nonpublic
information about the Company or any other company, unless required by law, or unless (i) disclosure is required for legitimate Company
business purposes, (ii) you are authorized to disclose the information and (iii) appropriate steps have been taken to prevent misuse of that
information (including entering an appropriate nondisclosure agreement that restricts the disclosure and use of the information, if applicable).
This restriction also applies to internal communications within the Company and to communications with agents of the Company. In cases where
disclosing nonpublic information to third parties is required, you should coordinate with the Legal Department.

No trading on material nonpublic information

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions” below, you may not, directly or indirectly through others, engage in any
transaction involving the Company’s securities while aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company. It is not an excuse that
you did not “use” the information in your transaction.

Similarly, you may not engage in transactions involving the securities of any other company if you are aware of material nonpublic
information about that company (except to the extent the transactions are analogous to those presented in the section entitled “Limited
Exceptions”). For example, you may be involved in a proposed transaction involving a prospective business relationship or transaction with
another company. If information about that transaction constitutes material nonpublic information for that other company, you would be
prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the securities of that other company (as well as transactions involving Company securities, if
that information is material to the Company). It is important to note that “materiality” is different for different companies. Information that is not
material to the Company may be material to another company. You should note that the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
prohibits you from acquiring financial investments in other companies if your ownership would constitute a conflict of interests.

No disclosing material nonpublic information for the benefit of others

You may not disclose material nonpublic information concerning the Company or any other company to friends, family members or any
other person or entity not authorized to receive such information where such person or entity may benefit by trading on the basis of such
information. In addition, you may not make recommendations or express opinions on the basis of material nonpublic information as to trading in
the securities of companies to which such information relates. You are prohibited from engaging in these actions whether or not you derive any
profit or personal benefit from doing so. This prohibition against disclosure of material nonpublic information includes disclosure (even
anonymous disclosure) via the internet, blogs, investor forums or chat rooms where companies and their prospects are discussed

Obligation to disclose material nonpublic information to the Company

You may not enter into any transaction, including those discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions”, unless you have disclosed
any material nonpublic information that you become aware of in



the course of your service with the Company, and that senior management is not aware of, to the General Counsel. If you are a member of
senior management, the information must be disclosed to the Chief Executive Officer, and if you are the Chief Executive Officer or a trustee, you
must disclose the information to the board of trustees, before any transaction is permissible.

Responding to outside inquiries for information

In the event you receive an inquiry from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, for information, you should refer the
inquiry to the Chief Financial Officer. The Company is required under Regulation FD (Fair Disclosure) of the U.S. federal securities laws to avoid
the selective disclosure of material nonpublic information. In general, the regulation provides that when a public company discloses material
nonpublic information, it must provide broad, non-exclusionary access to the information. Violations of this regulation can subject the company
to SEC enforcement actions, which may result in injunctions and severe monetary penalties. The Company has established procedures for
releasing material information in a manner that is designed to achieve broad public dissemination of the information immediately upon its release
in compliance with applicable law. Please consult the Company’s External Communications Policy for more details.



TRADING BLACKOUT PERIODS

To limit the likelihood of trading at times when there is a significant risk of insider trading exposure, the Company has instituted quarterly
trading blackout periods and may institute special trading blackout periods from time to time. In addition, to comply with applicable legal
requirements, the Company may also institute blackout periods that prevent trustees and officers from trading in Company securities at a time
when employees are prevented from trading Company securities in the Company’s 401(k) plan.

It is important to note that whether or not you are subject to blackout periods, you remain subject to the prohibitions on trading on the
basis of material nonpublic information and any other applicable restrictions in this Policy.

Quarterly blackout periods

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions”, trustees, executive officers and other employees and agents identified
by the Company must refrain from conducting transactions involving the Company’s securities during quarterly blackout periods. Even if you are
not specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should exercise caution when engaging in transactions during
quarterly blackout periods because of the heightened risk of insider trading exposure.

Quarterly blackout periods begin at the start of the first trading day following the end of each fiscal quarter and end at the start of the
second full trading day following the date of public disclosure of the financial results for that fiscal quarter. This period is a particularly sensitive
time for transactions involving the Company’s securities from the perspective of compliance with applicable securities laws due to the fact that,
during this period, individuals may often possess or have access to material nonpublic information relevant to the expected financial results for
the quarter.

Individuals subject to quarterly blackout periods are listed on Schedule I. From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who
should be subject to quarterly blackout periods, and the General Counsel may update and revise Schedule I as appropriate.

Special blackout periods

From time to time, the Company may also prohibit trustees, officers, employees and agents from engaging in transactions involving the
Company’s securities when, in the judgment of the General Counsel, a trading blackout is warranted. The Company will generally impose special
blackout periods when there are material developments known to the Company that have not yet been disclosed to the public. For example, the
Company may impose a special blackout period in anticipation of announcing interim earnings guidance or a significant transaction or business
development. However, special blackout periods may be declared for any reason.

The Company will notify those persons subject to a special blackout period. Each person who has been so identified and notified by the
Company may not engage in any transaction involving the Company’s securities until instructed otherwise by the General Counsel, nor may the
person disclose to other persons that he, she or it is subject to a special blackout period or is otherwise restricted from trading in the Company’s
securities.

Regulation BTR blackouts
Trustees and executive officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction, or Regulation

BTR, under U.S. federal securities laws. In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any trustee or executive officer from engaging in certain
transactions involving Company securities during periods when 401(k) plan participants are prevented from purchasing, selling or otherwise



acquiring or transferring an interest in certain securities held in individual account plans. Any profits realized from a transaction that violates
Regulation BTR are recoverable by the Company, regardless of the intentions of the trustee or officer effecting the transaction. In addition,
individuals who engage in such transactions are subject to sanction by the SEC as well as potential criminal liability. The Company has provided,
or will provide, separate memoranda and other appropriate materials to its trustees and executive officers regarding compliance with Regulation
BTR.

The Company will notify trustees and officers if they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR. Failure to comply
with an applicable trading blackout in accordance with Regulation BTR is a violation of law and this Policy.

No “safe harbors”

There are no unconditional “safe harbors” for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should exercise good
judgment at all times. Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the
Company’s securities because you possess material nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted
under this Policy.



PRE-CLEARANCE OF TRADES

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions”, trustees and executive officers should refrain from engaging in any
transaction involving the Company’s securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the General Counsel. In addition, the
Company has determined that certain other employees and agents of the Company that may have regular or special access to material nonpublic
information should refrain from engaging in any transaction involving the Company’s securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the
transaction from the General Counsel. The General Counsel may not engage in a transaction involving the Company’s securities unless the Chief
Financial Officer has pre-cleared the transaction. Individuals subject to pre-clearance requirements are listed on Schedule II. From time to
time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to the pre-clearance requirements set forth above, and the General
Counsel may update and revise Schedule II as appropriate.

These pre-clearance procedures are intended to decrease insider trading risks associated with transactions by individuals with regular or
special access to material nonpublic information. In addition, requiring pre-clearance of transactions by trustees and officers facilitates
compliance with Rule 144 resale restrictions under the Securities Act, the liability and reporting provisions of Section 16 under the Exchange Act
and Regulation BTR. Pre-clearance of a trade, however, is not a defense to a claim of insider trading and does not excuse you from otherwise
complying with insider trading laws or this Policy. Further, pre-clearance of a transaction does not constitute an affirmation by the Company or
the Compliance Officer that you are not in possession of material nonpublic information.

The General Counsel is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the
transaction.
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ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS AND GUIDANCE

This section addresses certain types of transactions that may expose you and the Company to significant risks. You should understand that,
even though a transaction may not be expressly prohibited by this section, you are responsible for ensuring that the transaction otherwise
complies with other provisions in this Policy that may apply to the transaction, such as the general prohibition against insider trading as well as
pre-clearance procedures and blackout periods, to the extent applicable.

Short sales

Short sales (i.e., the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) and “selling short against the box” (i.e., a sale with a
delayed delivery) with respect to Company securities are prohibited under this Policy. Short sales may signal to the market possible bad news
about the Company or a general lack of confidence in the Company’s prospects, and an expectation that the value of the Company’s securities
will decline. In addition, short sales are effectively a bet against the Company’s success and may reduce the seller’s incentive to improve the
Company’s performance. Short sales may also create a suspicion that the seller is engaged in insider trading.

Derivative securities and hedging transactions

If you are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act or the blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements under
this Policy (i.e., if you are listed on Schedule I, II or III), you are prohibited from engaging in transactions in publicly-traded options, such as
puts and calls, and other derivative securities with respect to the Company’s securities. This prohibition extends to any hedging or similar
transaction designed to decrease the risks associated with holding Company securities. Stock options, stock appreciation rights and other
securities issued pursuant to Company benefit plans, including exercises thereof and purchases of the underlying shares, or other compensatory
arrangements with the Company are not subject to this prohibition.

Even if you are not prohibited from engaging in derivatives transactions, you should exercise caution when doing so. Transactions in
derivative securities may reflect a short-term and speculative interest in the Company’s securities and may create the appearance of impropriety,
even where a transaction does not involve trading on inside information. Trading in derivatives may also focus attention on short-term
performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. In addition, the application of securities laws to derivatives transactions can
be complex, and persons engaging in derivatives transactions run an increased risk of violating securities laws if not careful.

Using Company securities as collateral for loans

If you are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act or the blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements under
this Policy (i.e., if you are listed on Schedule I, II or III), you may not pledge Company securities as collateral for loans. If you default on the
loan, the lender may sell the pledged securities as collateral in a foreclosure sale. The sale, even though not initiated at your request, is still
considered a sale for your benefit and, if made at a time when you are aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to
trade in Company securities, may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 and Reg. BTR violations (for officers and trustees),
violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity for you and the Company. For these same reasons, even if you are not prohibited from pledging
Company securities as collateral for loans, you should exercise caution when doing so.

Holding Company securities in margin accounts
If you are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act or the blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements under

this Policy (i.e., if you are listed on Schedule I, II or III), you may
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not hold Company securities in margin accounts. Under typical margin arrangements, if you fail to meet a margin call, the broker may be entitled
to sell securities held in the margin account without your consent. The sale, even though not initiated at your request, is still considered a sale
for your benefit and, if made at a time when you are aware of material nonpublic information or are otherwise not permitted to trade, may result
in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 and Reg. BTR violations (for officers and trustees), violations of this Policy and unfavorable
publicity for you and the Company. For these same reasons, even if you are not prohibited from holding Company securities in margin accounts,
you should exercise caution when doing so.

Placing open orders with brokers

Except in accordance with an approved trading plan (as discussed below), you should exercise caution when placing open orders, such as
limit orders or stop orders, with brokers, particularly where the order is likely to remain outstanding for an extended period of time. Open orders
may result in the execution of a trade at a time when you are aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in
Company securities, which may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 and Reg. BTR violations (for officers and trustees),
violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity for you and the Company. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements,
you should so inform any broker with whom you place any open order at the time it is placed.
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LIMITED EXCEPTIONS

The following are certain limited exceptions to the restrictions imposed by the Company under this Policy. Please be aware that even if a
transaction is subject to an exception to this Policy, you will need to separately assess whether the transaction complies with applicable law. For
example, even if a transaction is indicated as exempt from this Policy, you may need to comply with the “short-swing” trading restrictions under
Section 16 of the Exchange Act, to the extent applicable. You are responsible for complying with applicable law at all times.

Transactions pursuant to a trading plan that complies with SEC rules

The SEC has enacted rules that provide an affirmative defense against alleged violations of U.S. federal insider trading laws for transactions
pursuant to trading plans that meet certain requirements. In general, these rules, as set forth in Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act,
provide for an affirmative defense if you enter into a contract, provide instructions or adopt a written plan for trading securities when you are not
aware of material nonpublic information. The contract, instructions or plan must (i) specify the amount, price and date of the transaction, (i)
specify an objective method for determining the amount, price and date of the transaction and/or (iii) place any subsequent discretion for
determining the amount, price and date of the transaction in another person who is not, at the time of the transaction, aware of material
nonpublic information.

Transactions made pursuant to a written trading plan that (i) complies with the affirmative defense set forth in Rule 10b5-1 and (ii) is
approved by the General Counsel, are not subject to the restrictions in this Policy against trades made while aware of material nonpublic
information or to the pre-clearance procedures or blackout periods established under this Policy. In approving a trading plan, the General
Counsel may, in furtherance of the objectives expressed in this Policy, impose criteria in addition to those set forth in Rule 10b5-1. You should
therefore confer with the General Counsel prior to entering into any trading plan.

The SEC rules regarding trading plans are complex and must be complied with completely to be effective. The description provided above is
only a summary, and the Company strongly advises that you consult with your legal advisor if you intend to adopt a trading plan. While trading
plans are subject to review and approval by the Company, the individual adopting the trading plan is ultimately responsible for compliance with
Rule 10b5-1 and ensuring that the trading plan complies with this Policy.

Trading plans must be filed with the General Counsel and must be accompanied with an executed certificate stating that the trading plan
complies with Rule 10b5-1 and any other criteria established by the Company. The Company may publicly disclose information regarding trading
plans that you may enter.

Receipt and vesting of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock and stock appreciation rights
The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the grant or award to you of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted

stock or stock appreciation rights by the Company. The trading restrictions under this Policy also do not apply to the vesting, cancellation or
forfeiture of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock or stock appreciation rights in accordance with applicable plans and
agreements. However, the trading restrictions do apply to any subsequent sales of any such securities, except as specifically provided below
under the heading “Sale of Shares to Cover Tax Withholdings.”
Sale of Shares to Cover Tax Withholdings

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the sale of shares of common stock issued upon vesting of restricted stock units
for the limited purpose of covering tax withholding obligations (and
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any associated broker or other fees), provided that, prior to such sale, you irrevocably elect to sell such shares to cover tax withholding
obligations in @ manner approved by the General Counsel.

Exercise of stock options for cash

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock options for cash under the Company’s stock option plans.
Likewise, the trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock options in a stock-for-stock exercise with the Company or
an election to have the Company withhold securities to cover tax obligations in connection with an option exercise. However, the trading
restrictions under this Policy do apply to (i) the sale of any securities issued upon the exercise of a stock option, (ii) a cashless exercise of a stock
option through a broker, since this involves selling a portion of the underlying shares to cover the costs of exercise, and (iii) any other market
sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option.
Certain 401(k) plan transactions

The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to purchases of Company stock in the 401(k) plan resulting from periodic contributions to
the plan based on your payroll contribution election. The trading restrictions do apply, however, to elections you make under the 401(k) plan to
(i) increase or decrease the percentage of your contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock fund, (ii) move balances into or out of a
Company stock fund, (iii) borrow money against your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in liquidation of some or all of your Company
stock fund balance, and (iv) pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in the allocation of loan proceeds to a Company stock fund.
Stock splits, stock dividends and similar transactions

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to a change in the number of securities held as a result of a stock split or stock
dividend applying equally to all securities of a class, or similar transactions.

Bona fide gifts and inheritance

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to bona fide gifts involving Company securities or transfers by will or the laws of
descent and distribution.

Change in form of ownership

Transactions that involve merely a change in the form in which you own securities are not subject to the trading restrictions under this
Policy. For example, you may transfer shares to an inter vivos trust of which you are the sole beneficiary during your lifetime.

Other exceptions
Any other exception from this Policy must be approved by the General Counsel, in consultation with the Board of Trustees or an

independent committee of the Board of Trustees.
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COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
Obligations under Section 16

Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the related rules and regulations, set forth (i) reporting obligations, (ii) limitations on
“short-swing” transactions and (iii) limitations on short sales and other transactions applicable to trustees, officers, large shareholders and
certain other persons. The Company has provided, or will provide, memoranda and other materials addressing these matters.

The Board of Trustees of the Company has determined that those persons listed on Schedule III are required to comply with Section 16 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the related rules and regulations, because of their positions with the Company. The General Counsel
may amend Schedule III from time to time as appropriate to reflect the election of new officers or trustees, any change in the responsibilities
of officers or other employees and any promotions, demotions, resignations or departures.

Schedule III is not necessarily an exhaustive list of persons subject to Section 16 requirements at any given time. Even if you are not
listed on Schedule III, you may be subject to Section 16 reporting obligations because of your shareholdings, for example.

Notification requirements to facilitate Section 16 reporting

To facilitate timely reporting of transactions pursuant to Section 16 requirements, each person subject to Section 16 reporting requirements
must provide, or must ensure that his or her broker provides, the Company with detailed information (e.g., trade date, humber of shares, exact
price, etc.) regarding his or her transactions involving the Company’s securities, including gifts, transfers, pledges and transactions pursuant to a
trading plan, both prior to (to confirm compliance with pre-clearance procedures, if applicable) and promptly following execution.
Personal responsibility

The obligation to file Section 16 reports, and to otherwise comply with Section 16, is personal. The Company is not responsible for the

failure to comply with Section 16 requirements.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Availability of Policy

This Policy will be made available to all trustees, officers, employees and agents of the Company when they commence service with the
Company. In addition, this Policy (or a summary of this Policy) will be circulated periodically. Each trustee, officer, employee and agent of the
Company is required to acknowledge that he or she understands, and agrees to comply with, this Policy.

Amendments

We are committed to continuously reviewing and updating our policies and procedures. The Company therefore reserves the right to
amend, alter or terminate this Policy at any time and for any reason, subject to applicable law. A current copy of the Company’s policies
regarding insider trading may be obtained by contacting the General Counsel.

* * *

Nothing in this Insider Trading Policy creates or implies an employment contract or term of employment. Employment at the Company is
employment at-will. Employment at-will may be terminated with or without cause and with or without notice at any time by the employee or the
Company. Nothing in this Insider Trading Policy shall limit the right to terminate employment at-will. No employee of the Company has any
authority to enter into any agreement for employment for a specified period of time or to make any agreement or representation contrary to the
Company’s policy of employment at-will. Only the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has the authority to make any such agreement, which
must be in writing.

The policies in this Insider Trading Policy do not constitute a complete list of Company policies or a complete list of the types of conduct
that can result in discipline, up to and including discharge.
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SCHEDULE 1

INDIVIDUALS SUBJECT TO
QUARTERLY BLACKOUT PERIODS

All Members of the Board of Trustees

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

All other executive officers of the Company (i.e. the officers of the Company designated as Section 16 officers by the Board of
Trustees)

All other employees, consultants and independent contractors

Others who are designated by the executive officers of the Company or by the Board of Trustees from time to time



SCHEDULE II

INDIVIDUALS SUBJECT TO
PRE-CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS

All Members of the Board of Trustees

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

All other executive officers of the Company (i.e. the officers of the Company designated as Section 16 officers by the Board of
Trustees)

The team members serving in the following roles:

o Controller
o Senior Accounting Manager
o All Senior Vice Presidents

Others who are designated by the executive officers of the Company or by the Board of Trustees from time to time



SCHEDULE III

INDIVIDUALS SUBJECT TO
SECTION 16 REPORTING AND LIABILITY PROVISIONS

All Members of the Board of Trustees
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer

All other executive officers who are designated as Section 16 officers by the Board of Trustees from time to time



INSIDER TRADING POLICY — PRE-CLEARANCE CHECKLIST

Person proposing to trade:

Proposed trade:

Manner of trade:

Proposed trade date:

FORMCHECKBOX No blackout period. The proposed trade will not be made during a quarterly or special blackout period.

FORMCHECKBOX No pension fund blackout under Reg. BTR.* There is no pension fund blackout period in effect.
FORMCHECKBOX No prohibition under Insider Trading Policy. The person confirmed that the proposed transaction is not prohibited
under the Insider Trading Policy.
FORMCHECKBOX Section 16 compliance.* The person confirmed that the proposed trade will not give rise to any potential liability
under Section 16 as a result of matched past (or intended future) transactions.
FORMCHECKBOX Form 4 filing.* A Form 4 has been or will be completed and will be timely filed with the SEC, if applicable.
FORMCHECKBOX Rule 144 compliance.
FORMCHECKBOX The “current public information” requirement has been met (i.e., all 10-Ks, 10-Qs and other relevant reports

during the last 12 months have been filed);
FORMCHECKBOX The shares that the person proposes to trade are not restricted or, if restricted, the applicable holding period has

been met;
FORMCHECKBOX Volume limitations (greater of 1% of outstanding securities of the same class or the average weekly trading
volume during the last four weeks) are not exceeded, and the person is not part of an aggregated group;
FORMCHECKBOX The manner of sale requirements will be met (a “broker’s transaction” or directly with a market maker); and
FORMCHECKBOX A Form 144 has been completed and will be timely filed with the SEC and the relevant national securities
exchange.
FORMCHECKBOX Rule 10b-5 concerns. The person has been reminded that trading is prohibited when in possession of any material

nonpublic information regarding the Company that has not been adequately disclosed to the public. The individual has discussed with
General Counsel any information known to the individual or that the individual believes may be material.

* Applies if the individual is a trustee or an officer subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(Signature of General Counsel or Representative)

(Print name of General Counsel or Representative)



I am not aware of material nonpublic information regarding the Company. I am not trading on the basis of any material nonpublic information.
The transaction is in accordance with the Insider Trading Policy and applicable law. I intend to comply with any applicable reporting and
disclosure requirements on a timely basis.

(Signature of person proposing to trade)



MEMORANDUM
To: All trustees, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and other agents of Seritage Growth Properties
From: Matthew Fernand, Executive Vice President and General Counsel
Date: March 10, 2016

Re: Insider Trading Policy

Attached is a copy of our policy with respect to transactions involving company securities by our trustees, officers, employees and agents
(including consultants and contractors). As described in the policy, violations of insider trading laws can result in significant civil and criminal
liability. Accordingly, please carefully review the materials provided.

After reading the policy, please sign the receipt and acknowledgement at the bottom of this memorandum and return it to the Legal Department.

If you have any questions about the policy or insider trading laws generally or about any transaction involving the securities of the company,
please call the General Counsel at (646) 876-7302.

Attachment(s)
Receipt and Acknowledgement
o I have received and read the Insider Trading Policy.
o I have received satisfactory answers to any questions that I had regarding the Insider Trading Policy and insider trading in
general.
o I understand and agree to comply with the Insider Trading Policy.
o I understand and agree that, if I am listed on Schedule I, II and/or III of the Insider Trading Policy and am subject to additional

restrictions and preclearance requirements under the Insider Trading Policy.

o I understand that my failure to comply in all respects with the Insider Trading Policy is a basis for termination for cause of my
employment or other service relationship with the company as well as any other appropriate discipline.

o I understand and agree that the company may give stop transfer and other instructions to the company’s transfer agent with
respect to transactions that the company considers to be in contravention of the Insider Trading Policy.

Signature Date

Print Name



[Form of special blackout notification]

[INSERT COMPANY LETTERHEAD]

[insert date]

CONFIDENTIAL COMMUNICATION

[Address]
Dear [insert name]:
(the “Company") has imposed a special blackout period in accordance with the terms of the Company’s Insider Trading

Policy (the “Policy”). Pursuant to the Policy, and subject to the exceptions stated in the Policy, you may not engage in any transaction involving
the securities of the Company until you receive official notice that the special blackout period is no longer in effect.

You may not disclose to others the fact that a special blackout period has been imposed. In addition, you should take care to handle any
confidential information in your possession in accordance with the Company’s policies.

If you have any questions at all, please contact me at [insert contact information).

Sincerely,

[General Counsel or other designated Legal Department contact]



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-205538 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement No. 333-261418 on Form S-3
of our reports dated March 31, 2025, relating to the financial statements of Seritage Growth Properties and the effectiveness of Seritage Growth Properties’
internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
March 31, 2025



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Andrea Olshan, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Seritage Growth Properties;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Andrea Olshan Date: March 31, 2025

Andrea Olshan
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, John Garilli, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Seritage Growth Properties;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
/s/ John Garilli Date: March 31, 2025
John Garilli

Interim Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Annual Report of Seritage Growth Properties, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report™), I, Andrea Olshan, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Andrea Olshan

Andrea Olshan

President and Chief Executive Officer
March 31, 2025

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Seritage Growth Properties and will be retained by Seritage Growth
Properties and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Annual Report of Seritage Growth Properties, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report™), I, John Garilli, Interim Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ John Garilli

John Garilli

Interim Chief Financial Officer
March 31, 2025

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Seritage Growth Properties and will be retained by Seritage Growth
Properties and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



